Ayer Shirley Regional School District PreSchool - Grade 12 Student/Parent/Guardian Handbook 2023-2024



EDUCATION FOR ALL

Ayer Shirley Regional High School (ASRHS) Grades 9-12

"Our mission is to provide a high-quality education in a safe, respectful, and inclusive environment where every student develops the skills, character, and core values needed to graduate and become a productive member of global society"

Ayer Shirley Regional Middle School (ASRMS) Grades 6-8 "Growing as individuals, powering our community."

Page Hilltop Elementary School (PH) PreSchool - Grade 5 Lura A. White Elementary School (LAW) K - Grade 5 "Growing young minds...one child at a time."

www.asrsd.org

Table of Contents

A Message from Our Principals	4
ASRSD Vision, Mission, and Core Values	5
Non-Discrimination Statement	6
Complaint Procedures	7
Investigative Procedures	8
District Directory	10
Calendar, Daily Schedules, and School Cancellations	14
Enrollment and Withdrawal Procedures	16
Attendance, Tardiness and Truancy	16
Safety Procedures	19
Health and Wellness	19
School Bus Transportation	28
Food Services	29
Academics	30
Students with Disabilities Services and Accommodations	31
Homework	32
Support Services	33
Support Organizations	34
Other Important Information	35
Code of Conduct	37
Due Process Procedures in the Case of Suspension or Expulsion	40
Notice of Hearing Rights and Procedures	45
Procedures for Short-Term Suspension	45
Procedures for Emergency Removal	46
Procedures for an In-School Suspension	47
Procedures for Long-Term Suspension	48
Discipline of Students with Disabilities	50
Student Search and Personal Privacy	52
Bullying Prevention and Intervention	53
Hazing	54
Legal and Other Procedural Matters	56
Student Records and Privacy	57
Appendix A: Preschool Handbook Addendum	60
Integrated Preschool Program Description	63
Appendix B: Middle School Handbook Addendum	72
Middle School Daily Schedule	73

Middle School Daily Life	74
Extracurricular Activities	76
National Junior Honor Society	77
Dances	78
Student Expectations and Discipline	78
Behavior Violation and Consequences Matrix	81
Appendix C: High School Handbook Addendum	94
Ayer Shirley Regional High School Mission Statement	96
Bell Schedules	96
Statement of Accreditation	99
Graduation Requirements, Promotion, and Credits	100
Tardiness, MakeUp Work, and Age of Majority	103
Make-up Work	104
Age of Majority	104
Honors and Advanced Placement Due Date Policy	104
School Fees and Work Permits	105
Work Permits	106
Homework Guidelines	106
Extracurricular Activities	107
Academic Probation	108
National Honor Society	108
Student Government	109
Field Trips	109
Dances	110
Social Media and Electronics Policy	110
Student Code of Conduct and Discipline Policy	111
Levels of Accountable Consequences and Restorative Interventions	113
Behavior Violation and Consequences Matrix	114
Appendix D: Athletic Handbook Supplement	130
Appendix E: 1:1 Chromebook/iPad Responsible Use Policy	151
Technology and Responsible Use Policy	156



A Message from Our Principals

"Doing your best is more important than always being the best"

Dear Student and Parent/Guardian:

On behalf of the faculty and staff we would like to welcome you to the 2023-2024 school year.

Our schools take pride in being inclusive schools, built upon a safe and caring learning environment. We will offer each and every student an opportunity to realize academic success as well as social-emotional growth. As we expect the best from all of our students, we must also expect the best from ourselves. As school communities, we will continually strive to improve in all aspects of the educational process. Our school goals are outlined in the School Strategy Plans which can be accessed from our District Website or in hard copy from our school offices.

The support of our parents and community is vital to the success of our schools. There will be many opportunities for parents to volunteer, visit, and share in the "highlights" of the school year. Let your child know how important his/her education is to you. They are our students and your children, which makes them special to all of us. Please feel free to stop by the main school offices, at any time, to share ideas or voice concerns. Please review this handbook with your child and complete the electronic signature page as soon as possible, but no later than September 12, 2023. Please keep this handbook in your home for quick and easy reference, or note its location on the District webpage.

We welcome you back and look forward to a wonderful school year with our ASRSD students and families.

Sincerely,

Elizabeth C. Lewis, Principal, Lura A. White Elementary School Frederick C. Deppe, Principal, Page Hilltop Elementary School Bryan E. Oelerich, Principal, Ayer Shirley Regional Middle School Spencer S. Christie, Principal, Ayer Shirley Regional High School



ASRSD Vision, Mission, and Core Values

ASRSD Vision Statement

To create a dynamic, engaged learning community that provides equitable access and opportunity for all members, and empowers students to achieve at high levels by fostering intellectual rigor, creative expression, social-emotional well-being, and the agency to pursue meaningful paths and thrive as responsible citizens.

ASRSD Mission Statement

To inspire students to achieve academic excellence through equitable, evidence-based curriculum and instruction, responsive and representative learning experiences that foster belonging, and community engagement that cultivates students' academic, creative, and social-emotional behaviors and skills.

ASRSD Core Values

These core values are guiding principles at the essence of who ASRSD is as a district. Every decision will be aligned with and faithful to these values:

- 1. Every member of our learning community is responsible for the daily successes and challenges of all students.
- 2. The social and emotional well-being of our students is paramount to their academic and personal success.
- 3. Students' individuality is respected and honored in order for them to succeed at their highest level.
- 4. Building relationships anchored in trust and respect with all stakeholders, students, educators, parents, guardians, and community members.

Non-Discrimination Statement

The Ayer Shirley Regional School District does not discriminate in its programs and activities and follows Massachusetts General Law-Chapter 622 which states that no person shall be excluded from or discriminated against in admission to a public school, or in obtaining the advantages, privileges and courses of study of such public school on account of race, color, religion, sex, gender identity, sexual orientation, national origin, age, disability, housing status or limited English speaking ability.

Mr. William Plunkett, Title IX Coordinator for staff and students, is vested with the authority and responsibility of processing all complaints of discrimination brought under the provisions of the statutes listed below. Any student or staff member who feels that he/she has been harassed or discriminated against because of his/her race, color, national origin, age, gender, sexual orientation or disability should contact Mr. Plunkett whose office is located in the Page Hilltop School at 115 Washington Street, Ayer MA 01432, 978-772-8600 ext. 1510. If the student prefers, he/she may file a complaint with any teacher or counselor, who will then bring the complaint to the attention of the Title IX Coordinator. This filing must be within thirty (30) business days of the event or events giving rise to the grievance or within thirty (30) business days from the date the aggrieved party had knowledge or reasonably should have had knowledge of the event or events giving rise to the grievance.

It is the policy of the Ayer Shirley Regional School District to deal with discrimination complaints at the individual school level whenever possible. However, if a satisfactory resolution cannot be achieved, a student may file a written complaint with the Superintendent of Schools or his/her designee. The Superintendent or his/her designee shall respond in writing within thirty (30) days. If the individual is not satisfied with the response, he/she may take the complaint to Massachusetts Department of Education, Program Quality Assurance, 350 Main Street, Malden, MA 02148-5023 or other appropriate federal or state agency. The Section 504 Coordinator for the Ayer Shirley Regional School District is Larainne Wilson, Director of Equity and School Counseling, (978) 772-8600 x1693. The Title VI Coordinator for Ayer Shirley Regional School District is Mary Beth Hamel, Director of Student Services, (978) 772-8600 x1509.

Please reference ASRSD School Committee Policies: Non-Discrimination File: AC and Sexual Harassment File: ACAB

Legal Refs:

Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Section 504 Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975 M.G.L. 7B: et seq. Chapter 766 & Acts of 1972 Title II, Americans with Disabilities Act of 1964 Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 Civil Rights Restoration Act 1988 Age Discrimination of Employment Act (ADEA) Equal Pay Act Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA 2004)

Diversity

"Schools reflect the diversity of their communities and the increasing diversity of our society." School communities should respect and celebrate these differences. Schools should both honor the individual differences among their members and respect the diverse cultures and backgrounds, which they represent. In dealing with prejudice and stereotypes all types of diversity must be considered, including: age, appearance, culture, ethnicity, gender, gender identity, language, physical ability, race, religion, sexual orientation and socioeconomic status.

Ayer Shirley Regional District Schools acknowledge the responsibility to provide a safe, respectful and conducive learning environment for all of our students. Parents are encouraged to work with us to promote equality and understanding.

Anyone who exhibits prejudice and stereotyping in any form will face disciplinary action. This is considered a serious offense and will not be tolerated.

Complaint Procedures

Any student, staff member, or visitor to our community who believes that she/he has been the victim of harassment (as defined above) by a teacher, pupil, visitor, administrator or other personnel of the ASRSD Public Schools should report the incident within one month of the occurrence, or as soon as possible. Those who have knowledge of any harassment must report an incident immediately. Reports made outside this time frame will be considered on a case by case basis.

Depending on the circumstances and seriousness of the incident, interventions can range from informal to formal. Informal interventions include immediately and effectively addressing the situation, for example, by encouraging people to identify the difficulty, talk it out, and agree on how to deal with it. If such mediation does not work, or if the situation warrants further action, a formal harassment complaint can be made.

A harassment complaint may be made to the principal, teacher, counselor or any other school personnel with whom the complainant feels comfortable. If the report is to someone other than the principal it becomes the responsibility of that person to report the complaint to the principal in writing using the forms that are available in every principal's office or in the Office of the Superintendent of Schools.

ALTHOUGH EFFORTS WILL BE TAKEN TO PROTECT CONFIDENTIALITY, THIS IS NOT ALWAYS POSSIBLE IN HARASSMENT INVESTIGATIONS.

In the event that students are involved in serious allegations as victim, perpetrator, or witnesses, the principal/designee will notify the parents and/or guardians of the allegations in a timely manner using appropriate discretion in the notification.

All complaints will be taken seriously. While the rights of all individuals will be protected, a program for monitoring an alleged situation of harassment will be developed immediately to prevent the possibility of any recurrence of the behavior. Retaliation against a complainant will not be tolerated. Appropriate disciplinary action will be taken against any party involved in the retaliation.

The penalty for harassment of members of our school community will reflect the severity of the offense. Penalties may include, but will not be limited to any one or combination of the following: verbal admonition, written reprimand, suspension or expulsion from school, and/or counseling.

Employees may be suspended without pay and/or terminated in accordance with procedures specified in the respective bargaining agreements.

Investigative Procedures

The principal or designee shall consider every report of harassment seriously and shall investigate all reports immediately. William Plunkett, Title IX/622 Coordinator and other staff (e.g. school psychologist) shall assist the school hearing officer, as needed, in the investigative procedures and the identification and delivery of all necessary services to concerned individuals.

The person issuing the complaint as well as the individual against whom the complaint is filed shall be separately interviewed, with the goal of resolving the complaint at this level. If resolved, parties will be notified and documentation describing the incident and subsequent resolution shall be kept by the principal for one academic year. If the complaint is not successfully resolved, the principal shall continue with the investigation by interviewing other knowledgeable parties. Documentation supporting or discounting the allegation shall become part of the investigation process.

The principal or his/her designee shall complete the investigation and report after the complaint has been filed indicating whether the allegations have been substantiated as factual or not. There will be no reprisal against the person filing the complaint whether or not the complaint is sustained. During the hearing process, the cross examination of witnesses may be restricted at the discretion of the hearing officer. If the allegations are substantiated, the principal or, in a case against an employee, the Superintendent (or his/her designee) must take immediate corrective and/or disciplinary action to resolve the situation. Such action may include, but is not limited to, requiring an apology, direction to stop the offensive behavior, counseling or education, warning, suspension, exclusion, transfer, expulsion, or discharge. Follow up will be conducted to insure that neither continued harassment or retaliation occurs. Follow-up procedures shall be documented.

As soon as the report is completed, it shall be filed with the Superintendent of Schools and the Title IX/622 Coordinator. Written findings will be provided to the concerned parties upon request and shall not deny the individual's right to pursue other avenues of recourse. All records of harassment shall be forwarded to the Superintendent and Title IX/622 Coordinator and shall be kept in a

separate file, and only the Superintendent and the Title IX/622 Coordinator shall have access to these files.

Concerned parties will have the right of appeal to the Superintendent of Schools within ten (10) working days of receipt of the concluding report.

Alleged abuse by a parent, guardian, school staff, or other caretaker will be reported to the Department of– Families and Children according to school policy and procedure. If allegations warrant, the sexual abuse unit of the local law enforcement agency shall be notified.

State and Federal Remedies

In addition to the above, if you believe that you have been subject to sexual harassment, you may file a complaint with either of the government agencies set forth below. Using the complaint process of the ASRSD Public Schools does not prohibit the filing of a complaint with these agencies. Each of the agencies has a short time period for filing a claim (EEOC - 180 days and MCAD - 6 months).

U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission John F. Kennedy Federal Building 475 Government Center Boston, MA 02203 800-669-4000 Massachusetts Commission Against Discrimination - Boston Office The John McCormack Building One Ashburton Place - Room 601 Boston, MA 02108 617-994-6000

District Directory

Ayer Shirley Regional School District Main Number - 978-772-8600 Dial 411 for the directory look up Email and staff member: (First initial)(Last name)@asrsd.org (i.e., Jane Doe, jdoe@asrsd.org

Ayer Shirley Regional School District Offices 115 Washington Street (located at Page Hilltop Elementary School) Ayer, MA 01432 978-772-8600 978-772-1863 (fax)

Superintendent Adam Renda, Ed.D	arenda@asrsd.org	x1507
Assistant Superintendent Charlie Caliri	ccaliri@asrsd.org	x1447
Executive Assistant Michelle C. Towne	mtowne@asrsd.org	x1508
Title IX Coordinator William J. Plunkett	wplunkett@asrsd.org	x1510
Food Service Coordinator Joe Ricci	jricci@asrsd.org	x1167
Nurse Leader Rene Paine	rpaine@asrsd.org	x1515
Director of Equity and School Counseling,		
Larainne Wilson	lwilson@asrsd.org	x1693
Director of Technology Mike Thibeault	mthibeault@asrsd.org	x1312
Director of Athletics and Wellness Steve Kendall	skendall@asrsd.org	x1370
Facilities Director Bob Briggs	bob.briggs@asrsd.org	x1683

Lura A. White Elementary School (LAW) 34 Lancaster Road Shirley, MA 01464 978-772-8600 978-425-2639 (fax)

elewis@asrsd.org	x1101
rdonaher@asrsd.org	x1105
sferguson@asrsd.org	x1100
tsargent@asrsd.org	x1160
hflahertydawson@asrsd.org	x1104
cchasse@asrsd.org	x1436
<u>abarter@asrsd.org</u>	x1103
	x1100
	rdonaher@asrsd.org sferguson@asrsd.org tsargent@asrsd.org hflahertydawson@asrsd.org cchasse@asrsd.org

Page Hilltop Elementary School (PH)

115 Washington Street Ayer, MA 01432 978-772-8600 978-772-8631(fax)

Principal Frederick C. Deppe Interim Assistant Principal Michael Pulizzi Administrative Assistant Gail A. Januskiewicz Administrative Assistant Peggy Carlson School Adjustment Counselor Tracy Hebenton (PK - 2) School Adjustment Counselor Toni Tata (3 - 5) School Psychologist PH/HS Nurse Tiffany Naughton Nurse Donna Sullivan Attendance Line

fdeppe@asrsd.org	x1400
mpulizzi@asrsd.org	x1426
gjanuskiewicz@asrsd.org	x1401
pcarlson@asrsd.org	x1402
thebenton@asrsd.org	x1489
ttata@asrsd.org	x1424
lcosseboom@asrsd.org	x1436
tnaughton@asrsd.org	x1406
<u>dsullivan@asrsd.org</u>	x1406
	x1497

boelerich@asrsd.org

tiarrett@asrsd.org

blibby@asrsd.org

ibrine@asrsd.org

TBD

tsargent@asrsd.org

cesielionis@asrsd.org

jcristofani@asrsd.org

hstuart@asrsd.org

x1201

x1202

x1200

x1279

x1208

x1209

x1205

x1218

x1207 x1297

Ayer Shirley Regional Middle School (ASRMS) 1 Hospital Road Shirley, MA 01464 978-772-8600 978-425-0474 (fax)

Principal Bryan E. Oelerich Assistant Principal Tonya Jarrett Administrative Assistant Bettina M. Libby Clerical Assistant Tracey Sargent School Psychologist MS/LAW School Counselor Jessa Brine School Counselor Cynthia Esielionis School Counselor Jack Cristofani Nurse Heather Stuart Attendance Line

Ayer Shirley Regional High School (ASRHS) 141 Washington Street Ayer, MA 01432 978-772-8600 978-425-0474 (fax)

Principal Spencer Christie	schristie@asrsd.org	x1300
Assistant Principal Miriam Meyer, Ph.D.	mmeyer@asrsd.org	x1302
Administrative Assistant Deb Rader	drader@asrsd.org	x1301
Receptionist Alexa Costa	acosta@asrsd.org	x1303
Guidance Administrative Assistant Terry Wallace	twallace@asrsd.org	x1304
School Psychologist HS/PH	lcosseboom@asrsd.org	x1382
School Counselor Kim Sweetland	ksweetland@asrsd.org	x1209
School Counselor Josh Melanson	jmelanson@asrsd.org	x1205
Nurse Jean Liddy	jliddy@asrsd.org	x1326

Attendance Line

Special Education Office 115 Washington Street (located at Page Hilltop Elementary School) Ayer, MA 01432 978-772-8600 978-772-8609 (fax)

Special Education Director Tara A. Bozek	tbozek@asrsd.org	x1407
Director of Student Services Kristin Campione. Ed.D.	kcampione@asrsd.org	x1509
Administrative Assistant Linda M. Harrington	<u>lharrington@asrsd.org</u>	x1408
Administrative Assistant Doreen L. Mahoney	dmahoney@asrsd.org	x1480
Educational Team Leader K-5, Linda Brownell	lbrownell@asrsd.org	x1483
Educational Team Leader 6-12, Leigh Migrants	Imigrants@asrsd.org	x1482
Ayer Shirley Extended Day Program,		
Director Maribeth Higgins	mhiggins@asrsd.org	
	Lura A. White	x1128
	Page Hilltop	x1467
Family Partnership and Schools of the 21 st Century		
Director Deanna M. Christie	dchristie@asrsd.org	x1428
Homeless Coordinator Frederick C. Deppe	fdeppe@asrsd.org	x1400
Title I Coordinator Charles Caliri	ccaliri@asrsd.org	x1447
EL Co-Coordinator Emily Babineau	ebabineau@asrsd.org	x1216
EL Co-Coordinator Liz Hoeske	ehoeske@asrsd.org	x1409
504 Coordinator Larainne Wilson	lwilson@asrsd.org	x1693

Dee Bus Company

978-425-4706

Sandra Martin - Manager

Home and School Communication

The family and school partnership is an essential element of the successful educational experience. A strong partnership provides opportunities to organize and sustain excellent programs and strengthen the type of communication that will increase student success in school. In an effort to foster increased home/school communication, the ASRSD uses a variety of communicative approaches. It is important for all families to be certain that all contact information is accurate and up to date with the school.

<u>Phone</u>

Each of the schools is accessible via the district phone number, 978-772-8600.

Academic Reports and Updates

Please refer to the <u>ASRSD calendar</u> for important dates such as open house, parent conferences, progress reports, and report cards. Progress reports and report cards will be sent home with the students directly, and are also available via the Parent Portal. Parent conferences can be scheduled at any time. Please contact your child's teacher or counselor directly to schedule these meetings.

Parent Portal

This allows parents/guardians to view their child's performance through each teacher's Parent Portal. Instructions for creating an account for each child are distributed at the beginning of each school year. In order to receive instructions at any other time during the school year, parents/guardians can contact the school office.

Blackboard Connect

The district and each school in the district has the capability to call and email each household to communicate important information to the members of the school community. These messages are always pre-recorded. It is essential that we have a current phone number and email address for all households in order for this method of communication to be effective. Updates to student demographic information should be provided directly to the main office.

<u>Internet</u>

Each school's website is accessible from the district webpage - <u>https://www.asrsd.org.</u> The link on the top of the page entitled "SCHOOLS" will allow you to select your child's school.

Newsletter

A weekly district update is distributed electronically, and a parent newsletter is sent by email monthly. These updates typically include a calendar of events and key information/announcements regarding current events in the schools and the district. Building principals also send out regular electronic communication to students and parents/guardians to provide more specific information about events and announcements in a particular school.

School Pictures

Student photos will be taken twice a year. Notification will be provided prior to picture day.

Calendar, Daily Schedules, and School Cancellations

Ayer Shi Regional	rley School District	HS MS LAW PH 7:50 7:50 8:45 8:45 2:20 2:20 3:15 3:15 11:20 11:20 12:15 12:15 ed 12:50 1:45 1:45 AM. Session: 8:30-11:00am AM. Late Start: 10:00-11:00am P.M. Session 12:45-3:15pm January 2024	2023-2024 School Calendar School Committee Approved April 4, 2023 January (21) Quarter 2 Ends Jan. 19 (9-12)
Su M Tu W Th F Sa 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31	4 July 4th (H) Extended School Year Mon-Thur 8:30-11:30	Su M Tu W Th F Sa 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 February 2024	 New Year's Day (No School) (H) 90-Minute Early Release (Preschool-12) Professional Development for Teachers Martin Luther King Jr. Day (No School) (H) 90-Minute Early Release (Preschool-12) Professional Development for Teachers Report Cards Issued (9-12) February (16)
August 2023 Su M Tu W Th F Sa 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 0 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31	August (2) 22 Mentor Training 23 New Teacher Orientation 24 New Teacher Orientation 26 All Staff Report to Buildings 29 Convocation/All Staff Report Prof. Development 30 First Day of School for Grades 1-12 31 Kindergarten Orientation	Su M Tu W Th F Sa 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29	Evening Conferences (9-12) 90-Minute Early Release (Preschool-12) Late Start Preschool, Professional Dev. Teachers 90-Minute Early Release (6-8) Conferences 90-Minute Early Release (6-8) Conferences 19 President's Day No school (H) Eebruary Vacation Week (No School)
September 2023 Su M Tu W Th F Sa 1 2 1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30	September (19) 1 No School for Grades 1-12 4 Labor Day (No School) (H) 5 First Day of School Kindergarten 8 Preschool Orientation 11 First Day of School Preschool 13 90-Minute Early Release (Preschool-12) Professional Development for Teachers 14 Middle School (6-8) Open House 21 Lura A. White (Kindergarten-5) Open House	March 2024 Su M Tu W Th F Sa 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 - - - - - -	March (21) Trimester 2 Ends March 16 (Preschool-8) Quarter 3 Ends March 29 (9-12) 14 90-Minute Early Release (Preschool-12) Late Start Preschool, Professional Dev. Teachers 20 90-Minute Early Release (Preschool-12) Late Start Preschool, Professional Dev. Teachers 25 Report Cards Issued (Preschool-8) 28 90-Minute Early Release (Preschool-5) Conferences 29 90-Minute Early Release (Preschool-5) Conferences
October 2023 Su M Tu W Th F Sa 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28	21 Lura A. White (Kindergarten-5) Open House 27 Page Hillop (Preschool-5) Open House 28 High School (9-12) Open House October (21) 9 Columbus Day (No School) (H) 11 90-Minute Early Release (Preschool-12) Professional Development for Teachers 25 90-Minute Early Release (6-8) Conferences 26 90-Minute Early Release (6-8) Conferences	April 2024 Su M Tu W Th F Sa 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30	April (17) 8 Report Cards Issued (9-12) 10 90-Minute Early Release (Preschool-12), Late Start Preschool, Professional Dev. Teachers 15 Patriot's Day (No School) (H) 16 April Vacation Week (No School)
29 30 31 November 2023 Su M Tu W Th F Sa 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25	27 90-Minute Early Release (6-8) Conferences November (18) Quarter 1 Ends Nov. 3 (9-12) 7 No School (Preschool-12) Prof. Development 10 Veteran's Day Observed (No School) (H) 13 Report Cards Issued (9-12) 16 Evening Conferences (9-12) 17 90-Minute Early Release (9-12) Afternoon Conferences	May 2024 Su M Tu W Th F Sa 1 2 3 4 5 5 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31	May (22) 6 90-Minute Early Release (Preschool-12), Late Start Preschool, Professional Dev. Teachers 24 Last Day for Seniors 27 Memorial Day (No School) (H)
26 27 28 29 30 December 2023 Su M Tu W Th F Sa 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31	 90-Minute Early Release (Preschool-12) Thanksgiving Vacation (No School) (H) Thanksgiving Vacation (No School) (H) December (16) Trimester 1 Ends Dec. 1 (Preschool-8) 90-Minute Early Release (Preschool-12) Professional Development for Teachers Report Cards Issued (Preschool-8) 90-Minute Early Release (Preschool-5) Evening Conferences 90-Minute Early Release (Preschool-5) Afternoon Conferences 90-Minute Early Release (Preschool-5) Afternoon Conferences 90-Minute Early Release (Preschool-5) Afternoon Conferences 90-Minute Early Release (Preschool-12) Holiday Vacation Week (No School) (H) 	Elem High 1/2 D 90 Mi 90 Mi	June (8) Quarter 4 Ends (9-11) & Trimester 3 Ends (Preschool-8) on Last Day of School 3 90-Minute Early Release (Preschool-11), Late Start Preschool, Professional Dev. Teachers 7 HS Graduation Day 12 Last Day of School 181st Day (1/2 Day) Report Cards Issued 19 Juneteenth (No School) (H) 20 186th Day (Including 5 Snow Days) Calendar Key Day of School / Opening Day entary School and Middle School School ay of School nute Early Release and Preschool Late Start nute Early Release Day Professional Development / No School ay or Vacation / No School

Daily Schedule

	Drop Off	Breakfast	Class Start	Regular Dismissal	Half Day Dismissal (no lunch)	90 Min Early Release (lunch served)
ASRHS	7:30	7:30	7:50	2:20	11:20	12:50
ASRMS	7:30	7:30	7:50	2:20	11:20	12:50
Page Hilltop	8:25	8:25	8:45	3:15	12:15	1:45
Lura A. White	8:25	8:25	8:45	3:15	12:15	1:45

School Closing or Delayed Opening

The following procedures will be followed for a school closing/school delay/early dismissal:

- 1. A decision on no school or school delay will be made as early as possible, preferably between 5:00-5:30 am.
- 2. Please note that a delay may be for 1 hour or 2 hours.
- 3. Families will receive a telephone call and email through Blackboard Connect.
- 4. School closing/delay will be announced on Channels 4, 5, 7, & Fox 25.
- 5. The no school/delay announcement will be posted on the District Website <u>www.asrsd.org</u>, Facebook (Meta), and Twitter..

Other Important Reminders

- The Ayer Shirley Extended Day Program will both be closed when the schools are closed for inclement weather.
- AM pre-school sessions are cancelled in the event of a delayed opening.
- School start times for a delayed opening:

	<u>1 hour delay</u>	<u>2 hour delay</u>
Middle School	8:50	9:50
Page Hilltop	9:45	10:45
Lura A. White	9:45	10:45

Early Dismissal

It may become necessary to close schools early due to an emergency. In the event of an early or emergency dismissal, all afterschool and evening activities will be cancelled. In the event of an early or emergency dismissal, it is the responsibility of the parent to have a plan for parent pickup and/or childcare for their child.

Enrollment and Withdrawal Procedures

Registration Procedures

To register a student, please bring copies of your child's birth certificate, proof of residency, and immunization records. It will also be important to bring a copy of your child's most recent physical examination, the name and address of the most recent school attended (if applicable), and a copy of your child's most recent individualized educational plan (IEP) if your child has a documented disability. More information about our online registration process can be found on our website at: https://www.asrsd.org/domain/48

Withdrawal Procedures

To withdraw a student, a parent will need to complete a Release of Information form. This allows our school to send student records to the receiving school. To disenroll a student, the principal or designee will need to send notice within a period of five (5) school days from the students' tenth (10th) consecutive absence to the student and his/her parent/guardian (MGL c.76, §18).

Attendance, Tardiness and Truancy

<u>Attendance</u>

The Ayer Shirley Regional School District has adopted an Attendance Policy. A student shall not be repeatedly absent from school without legitimate cause. A student enrolled is expected to be present and punctual each day that school is in session.

We believe that consistent attendance and punctuality by ASRSD students are necessary practices that empower their success and pursuit of the core value of academic excellence as stated in our mission statement. Regular attendance not only improves a student's opportunity to be successful, but also allows for a richer experience with the subject matter and teacher. Disruptions to this practice compromise a student's success and quality of engagement with the class content and activities. In addition, the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education has developed an accountability measure regarding attendance where they define "chronic absenteeism" as a student who is absent for more than 10% of their school year (regardless if excused or unexcused). At ASRSD, our baseline expectation is for every student to be present at school at least 90% of the days.

Family vacations taken during school time are absences. Families should plan their vacations during the regularly scheduled school vacations and make appointments after school hours.

Regular attendance and on-time arrival are essential to sequential learning and necessary for satisfactory student progress. It is important that students are punctual and attend school each day. When an absence is unavoidable due to illness, bereavement, or other family emergency, the parent is expected to inform the school by phone, the morning of the absence. If parents are unable to make phone contact, a written note or email from a parent or guardian must be brought to school on the first day of the student's return to school. It is the student's responsibility to make up all assignments, projects, and tests missed during the absence. We do not assign homework to be completed while a student is absent from school due to a family vacation since we believe

homework supports daily classroom instruction. We do suggest that you ask your child to read daily or write in a journal about their vacation. Teachers may assign appropriate make-up work when students return to school.

Students cannot participate in school-sponsored afternoon or evening activities on the day of an absence unless approved beforehand by the principal.

<u>Tardiness</u>

If a student is tardy (late for school), he/she <u>must</u> report to the office (preferably accompanied by their parent/guardian) before going to class. Students who are habitually tardy or absent without an adequate excuse are considered truant. Students are considered tardy if they are not present in their first period class or homeroom at the start of the school day. More specific information relative to tardiness at the high school can be found in the high school addendum.

<u>Absences</u>

All student absences are to be reported to the school's main office by the start of the school day. If the school does not receive a call, the parent/guardian will receive an automated call from the school to notify you that your child is not in school.

Regular and punctual school attendance is essential for success in school. A student's understanding of the importance of day-to-day schoolwork is an important factor in the shaping of his or her character. Parents can help their children by refusing to allow them to miss school needlessly. The Ayer Shirley Regional School Committee does recognize that parents of children attending our schools have special rights as well as responsibilities, one of which is to ensure that their children attend school regularly, in accordance with state law.

A student's absence will be excused, with proper documentation within 72 hours, for the following reasons:

- Bereavement or serious illness in family
- Illness with medical documentation if 3 or more consecutive days, or cumulative absences that would require credit recovery
- Professional health appointment
- School related field trips
- Observance of major religious holidays
- Legal/court appointments
- Registry of Motor Vehicles appointments; with prior approval from the administration

A child may also be excused for other exceptional reasons with approval of the school principal. Absences not outlined above are considered unexcused.

In instances of chronic or irregular absence reportedly due to illness, the school administration may request a physician's statement certifying such absences to be justifiable.

<u>Dismissals</u>

Parents/guardians should make all efforts to schedule professional appointments after school hours. In cases that students must be dismissed, parents must provide a note indicating the time of dismissal as well as the reason for the early dismissal. This note must be presented to the classroom teacher or personnel in the main office. The school nurse will also assess student illness/injury within the school day and will coordinate dismissal with the parent.

Parent/Guardian or Physician's Notes

A parent/guardian call, email, or note (or a physician's note) is required whenever a student has been absent, tardy, or dismissed early. Each note should be provided the day immediately following an absence, or the day of tardiness or an early dismissal, and should include:

- The student's name
- The student's grade level
- The date(s) the student was absent or tardy, or is to be dismissed early
- Whether he/she was absent or tardy or is to be dismissed, and the reason
- If your student is to be dismissed, please also state the time he/she will leave school, and whether he/she will return that day.
- If your student is to be dismissed, the parent/guardian must sign the student out in the main office when they leave, and sign back in at the main office if they return that same day.

Physical Education (PE) Health Concerns

Students expecting exclusion from PE class for a medical reason must provide the teacher and the nurse with a note from the physician. Parent notes are not adequate unless the requested time of exemption is for one lesson. If a child has specific physical limitation, the parent/guardian should contact the school nurse and the PE teacher.

<u>Truancy</u>

The Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE) defines truancy as: "an absence that is not excused by school district policy." Numerous unexplained absences and excessive tardiness will be referred to the principal for investigation and may result in truancy action outlined below.

Missing school without a legitimate reason is considered truancy and is a violation of state law. (MGL 76:20) When a student is truant, the principal and/or his/her designee will assume responsibility for contacting parents at once. The state law defines truancy as unexcused absences totaling more than seven full days or fourteen half days in a six month period (MGL 76:1-2). However, it can also be interpreted as a loss of more than forty-two (42) hours of school.

Consequences of Truancy through Excessive Absenteeism and Tardiness

Many steps will be taken by the teachers and administration to reduce a student's truancy. Student conferences, warning letters, and parent conferences will occur as first intervention steps. There is a direct impact on student achievement when students repeatedly miss school or are tardy. Thus, students who have excessive absences and/or late arrivals to school most likely have significant

gaps in their skills and content knowledge. Since these gaps will increasingly impair a student as he/she progresses through the grades, retention may be considered for students who are truant due to absences.

Additionally, the school may choose to file a CRA petition (Child Requiring Assistance) with the Middlesex Juvenile Court and/or the filing of a 51A with the Department of Children and Families (DCF).

Missing School for Family Trips

The School administration and staff remind parents and students that students who take vacations while school is in session disrupt not only their education but the education of their classmates because the class is altered for that period of time. We ask that parents make every effort to avoid taking students out of school while school is in session. If students do miss school, you must notify the school via the attendance line. The school cannot provide advance homework when students and their families vacation during times when school is in session. While the school does advocate quality family time together, the school cannot assume the responsibility of attempting to compensate a student's lost time in classes by advance homework assignments or duplicate instructional information because of a trip.

Safety Procedures

The safety and well-being of students and staff are our first priority. The school district has a multi-hazard crisis plan that is updated annually with the Police and Fire Chiefs. School administrators, in conjunction with their school safety teams, ensure that students and staff practice safety drills regularly to best be prepared in the event of a real school emergency. An overview of the district's safety plan can be found at <u>www.asrsd.org</u> under Parent Information.

Health and Wellness

Health and Wellness Philosophy

Effective management of health care needs requires a partnership among the student, the parent(s) or guardian(s), the primary care provider, and the adults who work with the student at school. The school nurse works closely with all disciplines to coordinate the resources of school, home, and community as they pertain to the total health of individual students.

School Health Services

The nurse is available to provide first aid to the sick and injured and promote an optimum level of wellness for students and staff. Please inform the nurse when there is a change in your child's health status or if your child has a chronic illness and requires specific medical consideration. If your child has a confirmed diagnosis of a contagious illness (strep throat, conjunctivitis, etc.) please notify the school. If emergency contact numbers or work numbers change, the office should be made aware of these changes. Injured students wearing a hard cast that can do inadvertent harm to classmates or themselves will not be allowed to participate in physical education (PE) until the hard cast is removed and the student is cleared to participate in PE by his/her medical doctor.

A dental program is provided by Polished Teeth. Only children with permission slips completed by their guardian will be eligible to participate.

<u>Illness</u>

For public health and safety, we request you keep your child home if he/she has a severe cold, rash with other symptoms, and or if they have a steady cough, hacking cough or coughing fits with fever 100.4 or above. Your child needs to stay home with:

• **Strep Throat-** if you suspect he/she has strep throat. The child should remain home until the child either has had a negative throat culture or has been on antibiotics and fever free for a full 24 hours without the use of fever reducing medication.

• **A fever or above**- may return to school when he/she is fever free for 24 hours without medication (e.g. Tylenol, Advil, Motrin, Aleve, Ibuprofen or acetaminophen).

• **Vomiting and/or diarrhea**- may return to school 24 hours after his/her last vomiting and/or diarrhea episode.

• Red or pink itchy eyes with crusty and or green/yellow drainage- may return to school the day after treated for 24 hours or has no further eye discharge.

• Head Lice or nits (eggs)- the nurse will assess the student for the presence of head lice or nits. If head lice or nits are detected, the nurse will contact the parent/guardian and provide education on lice treatment. Based on the discretion of the school nurse, some situations may warrant a dismissal from school.

• A rash medically undiagnosed- may require MD clearance at the discretion of the school nurse.

• If a student is out for an illness or dismissed due to illness, they may not return for school sponsored activities/sports that day.

Please continue to monitor and seek testing for the COVID-19 symptoms that are listed below:

- Fever (100.4° Fahrenheit or higher), chills, or shaking chills
- Cough (not due to other known cause, such as chronic cough)
- Difficulty breathing or shortness of breath
- New loss of taste or smell
- Sore throat
- Headache when in combination with other symptoms
- Muscle aches or body aches
- Nausea, vomiting, or diarrhea
- Fatigue, when in combination with other symptoms
- Nasal congestion or runny nose (not due to other known causes, such as allergies) when in combination with other symptoms

If a child is too ill to remain in school, the nurse will call parent/guardian and or emergency contact numbers for dismissal. The student should not place the call from a school phone or cell phone.

Parents are required to notify the school if your child contracts any contagious diseases (e.g., Chicken Pox, Strep Throat, Whooping Cough, Fifth's Disease, Conjunctivitis, Scabies, Impetigo, Ringworm or Head Lice, etc.). If a child has been absent due to a communicable disease, a physician's release may be required before returning to school.

School Attendance - Health Dismissal

The following guidelines are used to determine dismissals and may be helpful for parents to determine appropriate attendance.

These are guidelines and are not all-inclusive. The nurse reserves the right to dismiss a student who, in her opinion, is contagious or too ill to remain in school. Please report all illnesses to the school office before the start of the school day. Parents will be called if students are absent on the daily attendance without notification. Please notify the nurse via phone call, email, or note of any illness or condition that will require care during the school day or throughout the year.

Any student who becomes ill or is injured during the school day **must** report to the Nurse's Office.

First Aid

Treatment will be administered for minor injuries during the school day. When a student becomes seriously injured, the parent is notified immediately. If the parent cannot be reached in an emergency, a person designated on the child's emergency card will be notified. If needed, the child will be transported to the nearest hospital. The school assumes no financial responsibility for ambulance transport or emergency room care. It is essential that changes in emergency numbers be provided to the school promptly.

Emergency Information

In the event of a student's illness, injury or school emergency we make every effort to contact parents quickly. However it is important to have current emergency numbers and clear instructions about the people to whom your child may be released in case a parent cannot be reached.

Emergency information forms were mailed home prior to the start of school. The front side contains information regarding release of children; the back of the form requests medical information. Please fill out both sides. Emergency release information and medical information with parental permission will be shared with the main office or necessary personnel.

Using Crutches in School

A child who needs to use crutches at any time during the school year **must** notify the nurse. The nurse will show him/her how to use the elevator and how to follow evacuation procedures, should they be needed.

Masks/Face Coverings

Students in grades PreK-12 who come to school may wear a face covering to prevent the spread of disease.

- If all staff and students in Grades PreK-12 are *required* to wear a face covering, it must cover the nose and mouth at all times, with the exception of breaks, lunch and when outdoors.
- If a face covering mandate is put in place, all students would be required to wear one while riding the bus.

There are several contributing factors to the effectiveness of cloth face masks. These include the number of cloth layers, material used, design and fit, as well as the frequency of washing. Typical cloth masks can range from 1-ply to 3-ply (ply refers to the number of cloth layers). Studies have shown that cloth masks likely need a minimum of 2 layers to prevent the disposal of viral droplets from the nose and mouth associated with the spread of COVID-19. Masks with exhalation valves or vents are shown not to prevent the spreading COVID-19 to others. Neck gaiters have also shown to allow more respiratory droplets to pass through the thinner polyester/spandex blend material. Our goal at ASRSD is to keep everyone safe.

Therefore, masks or face coverings must meet the following guidelines:

- 2-ply minimum
- Completely cover the mouth and nose
- They must contain no exhalation valves or vents
- Neck gaiters are not allowed

For a student who refuses to wear a mask when one is required, the district will follow a progressive process with the student.

- Teacher will redirect student to wear mask
- School counselor and/or school nurse will counsel student on the importance and requirement to wear a mask and involve the family if needed
- Building administration will direct the student to put mask on and involve the family of the student
- If student still refuses to wear mask, parent will be contacted to take student home
- There are exemptions on mask wearing due to medical and/or behavioral reasons

Immunization Requirements

The Massachusetts Department of Public Health requires that all school children be properly immunized. All students must comply with this requirement. The only exceptions are for religious or medical reasons, and a signed statement by the parent/guardian or health care provider must be kept on file in the school nurse's office and renewed each year.

The school nurses will notify parents/guardians of students with incomplete immunization records. Immunizations must be completed or students will be subject to exclusion. The following immunizations are required for school entry and according to Massachusetts Department of Public Health:

Childcare/Preschool

Requirements listed in the table below apply to all attendees ≥2 years.

Hib	1-4 doses; the number of doses is determined by vaccine product and age the series begins
DTaP	4 doses
Polio	3 doses
Hepatitis B	3 doses; laboratory evidence of immunity acceptable
MMR	1 dose; must be given on or after the 1 st birthday; laboratory evidence of immunity acceptable
Varicella	1 dose; must be given on or after the 1 st birthday; a reliable history of chickenpox* or laboratory evidence of immunity acceptable

Students entering Pre-K and Kindergarten are required to provide proof of a lead screening test.

Grades Kindergarten - 6

In ungraded classrooms, Kindergarten requirements apply to all students ≥5 years.

DTaP	5 doses; 4 doses are acceptable if the fourth dose is given on or after the 4 th birthday. DT is only acceptable with a letter stating a medical contraindication to DTaP
Polio	4 doses; fourth dose must be given on or after the 4 th birthday and \geq 6 months after the previous dose, or a fifth dose is required. 3 doses are acceptable if the third dose is given on or after the 4 th birthday and \geq 6 months after the previous dose
Hepatitis B	3 doses; laboratory evidence of immunity acceptable
MMR	2 doses; first dose must be given on or after the 1 st birthday and second dose must be given ≥28 days after first dose; laboratory evidence of immunity acceptable
Varicella	2 doses; first dose must be given on or after the 1 st birthday and second dose must be given ≥28 days after first dose; a reliable history of chickenpox* or laboratory evidence of immunity acceptable

Students entering Pre-K and Kindergarten are required to provide proof of a lead screening test.

<u>Grades 7 – 12</u>

In ungraded classrooms, Grade 7 requirements apply to all students ≥12 years.

Tdap	1 dose; and history of DTaP primary series or age appropriate catch-up vaccination. Tdap given at ≥7 years may be counted, but a dose at age 11-12 is recommended if Tdap was given earlier as part of a catch-up schedule. Td or Tdap should be given if it has been ≥10 years since last Tdap		
Polio	4 doses; fourth dose must be given on or after the 4 th birthday and ≥6 months after the previous dose, or a fifth dose is required. 3 doses are acceptable if the third dose is given on or after the 4 th birthday and ≥6 months after the previous dose		
Hepatitis B	3 doses; laboratory evidence of immunity acceptable. 2 doses of Heplisav-B given on or after 18 years of age are acceptable		
MMR	2 doses; first dose must be given on or after the 1 st birthday and second dose must be given ≥28 days after first dose; laboratory evidence of immunity acceptable		
Varicella	2 doses; first dose must be given on or after the 1 st birthday and second dose must be given ≥28 days after first dose; a reliable history of chickenpox* or laboratory evidence of immunity acceptable		

Meningococcal Requirements

Grade 7	1 dose; 1 dose MenACWY (formerly MCV4) required. Meningococcal B vaccine is not required and does not meet this requirement.
Grade 11 [‡]	2 doses; second dose MenACWY (formerly MCV4) must be given on or after the 16th birthday and ≥ 8 weeks after the previous dose. 1 dose is acceptable if it was given on or after the 16th birthday. Meningococcal B vaccine is not required and does not meet this requirement.

Physical Examinations

The Massachusetts Department of Public Health requires an in-person physical examination for students entering school for the first time (typically pre-kindergarten, kindergarten or new students) within one year prior to entrance to school or within 90 days after school entry and at intervals of four years thereafter. All students that have transferred from another school should have health records transferred. Students must have a current yearly in-person physical examination on file in the Health Office or an updated physical must be on file **at least** every four (4) years:

• Physical exams (in-person) for interscholastic sports are required and valid for thirteen (13) months after the date of the examination. There will be no doctor extension letters allowed per M.I.A.A. (Massachusetts Interscholastic Athletic Association) regulations. A physical that is valid on the first day of the sport's season is now valid for the remainder of that sport's season. For example: Fall sports begin on September 10. If a student's physical is dated August 15 of the previous year, it will expire on September 15. The student will now be eligible to try out and participate in the complete fall sport season. He/she will need to get a new physical to participate in a winter sport. Students must have a physical on file with the school nurse that meets the above requirements prior to tryouts. The nurse must sign the student's Scholastic Permission Slip.

Mass General Law c71, s57 also requires physical examinations for:

- 1. Children referred because of frequent absences due to unexplained illness or physical defects that require repeated appraisal.
- 2. Children referred for a teacher-nurse conference because the child is not making expected progress in school or because of signs of illness noted by the teacher or nurse.
- 3. Children under 16 and over 14 requesting employment certificates.

Medication Administration by the School Nurse

All medication administration shall be performed in accordance with Massachusetts Department of Public Health (MDPH) guidelines 105 CMR 210.00. The school nurse shall supervise the school medication administration program, including documentation, storage, and information dissemination to families.

Any prescription medication to be administered must have: 1) a signed Medication Order from a provider, 2) a container with a pharmacy label that matches the medication order, and 3) signed parent or guardian permission to administer the medication. Medication orders must be renewed at the beginning of each school year and whenever there is a change in prescription.

The school physician, in consultation with the school nurses, will provide yearly standing orders for certain medications to be administered based on nursing assessment and with written permission from a parent or guardian. A limited number of over-the-counter medications are available only with written parental permission documented on the annually updated Emergency Contact Form. All other over-the-counter medications in the original container may be supplied by the parent/guardian for the student's use at school as needed, and require a physician's medication order and written parental/guardian consent

Per MDPH CMR 105 210.008, a parent, guardian or parent/guardian-designated responsible adult shall deliver all prescription medications to be administered by school personnel or to be taken by self-medicating students to the school nurse or other responsible person designated by the school nurse. In extenuating circumstances, as determined by the school nurse, the prescription medication may be delivered by other persons; provided, however, that the nurse is notified in

advance by the parent or guardian of the arrangement and the exact quantity of prescription medication being delivered to the school. Parent/Guardian is required to pick-up medication at the end of the school year.

Medication Self-Administration

Students may not carry any medication on their person in school or on the bus. However, the school nurse may permit self administration of prescription medication by a student provided that the following requirements are met: 1) the school nurse evaluates the student's health status and abilities and deems self administration safe and appropriate; 2) the student, school nurse and parent/guardian enter into an agreement which specifies the conditions under which prescription medication may be self administered; 3) the student has signed authorization from a provider and parent or guardian to carry and self-administer certain medications. Medications that may be carried by a student for self-administration include bronchodilators, epinephrine auto-injectors, cystic fibrosis digestive enzymes, insulin and glucose tabs. <u>A student who carries an EpiPen on their person must still supply the nurse with an additional pen</u>.

For field trip purposes when a nurse is not available, a student may be trained to self-administer medication per the MDPH training guidelines.

Narcotics will not be kept in school. Since narcotics alter consciousness, any student requiring narcotics should remain at home. The only exception applies to those students whose CHRONIC illness requires narcotic medication be given during the school day as prescribed by their physician.

Naloxone (Narcan) Administration

The school district may, in conjunction with the School Physician and School Nurse Leader, stock nasal naloxone and trained medical personnel and first responders may administer it to a person suspected of an opioid overdose with respiratory depression or unresponsiveness.

Delegation of Epinephrine and Field Trip Medication to Unlicensed Personnel

Delegation of emergency epinephrine administration and field trip medication administration to unlicensed personnel may occur following: 1) training of the delegate by the school nurse in medication administration using content and competency testing developed and approved by the MDPH in consultation with the Massachusetts Board of Registration in Nursing, and 2) signed permission from a parent or guardian for the trained delegate to administer specified medication. Delegation of the above will follow proper application to the MDPH for delegation authority.

Massachusetts Dept. of Public Health Regulations: 105 CMR 210.000, 210.006; 210.007; 210.008; 244 CMR 3.00 THE ADMINISTRATION OF PRESCRIPTION MEDICATIONS IN PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SCHOOLS. LEGAL REF.: M.G.L. 71:54B

As of March 14, 2016, : Massachusetts Opioid Legislation also provides a "Good Samaritan" provision that protects staff and others when administering nasal naloxone. Ref.: M.G.L CHAPTER 94C, Section 34A-Massachusetts.

Health Screening

In compliance with the Massachusetts Department of Public Health, school health screenings are done annually as required by the state. Below is the following schedule for health screenings:

Screening Category	Frequency	Grade Level/ School
Height and Weight	Annually	1, 4, 7, & 10
Hearing	Annually Once Once	K - 3 Middle School High School
Vision	Annually Once Once	K - 5 Middle School High School
Postural	Annually	5 - 9
Substance, Brief Intervention, and Referral for Treatment (SBIRT)	Yearly	Grades 7 & 10

If a parent chooses to opt-out of the postural screening and/or the SBIRT, then an updated physical examination from the child's primary care physician must be submitted.

Parents will be notified of any significant findings, except for SBIRT, with a recommendation for medical follow-up if appropriate.

Blood-Borne Pathogens

As part of the Ayer Shirley Regional School District's Exposure Control Plan, administration and staff, with the advice of the school nurse, Centers for Disease Control Guidelines, and Massachusetts State Department of Health adhere to OSHA's guidelines in handling blood-borne pathogens.

Children with Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome

Students with HIV or AIDS are entitled to full protection and rights under IDEA. The Ayer Shirley Regional School District complies with those protections.

School-age Mothers

School-age mothers require adequate assistance and support to remain in school and acquire their education leading to graduation. Pregnant students will be permitted to remain in regular classes and participate in extracurricular activities with non-pregnant students throughout their pregnancies

unless otherwise directed by their physician(s). The District will respond to physician's recommendations regarding student health during pregnancy and implement appropriate accommodations. Every effort will be made to see that the educational program of the student is disrupted as little as possible; that health counseling services, as well as instruction are offered; that return to school after delivery is encouraged; and that every opportunity to complete high school is provided.

School Bus Transportation

As a regional school district, the ASRSD provides bus transportation for the residents of the Ayer and Shirley school communities. It is considered a privilege to ride the school bus. If the student is not well behaved or endangers the health and safety of other pupils, this privilege may be withdrawn. The bus driver will be considered as having the same authority as a teacher in the classroom while students are on the bus, boarding the bus, or disembarking from the bus.

Bus routes will be developed over the summer and published for all parents/guardians before the start of school.

Health and safety standards will continue to be followed for those who are riding the school bus. These expectations will be communicated to all students and families prior to the start of school. These include the following categories.

Protocols

• Students will be transported to licensed daycare and childcare facilities with prior written authorization

Embarking the Bus

• For loading and unloading passengers, students will board the bus occupying the seats from the back to the front

The Ride to School

- Students may be assigned to a specific bus and a specific seat on that bus
- No eating or drinking will be allowed on a bus unless there are medical considerations
- Students must face forward at all times
- Refrain from shouting, singing or sharing

School Arrival

• Disembarking from the front seats to the back

Loading and Unloading at Bus Stop

- 1. Riders must be on time. Bus drivers will not wait.
- 2. Riders will enter or leave the bus at regular stops only.
- 3. Orderly behavior and respect for private property will be required.

- 4. Instructions and directions of the driver must be followed by the riders when entering or leaving the bus.
- 5. Proper conduct is required aboard the bus at all times.
- 6. Parents will be held responsible for any defacing or damaging of the bus.
- 7. Parents and students will be informed of these regulations at the beginning of each school year.

The ASRSD utilizes a progressive disciplinary approach to ensure the safe travel of all students. Consequences for unsafe and unacceptable bus behaviors may range from a verbal / written warning up to a loss of bus riding privileges. The determination of an appropriate consequence for improper bus behavior will rest with the building principal or designee. In all instances, parents / guardians will be informed.

Food Services

The cost for student lunch will be determined prior to the start of the school year.

School Meal Prices

All meals for the school year are FREE. This does not include a la carte items such as snacks, water, or milk, purchased separately in the cafeteria. A la carte items may not be charged. Students must have funds in their account or pay cash for a la carte items.

A la carte items: We encourage families to use the on-line pre-payment system at <u>myschoolbucks.com</u>. Students can also pre-pay their a la carte items by bringing a check (preferred) or cash to the cafeteria manager preferably on Monday morning. Checks should be made payable to "Ayer Shirley Regional School District" or "ASRSD" with the student's name written on the memo line.

Free or Reduced Fee Meals

The DESE requires free and reduced price applications to be sent home this year. Students that are newly qualified may be able to collect P-EBT funds. Applications for the Free or Reduced Fee Meals Program are sent home with students at the beginning of the academic year. Applications are also available throughout the year in the front office, or by contacting the Coordinator of Food Services, Joe Ricci, at 978-772-8600 x1167

Food Services

- Offers breakfast and lunch to all of its students on a daily basis.
- All meals meet or exceed the USDA, National School Standards.
- Menus are posted monthly on the school website and sent home either by e-copy or hard copy.
- Menus are subject to change without notice.
- Middle School Only-A la carte snacks are offered daily. Tap water is available to all students or bottled water may be purchased at all schools.

The Food Service Department applies a **<u>No Charge Policy</u>**. All meals, food, and drinks must be paid for at the time of purchase by cash or check or through MySchoolBucks.

<u>Allergies</u>

The Ayer Shirley Regional School Food Service makes every effort to provide reasonable accommodations to those with related food allergies. Our cafeteria staff works closely with the school's nurse to ensure the safety of all students. Specific circumstances may be referred to the school nurse.

<u>Breakfast</u>

All students may participate in the morning breakfast program. Breakfast consists of minimally 3 basic components: Milk, Fruit or Vegetable and Grain or Cereal.

<u>Lunch</u>

All students may participate in the school lunch program. Lunch consists of the five (5) basic components: Milk, Meat/Alternate, Fruits, Vegetables and Grain/Alternate.

<u>Milk</u>

1/2 pints of milk are included with every meal or may be purchased separately.

Academics

State and Local Assessment

The Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE) and the federal government require assessments be administered to students on a yearly basis to measure their continued progress (i.e., "Massachusetts Comprehensive Assessment System (MCAS)" for students in grades 3 - 10, and the "Assessing Comprehension and Communication in English State-to-State (ACCESS)" for English Learners). In addition, the Ayer Shirley Regional School District may administer nationally normed standardized tests. These scores are used to determine individual, school, and district progress. Some assessments are administered to all students, while others are administered only to English language learners.

Academic life is at the heart of Ayer Shirley Regional Schools. Our goal is to support our students' academic development and foster learning across a spectrum of disciplines.

District Curriculum Accommodation Plan

Massachusetts General Laws require the adoption and implementation of a <u>District Curriculum</u> <u>Accommodation Plan (DCAP</u>). This plan is intended to guide principals and teachers in ensuring that all possible efforts are made to meet student needs in general education classrooms and to support teachers in analyzing and accommodating the wide range of student learning styles and needs that exist in any school. By describing in a document the accommodations, instructional supports and strategies that are available in general education, and the process for determining effective interventions for struggling learners, it is hoped that this DCAP will help support diverse learners in our schools.

Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 71, Section 38Q1/2 "A school district shall adopt and implement a curriculum accommodation plan to assist principals in ensuring that all efforts have been made to meet the students' needs in regular education. The plan shall be designed to assist the regular classroom teacher in analyzing and accommodating diverse learning styles of all

children in the regular classroom and in providing appropriate services and support within the regular education programming, including, but not limited to, direct and systematic instruction in reading and provision of services to address the needs of children whose behavior may interfere with learning, or who do not qualify for special education services under chapter 71B. The curriculum accommodation plan shall include provisions encouraging teacher mentoring and collaboration and parental involvement."

<u>Books</u>

Students are responsible for the care and return of all books, materials, and/or equipment issued by the school. Charges will be assessed for the replacement cost of lost, damaged, or destroyed materials. All textbooks should be covered to avoid damage to them.

English Learner Education (ELE)

In accordance with state laws and regulations, Ayer Shirley Regional provides instruction in the language of English for students whose English language proficiency level is limited. English Learners (ELs) are identified through screening tools administered to those whose home language is not English and who demonstrate a language need. This program provides instruction for students according to the intensity of their need as learners of English.

Students who speak no English or limited English receive specialized instruction from licensed English as a Second Language (ESL) educators for part of the day with the remainder of their day in classes taught by Sheltered English Instruction (SEI) endorsed teachers. Sheltered English Instruction means that instruction is "sheltered" (or adjusted) in order to help students learn skills and knowledge in the core content areas—English language arts, math, science, social studies. English learners study the same subjects as their peers, but with simplified language and visual material presented in a comprehensible manner, to make information clearer and more understandable. The material used includes, but is not limited to pictures, graphs, videos, computer programs, and manipulatives. Lessons and activities are designed so that the English language development of the student is addressed.

Information about services or eligibility can be obtained by contacting the building principal or either EL Co-Coordinator, Emily Babineau, <u>ebabineau@asrsd.org</u>, x 1216, or Liz Hoeske, <u>ehoeske@asrsd.org</u>, 978-772-8600 x1409

Students with Disabilities Services and Accommodations

Rights of Parents/Guardians of Students with Disabilities

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 is a federal law designed to protect the rights of individuals with disabilities. Section 504 states in part: "No otherwise qualified individual with a disability in the United States, as defined in section 705(20) of this title, shall, solely by reason of her or his disability, be excluded from the participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving federal financial assistance..."

The Section 504 regulations require a school district to provide a "free and appropriate public education" (FAPE) to each qualified student with a disability who is in the school district's jurisdiction, regardless of the nature or severity of the disability.

A student with a disability recognized under the federal statute known as Section 504 (29 USC §794[a]) is entitled to accommodation of that disability. Section 504 covers qualified students with disabilities who attend schools receiving Federal financial assistance. To be protected under Section 504, a student must be determined to: (1) have a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities; or (2) have a record of such an impairment; or (3) be regarded as having such an impairment. Section 504 requires that school districts provide a free appropriate public education (FAPE) to qualified students in their jurisdictions who have a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities. Section 504 also prohibits discrimination against any student based on such a disability. The 504 Coordinator is responsible for assuring compliance with Section 504. Contact the district's 504 Coordinator, Larainne Wilson, at 978-772-8600 ext. 1693 with additional questions.

A student whose disability is recognized under special education law, known as the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA: see USC §1401[3]) is entitled to educational programs and assignments that are designed to develop her/his educational potential. [M.G.L. c. 71B §1] Section 504 accommodation plans and special education individualized education programs (IEPs) must be developed in accordance with procedures set out in federal and Massachusetts law and regulations.

Some students with disabilities require specialized instruction to aid in effective progress in school. These services can include, but are not limited to, occupational therapy, physical therapy, speech and language therapy, or specialized instruction. Parents or teachers may refer students they are concerned about to the Special Education Department. Within five (5) school days of such a referral, a consent form authorizing an evaluation of the student will be forwarded to the parent/guardian. Upon receipt of the parent/guardian's consent an evaluation will be conducted and a Team meeting will be held to determine if the student is eligible for special education services. If a student is found eligible for special education services and supports.

Students with Disabilities (Americans with Disabilities Act):

The Ayer Shirley Regional School District complies with ADA policy concerning participation of students with disabilities. All reasonable accommodations will be made to allow students with disabilities to participate. Our Special Education Director Tara Bozek, is the School District's ADA Coordinator and can be contacted at 978-772-8600 extension ext. 1407.

<u>Homework</u>

Homework

At all levels, homework is an integral part of a student's education. To be truly effective, homework must include active participation and cooperation on the part of the students, teachers, and parents. Homework provides the student an opportunity to work independently, to develop study skills, to enrich the total learning process, and to expand experiences that enhance class instruction.

Teachers will assign homework on a regular basis. Homework assignments may include writing, reading, or studying assignments. Teachers will collect and review, check, or grade assignments and return them to students as soon as possible to preserve effectiveness. Homework assignments may be part of the student's grade.

The student's responsibility is to complete all homework assignments promptly and thoroughly. Students must understand the assignment, its purpose, how it should be completed, and when it is due. A guideline for teachers is to assign approximately ten (10) minutes of homework per grade. For example, a student in grade three might expect to have 30 minutes of homework in a given evening. In addition,

students are asked to read nightly.

Parents should provide an environment conducive to effective home study, encourage their children to complete all homework assignments, encourage them to properly prepare for tests and quizzes, and assist when necessary.

Homework/Make-up Work Due to Extended Absence

If necessary because of an extended excused absence, parents may request homework by adding this to the attendance line message. Students have the commensurate amount of days to make up work missed. For example, if a student is absent for three days, the student has three days to make-up missed work.

When the student returns to school, it is the student's responsibility to contact the teacher(s) to discuss missed assignments and make-up procedures. It is neither beneficial nor realistic to recreate the entire missed learning experience for every missed assignment. The teacher will determine what studies missed during an absence need to be completed. The determination of make-up assignments will be made upon the student's return to school.

Support Services

School Counseling Services

All of our schools have school counselors. They assist students in acquiring the knowledge, skills, and positive attitude necessary to enhance attendance, school behavior, and academic achievement. They use a developmental model, emphasizing prevention and early identification. Much of this work takes place during lessons in the classroom, during consultations with parents, teachers, and other professionals, or during collaborative meetings. The school counselors contribute to the safe school climate through school-wide programming addressing issues such as bullying prevention. Crisis intervention and related services are provided as needed. Parents and teachers are welcome to contact the counselors to discuss any school related concerns. The school counselors are also happy to share information about community resources such as support groups, therapists, and financial support for families experiencing difficulties.

William James College INTERFACE Referral Service

INTERFACE is a mental health counseling resource and referral Helpline that our communities of Ayer and Shirley have contracted with to help children, adults and families when in need of a mental health counseling resource. This service is available at no cost to residents of Ayer and Shirley. If you need a mental health referral for your child or anyone in your family who resides in Ayer or Shirley, call the helpline at 617-332-3666 x 1411 or 888-244-6843 x 1411 between the hours of 9:00 am-5:00 pm, Monday through Friday. A case referral specialist will make every effort to find a mental health specialist who has an opening matched with your insurance carrier within 2 weeks. You can see a complete listing of towns with this referral service as well as read the latest articles and advice on childhood and teen mental health topics at <u>www.msppinterface.org</u>. For more information, contact your child's ASRSD school counselor.

Child Abuse

Under Massachusetts General Law, Chapter 51, Section A, all professional school employees, are required to report suspected instances of child abuse and neglect of any child under eighteen (18) years of age to the Department of Children and Families, Lowell, MA 01453, (978) 275-6800

Education of Homeless Children - Mckinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act

The Ayer Shirley Regional School District complies with all requirements of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act (Subtitled B-Education for Homeless Children and Youth) reauthorized in January 2002. In keeping with these requirements:

- Children who become homeless have the right to continue attending their school of origin, or enroll in the school of the district in which they are residing.
- Transportation will be provided for students in order to maintain continuity of their attendance in a single school over the course of the year.
- When a student is residing outside of the town due to circumstances related to homelessness (in accordance with the statutory definition of "homeless") transportation will be coordinated with the District where the student is temporarily residing to provide transportation to the school of origin if this is the preference of the parent and student.
- The parents of a homeless child have the right to decide which one of the two (2) schools their child will attend. The options are:
 - The school in which the child was last enrolled, or
 - The school in the District in which the child is temporarily living.
- Women living in a battered women's shelter can give school officials the Post Office Box or mailing address of the shelter office, along with verification from the shelter director in which the children are residing in lieu of the street address. Transportation arrangements will be made in a manner that seeks not to disclose such shelter addresses.
- Questions or concerns regarding issues pertaining to homeless students should be referred to the District ASRSD Homeless Liaison, Fred Deppe, x1400.

Support Organizations

Ayer Shirley Education Foundation (ASEF)

The Ayer Shirley Education Foundation, Inc. is a 501(c) (3) charitable organization that is supported by donations from individuals, businesses and organizations committed to improving the

quality of education in the Ayer Shirley Regional School District. Through a granting process, the Ayer Shirley Education Foundation disperses the tax-deductible donations to create specific new programs and professional training aimed at enriching the education of the students in the region. The Ayer Shirley Education Foundation may be contacted at info@ayershirleyeducationfoundation.org or ayershirleyeducationfoundation.org

<u> PTO</u>

The Parent Teacher Organizations are vital and active in Page Hilltop, Lura A White and the Ayer Shirley Middle School. They provide benefits to the students of each school. It is the hope of each PTO to expose all children to as many enriching experiences throughout the school year as possible. Membership drives are held in the spring and fall. Please check the Ayer Shirley Regional School District Website for more information.

<u>SEPAC</u>

The Ayer Shirley Regional School District supports a Parent Advisory Council for Special Education. This council is mandated by regulation and serves in an advisory capacity to the Director of Special Education and School Committee.

School Council

A school council is a representative, school based committee that is composed of the principal, parents, teachers and community members. Each school is required to establish a school council pursuant to Section 59C of the Massachusetts Education Reform Act of 1993.

The purpose of a school council is to provide a broad base of educational shareholders the opportunity to combine resources for the purpose of improving the mission and achievements of each school. The school council works collectively with the school principal for the purpose to:

- a) Assist and advise the principal in adopting educational goals for the school;
- b) Assist and advise the principal in the identification of students' educational needs;
- c) Assist and advise the principal in the formulation of a School Improvement Plan.

It is important to emphasize school councils serve in an advisory capacity. Parents/Guardians interested in serving on school council should contact the building principal early in the fall.

Other Important Information

Invitations

Birthday or any other invitation may not be distributed in school or on the school bus. Confidential information regarding students may not be distributed to the public.

Valuable Possessions/Cell Phones

Students are not allowed to bring toys or other personal items to school unless requested or approved by the teacher. Students should not bring electronic devices or valuable items to school. ASRSD is not responsible for lost or stolen possessions. Matters pertaining to theft and vandalism

will result in the offender being subject to appropriate legal action, as well as disciplinary action. Anything of value should be locked in a student's locker, or kept on their person.

Field Trips

Field trips are planned educational experiences correlating closely with grade level curricula. Since these lessons occur away from the school grounds, permission slips signed by a parent/guardian must be returned prior to the student's participation. Some field trips may require families to make a financial contribution to support the student's attendance on the trip. It is also important to note that students may be excluded from participating in a field trip due to safety concerns.

<u>Volunteers</u>

Some volunteer opportunities include: assisting in the cafeteria and /or recess, shelving books in the library, helping in the classroom, reading with students, and after school activities. To avoid unnecessary distractions in the classroom, volunteers are not allowed to bring siblings during volunteer duty. If interested in volunteering in the school, please contact the school's principal. Os cuidadores que tenham um formulário CORI aprovado em arquivo podem ser voluntários na escola e em excursões, conforme surgirem oportunidades. Os formulários CORI podem ser obtidos na secretaria da escola do aluno. A impressão digital pode ser necessária. Os voluntários

são vitais para nossos programas escolares e são muito apreciados. Os voluntários devem completar uma verificação de segurança de antecedentes através das Informações de Registro de Ofensores Criminais (CORI) e concordar com as condições do manual do voluntário.

Visitor Procedure

Parents and other persons with valid reason to visit the Ayer Shirley Regional School District will be welcome according to the following procedures.

- Visitors must sign in upon entering at the main office and sign out when leaving. Visitors must wear a Visitor's badge at all times.
- Before and after school hours, parents and/or students may not enter a classroom unless accompanied by school personnel. Visitors require authorization to move beyond designated areas of the building.
- It is critical to maintain momentum of instruction in the classroom. Visitors disrupting any aspect of the educational process will be asked to leave the building.
- Parents do not need a visitor's badge to pick up a child. However, they will need to check in at the office, be prepared to provide identification and will be asked to remain in the office area.

Teachers must be notified ahead of time if a parent wishes to speak to them or visit during the school day. For the safety and supervision of all students, cafeteria and playground visits are discouraged. A strict adherence to these requirements is in the best interest of the safety and well-being of all our students.

Code of Conduct

A Guide to Mutual Respect

We believe that all students and staff should have a safe, comfortable school environment founded upon mutual respect and consideration for one another. The following code of behavior has been established to assist students, parents, teachers, and administrators in promoting patterns of behavior which enhance our learning community. ASRSD School Committee policies are in place to address inappropriate behavior such as harassment, sexual harassment and hazing.

Children need to feel safe and supported in a caring, learning environment. School procedures help give structure to the responsibilities of: Respect yourself; Respect others; Respect the environment. Adults also have responsibilities. They serve as positive role models by showing respect towards children and each other. Adults give positive feedback regarding appropriate and cooperative behavior. They work together with students to establish age-appropriate rules in each classroom. Adults also suggest alternative choices for unacceptable behavior and encourage the use of conflict resolution and mediation.

To preserve the safe environment in our school district, any ASRSD employee has jurisdiction and responsibility that extends throughout the entire building and over the school grounds at all times. Students are expected to comply with reasonable requests (e.g. providing their name to a staff member, following reasonable instructions, etc.), and conform to school rules, and to those provisions of the law that apply. Failure to do so may result in disciplinary action as articulated in the student code of conduct.

In cases where suspension or expulsion from school is determined to be the response to the misbehavior, all rights to due process hearings will be offered. A detailed description of due process rights is found at the end of this section. Additional copies can be obtained from the principal. Administrators will work to preserve the safety and wellbeing of all students and staff.

Code of Discipline

Good citizenship in schools is based on respect and consideration for the rights of others. Students will be expected to conduct themselves in a way that ensures the rights and privileges of others are not violated. Students are responsible to faculty, staff, and other students for their behavior to and from school, on school grounds, on buses, and during any school-sponsored activity or field trip.

<u>Discipline</u>

- We believe in the support of discipline standards for our students. Therefore, there exists a set of reasonable school and classroom regulations by which all students are expected to abide. Consistency is provided throughout the school system using common language and common expectations.
- Our teachers are knowledgeable with regard to behavior that reasonably can be expected from children, considering age, basic personalities and individual needs.

- Most discipline problems are handled by the classroom teacher in concert with the parents and the principal or assistant principal. Whenever necessary, positive alternatives are employed to promote improvement in student behavior.
- The principal and assistant principal are responsible for establishing or approving general school and classroom rules and regulations. They serve as a resource to both teachers and parents in improving student behavior. In instances where the teacher and/or parent have been unable to affect a positive change, the principal and/or assistant principal will become more directly involved in the disciplinary process.

Students are expected to...

- 1. Report to each class on time and prepared to learn with their necessary materials for class.
- 2. Treat faculty, staff, and classmates with respect and allow others to participate equally in the lesson.
- 3. Use moderate voices at all times.
- 4. Keep to the right in hallways and stairwells to avoid blocking other students' movements
- 5. Follow instructions in emergency situations.
- 6. Be Kind, Be Safe, and Be Ready to Learn

Expectations for Student Dress

Expectations for student dress are important to create a positive environment that is conducive to the learning and safety of students as well as providing a positive working environment for our staff. It is commonly accepted that student behavior and the school environment are strongly influenced by the dress and appearance of students. These expectations inherently teach students the importance of respectable appearance which can positively impact self respect and self esteem.

Since school is primarily a place of learning and work, students are expected to dress appropriately for those tasks. Diversity within our school population is appreciated and the need for individual expression is respected. We strongly believe that those values can be celebrated and maintained while at the same time meeting the following expectations. Students shall not wear clothing items that contain messages that are vulgar, obscene or libelous; that denigrate others on the basis of race, color, religion, creed, national origin, gender, sexual orientation, or disability; that promote alcohol or drug use or violence; or that are otherwise disruptive to the educational process. The Principal and Assistant Principal have the final decision in making the determination that there has been a violation of this policy. Students who are dressed inappropriately will be asked to change or call home for a change of clothes. Consequences for non-compliance or repeated infractions may include: verbal warnings, detention, parent meeting or other appropriate actions.

Elementary School-Student Dress Expectations

- Students should come dressed appropriately for seasonal weather.
- Outerwear, including coats, jackets, parkas, etc. will not be allowed to be worn inside school (Sweatshirts, vests or other layering pieces of clothing are allowed)
- Students shall not wear hats, hoods, bandanas in school, except for religious or medical reasons OR on special designated spirit days.

Middle School-Student Dress Expectations

- Hats, hoods or other head coverings are not allowed except for religious or medical reasons, or on special designated spirit days, or with prior approval from administration.
- Outerwear, including coats, jackets, parkas, etc. will not be allowed to be worn inside school (Sweatshirts, vests or other layering pieces of clothing are allowed)
- There should not be any exposed undergarments, buttocks, or torsos.
- Sunglasses/colored glasses are prohibited unless prescribed or authorized by a physician.
- Footwear must be worn at all times.
- Safety/protective clothing and footwear, as well as athletic and gym clothing and sneakers, shall be worn as required by the subject teacher or organization advisor while students are participating in specialized activities.

High School - Student Dress Expectations

- There should not be any exposed buttocks, or torsos.
- Sunglasses/colored glasses are prohibited unless prescribed or authorized by a physician.
- Footwear must be worn at all times.
- Safety/protective clothing and footwear, as well as athletic and gym clothing and sneakers, shall be worn as required by the subject teacher or organization adviser while students are participating in specialized activities.

ADMINISTRATIVE NOTE: Please note that it is the responsibility of the student and parent that the student follows the guidelines of this policy. When questions arise regarding the interpretation of this policy, the school shall make the final determination regarding the appropriateness of student dress.

Expectations for Electronic Devices

Cell phones, iPods, iPads, headphones, wireless headphones etc. are to be silenced/turned off and put away during the school day. Electronic devices will not be used during the school day without the express permission of staff. Electronic devices will be confiscated that are found to be in violation. Staff will turn confiscated devices into the Assistant Principal.

- First Offense: Item will be returned to the student at the end of the school day.
- Second/Third Offense: Item will only be returned to a parent/guardian and student may serve a detention (lunch, after school, etc.).
- Four or More Offenses: Electronic devices will not be allowed in school, or may be left with an administrator for the school day, and serious disciplinary consequences may follow.

Infractions

Participation in any of the following will result in student discipline. This list is not an exhaustive list, but merely illustrative of unexpected behaviors. We recognize the differences between the different ages and grade levels of students, and disciplinary consequences will be administered accordingly.

1. Throwing objects in classrooms not authorized by the faculty or staff

- 2. Refusing to comply with a request by a faculty member or school administrator.
- 3. Stealing
- 4. Cheating or using or copying the academic work of another and presenting it as his/her own without proper attribution.
- 5. Threatening, intimidating, or demonstrating aggressive behavior (e.g., pushing and shoving)
- 6. Using inappropriate language (e.g., swearing, profanity, etc.)
- 7. Intentionally causing or attempting to cause physical injury to another person except in self-defense.
- 8. Damaging, Defacing, or Tampering school property or the property of others
- 9. Leaving school grounds without permission
- 10. Possessing or using illegal or controlled substances, or paraphernalia, on school grounds, in school buildings, or on school transportation; including but not limited to tobacco, alcohol, drugs, e-cigarettes, vaping devices, or counterfeit drugs
- 11. Possessing or using incendiary devices (e.g. lighters, matches, etc.)
- 12. Possessing or using a weapon
- 13. Harassing, hazing, or bullying
- 14. Possessing or distributing sexual paraphernalia
- 15. Using technology or social media inappropriately

Potential Consequences

- 1. Verbal Warning from staff member
- 2. Restorative Practices engages students in a process that empowers them to repair relationships and the harm they have done to others; restore their good standing in the community; and learn skills and target behaviors to improve their self-awareness, self-management, and social and academic efficacy
- 3. Parent Contact
- 4. Withholding Privileges for example a student may not be able to attend a special program within the school
- 5. Detention a student may be required to serve a detention during lunch, recess, after class, or before or after school
- 6. Suspension/Exclusion a student may be temporarily removed from the classroom; extracurricular activities or events; suspended (either in-school or out-of-school); or excluded from school

Due Process Procedures in the Case of Suspension or Expulsion

<u>MGL Chapter 71 Section 37 H -</u> Policies relative to conduct of teachers or students; student handbooks

Section 37H

The superintendent of every school district shall publish the district's policies pertaining to the conduct of teachers and students. Said policies shall prohibit the use of any tobacco products within the school buildings, the school facilities or on the school grounds or on school buses by any

individual, including school personnel. Copies of these policies shall be provided to any person upon request and without cost by the principal of every school within the district.

Each school district's policies pertaining to the conduct of students shall include the following: disciplinary proceedings, including procedures assuring due process; standards and procedures for suspension and expulsion of students; procedures pertaining to discipline of students with special needs; standards and procedures to assure school building security and safety of students and school personnel; and the disciplinary measures to be taken in cases involving the possession or use of illegal substances or weapons, the use of force, vandalism, or violation of other student's civil rights. Codes of discipline, as well as procedures used to develop such codes shall be filed with the department of education for informational purposes only.

In each school building containing the grades nine to twelve, inclusive, the principal, in consultation with the school council, shall prepare and distribute to each student a student handbook setting forth the rules pertaining to the conduct of students. The school council shall review the student handbook each spring to consider changes in disciplinary policy to take effect in September of the following school year but may consider policy changes at any time. The annual review shall cover all areas of student conduct, including but not limited to those outlined in this section.

Notwithstanding any general or special law to the contrary, all student handbooks shall contain the following provisions:

(a) Any student who is found on school premises or at school-sponsored or school-related events, including athletic games, in possession of a dangerous weapon, including, but not limited to, a gun or a knife; or a controlled substance as defined in chapter ninety-four C, including, but not limited to, marijuana, cocaine, and heroin, may be subject to expulsion from the school or school district by the principal.

(b) Any student who assaults a principal, assistant principal, teacher, teacher's aide or other educational staff on school premises or at school-sponsored or school-related events, including athletic games, may be subject to expulsion from the school or school district by the principal.

(c) Any student who is charged with a violation of either paragraph (a) or (b) shall be notified in writing of an opportunity for a hearing; provided, however, that the student may have representation, along with the opportunity to present evidence and witnesses at said hearing before the principal.

After said hearing, a principal may, in his discretion, decide to suspend rather than expel a student who has been determined by the principal to have violated either paragraph (a) or (b).

(d) Any student who has been expelled from a school district pursuant to these provisions shall have the right to appeal to the superintendent. The expelled student shall have ten days from the date of the expulsion in which to notify the superintendent of his appeal. The student has the right to counsel at a hearing before the superintendent. The subject matter of the appeal shall not be

limited solely to a factual determination of whether the student has violated any provisions of this section.

(e) Any school district that suspends or expels a student under this section shall continue to provide educational services to the student and an opportunity to make academic progress during the period of suspension or expulsion, under section 21 of chapter 76. If the student moves to another district during the period of suspension or expulsion, the new district of residence shall either admit the student to its schools or provide educational services to the student in an education service plan, under section 21 of chapter 76.

(f) Districts shall report to the department of elementary and secondary education the specific reasons for all suspensions and expulsions, regardless of duration or type, in a manner and form established by the commissioner. The department of elementary and secondary education shall use its existing data collection tools to obtain this information from districts and shall modify those tools, as necessary, to obtain the information. On an annual basis, the department of elementary and secondary education shall make district level de-identified data and analysis, including the total number of days each student is excluded during the school year, available to the public online in a machine-readable format. This report shall include district level data disaggregated by student status and categories established by the commissioner.

(g) Under the regulations promulgated by the department, for each school that suspends or expels a significant number of students for more than 10 cumulative days in a school year, the commissioner shall investigate and, as appropriate, shall recommend models that incorporate intermediary steps prior to the use of suspension or expulsion. The results of the analysis shall be publicly reported at the school district level.

Section 37H1/2.

(1)Upon the issuance of a criminal complaint charging a student with a felony or upon the issuance of a felony delinquency complaint against a student, the principal or headmaster of a school in which the student is enrolled may suspend such student for a period of time determined appropriate by said principal or headmaster if said principal or headmaster determines that the student's continued presence in school would have a substantial detrimental effect on the general welfare of the school. The student shall receive written notification of the charges and the reasons for such suspension prior to such suspension taking effect. The student shall also receive written notification of his right to appeal and the process for appealing such suspension; provided, however, that such suspension shall remain in effect prior to any appeal hearing conducted by the superintendent.

The student shall have the right to appeal the suspension to the superintendent. The student shall notify the superintendent in writing of his request for an appeal no later than five calendar days following the effective date of the suspension. The superintendent shall hold a hearing with the student and the student's parent or guardian within three calendar days of the student's request for an appeal. At the hearing, the student shall have the right to present oral and written testimony on

his behalf and shall have the right to counsel. The superintendent shall have the authority to overturn or alter the decision of the principal or headmaster, including recommending an alternate educational program for the student. The superintendent shall render a decision on the appeal within five calendar days of the hearing. Such decision shall be the final decision of the city, town or regional school district with regard to the suspension.

(2) Upon a student being convicted of a felony or upon an adjudication or admission in court of guilt with respect to such a felony or felony delinquency, the principal or headmaster of a school in which the student is enrolled may expel said student if such principal or headmaster determines that the student's continued presence in school would have a substantial detrimental effect on the general welfare of the school. The student shall receive written notification of the charges and reasons for such expulsion prior to such expulsion taking effect. The student shall also receive written notification of his right to appeal and the process for appealing such expulsion; provided, however, that the expulsion shall remain in effect prior to any appeal hearing conducted by the superintendent.

The student shall have the right to appeal the expulsion to the superintendent. The student shall notify the superintendent, in writing, of his request for an appeal no later than five calendar days following the effective date of the expulsion. The superintendent shall hold a hearing with the student and the student's parent or guardian within three calendar days of the expulsion. At the hearing, the student shall have the right to present oral and written testimony on his behalf and shall have the right to counsel. The superintendent shall have the authority to overturn or alter the decision of the principal or headmaster, including recommending an alternate educational program for the student. The superintendent shall render a decision on the appeal within five calendar days of the hearing. Such decision shall be the final decision of the city, town or regional school district with regard to the expulsion.

Any school district that suspends or expels a student under this section shall continue to provide educational services to the student during the period of suspension or expulsion, under section 21 of chapter 76. If the student moves to another district during the period of suspension or expulsion, the new district of residence shall either admit the student to its schools or provide educational services to the student under an education service plan, under section 21 of chapter 76.

Section 37H 3/4

Suspensions

A violation of the school rules may result in the suspension of you/your child from school. A suspension may be served in three ways: an in-school suspension, a short-term suspension, or a long-term suspension. Depending on circumstances, your child may also be removed for not more than two (2) school days on emergency grounds. Ch. 177 of the Acts of 2022 updated M.G.L. c. 71 §37H ³/₄ to require school authorities to consider and employ alternative remedies to reengage students in learning process before suspending or expelling a student, except in specific

documented circumstances. Alternative remedies include mediation, conflict resolution, restorative justice, and collaborative problem solving.

Below are definitions for the terms to be used during school suspension procedures. The procedures are pursuant M.G.L. c. 71 $37H^{3}$ and 603 CMR 53.00, and effective July 1, 2014.

You/your

These words mean the student if more than 18 years of age and where contextually inappropriate the student's parents, guardian or person authorized to make educational decisions if the student is less than 18 years old.

In-School Suspension

An in-school suspension is defined as removal of a student from regular classroom activities, but not from the school premises, for no more than (10) consecutive school days, or no more than ten (10) school days cumulatively for multiple infractions during the school year. Removal solely from participation in extracurricular activities or school-sponsored events, or both, shall not count as removal in calculating school days. In-school suspension for ten (10) days or fewer, consecutively, or cumulatively during a school year, shall not be considered a short-term suspension. If a student is placed in in-school suspension for more than ten (10) days, consecutively or cumulatively during a school year, shall be deemed a long-term suspension for due process and appeal purposes.

Short-Term Suspension

A short-term suspension is defined as the removal of a student from the school premises and regular classroom activities for ten (10) or fewer consecutive school days. A principal may, in his or her discretion, allow a student to serve a short-term suspension in school. Removal solely from participation in extracurricular activities or school-sponsored events, or both, shall not count as removal in calculating school days.

Long-Term Suspension

A long-term suspension is defined as the removal of a student from the school premises and regular classroom activities for more than ten (10) consecutive school days, or for more than ten (10) school days cumulatively for multiple disciplinary offenses in any school year. A principal may, in his or her discretion, allow a student to serve a long-term suspension in school. Removal solely from participation in extracurricular activities or school-sponsored events, or both, shall not count as removal in calculating school days.

Except for students who are charged with offenses under M.G.L. c. 71 §37H or §37H1/2 *i.e.*, with possession of drugs or weapons on school grounds, assault on a staff member, or are charged with or convicted of a felony or felony delinquency, no student may be placed on long-term suspension for one or more disciplinary offenses for more than ninety (90) school days in a school

year beginning with the first day that the student is removed from school. Offenses under §§37H or 37H1/2 are not subject to §37H3/4 as to the duration of your child's removal from school and may result in an expulsion for longer than 90 days. No long-term suspension shall extend beyond the end of the school year in which such suspension is imposed.

Expulsion

Expulsion is defined as the removal of a student from the school premises, regular classroom activities, and school activities for more than ninety (90) school days, indefinitely, or permanently, as permitted under G.L. c. 71, §§37H or 37H1/2 for: a) possession of a dangerous weapon; b) possession of a controlled substance; c) assault on a member of the educational staff; or d) felony conviction, or adjudication or admission of guilt with respect to such felony, if it is determine that the student's continued presence in school would have a substantial detrimental effect on the general welfare of the school, as provided in G.L. c. 71, §§37H or 37H 1/2.

School Wide Education Plan

If you or your child is to be suspended for more than ten (10) consecutive days, you/your child may be eligible to continue to receive educational services under a school-wide education plan, a document developed by the building principal, in accordance with G.L. c. 76, §21. The plan includes a list of education and services available to students who are expelled or suspended from school for any reason, or under any law including M.G.L. c. 71§§ 37H & 37H1/2, for more than 10 consecutive days. These plans are intended to allow eligible students to continue to access academic opportunities while suspended or excluded for any reason.

Notice of Hearing Rights and Procedures

Procedures for Short-Term Suspension

(Exclusion of a student from school premises and regular classroom activities for a specified period of not more than ten school days.)

The principal, or his/her designee, may suspend students on a short-term basis. Unless a student poses a danger to persons or property, substantially and materially disrupts the order of school, possesses a firearm, controlled substance, or assaults a school staff member, the student will receive the following prior to a short-term suspension:

1. Oral and written notice of the charges in English and the primary language of the home if other than English. This notice shall include:

- i. The disciplinary offense;
- ii. The basis for the charge;

iii. The potential consequences, including the potential length of the suspension;

iv. The opportunity to have a hearing with the principal and the parent concerning the proposed suspension, including the opportunity to dispute the charges and to present the student's explanation of the alleged incident;

v. The date, time, and location of the hearing;

vi. The right of the parent and student to interpreter services at the hearing; and

vii. If the student may be placed on a long-term suspension following the hearing with the principal:

- 1. The rights set forth under the "Procedures for Long-Term Suspension"; and
- 2. The right to appeal the principal's decision to the superintendent.

2. At the hearing, if the student and/or parent elects to attend, the student shall have the opportunity to present his/her version of the relevant facts and any mitigating circumstances.

3. The principal shall make reasonable efforts to notify the parent orally of

the opportunity to attend the hearing. To conduct the hearing without the parent, the principal must be able to document reasonable efforts to include the parent. The principal is presumed to have made reasonable efforts if the principal sent written notice and has documented at least two (2) attempts to contact the parent in the manner specified by the parent for emergency notification.

4. Based on the available information, the principal shall make a determination as to whether the student committed the disciplinary offenses and what remedy shall be imposed. The principal shall notify the student and parent in writing of his/her decision, the reasons for it, and, if applicable, the type and duration of the suspension and the opportunity to make up assignments and other academic work.

5. If the student is in a public preschool program or in grades K through 3, the principal shall send a copy of the written determination to the superintendent and explain the reasons for imposing an out-of-school suspension, before the suspension takes effect.

Procedures for Emergency Removal

If the student's continued presence poses a danger to persons or property, or materially and substantially disrupts the order of the school and, in the principal's judgment, there is no alternative available to alleviate the danger or disruption, the principal shall temporarily remove the student from the school. This temporary removal shall not exceed two (2) days following the day of the

emergency removal and the superintendent shall be immediately notified of the removal. Additionally, the principal shall make immediate and reasonable efforts to orally notify the student and student's parent of the emergency removal, the reason for the emergency removal, and the other information required in a short-term suspension notification. The short-term suspension notice shall be provided in writing to the student and parent. The opportunity for a hearing with the principal shall occur within two (2) school days, unless otherwise extended by the school and parent. A decision regarding the student's continued suspension or other removal shall be rendered the same day as the hearing and written notice shall be provided the following school day. This written notice shall include all the information required based on the type of discipline imposed (short-term suspension, in-school suspension, long-term suspension, or expulsion). The Principal will also ensure adequate provisions have been made for the student's safety and transportation prior to removal.

The principal may also remove a student from privileges, such as extracurricular activities and attendance at school-sponsored events, based on a student's misconduct. This type of removal is not subject to the procedures for suspension and expulsion outlined in this policy.

Procedures for an In-School Suspension

An in-school suspension may be used as an alternative to short-term suspension for disciplinary events. An in-school suspension means the removal of a student from regular classroom activities, but not from the school premises, for no more than ten (10) consecutive school days, or no more than ten (10) school days cumulatively for multiple infractions in one school year.

If the principal chooses this alternative, the principal shall inform the student of the disciplinary offense charged and the basis for that charge and provide the student an opportunity to dispute the charge and explain the circumstances surrounding the charge. If an in-school suspension is issued, the principal shall make reasonable efforts to notify the parent orally of the disciplinary offense, the reasons for concluding that the student committed the offense, and the length of the in-school suspension.

The principal shall also invite the parent to a meeting to discuss the student's academic performance and behavior, strategies for student engagement, and possible responses to the behavior. This meeting shall be scheduled on the day of the suspension, if possible, or as soon as possible thereafter. The principal shall also send written notice to the student and parent about the

in-school suspension, including the reason and length of the in-school suspension, and inviting the parent to the above-described meeting, if such meeting has not already occurred.

Procedures for Long-Term Suspension

(Exclusion of a student from school premises and regular classroom activities for more than ten school days.)

The principal, or his/her designee, may issue long-term suspensions at the building level. The principal may also issue expulsions for the offenses set forth in M.G.L. c. 71, §37H and §37H¹/₂. Expulsions for other offenses are handled by the School Committee pursuant to M.G.L. c. 76, §16 and §17.

1. In the event of a long-term suspension or expulsion, the student will be provided oral and written notice of the charges in English and the primary language of the home if other than English. This notice shall include:

- i. The disciplinary offense;
- ii. The basis for the charge;
- iii. The potential consequences, including the potential length of the suspension;

iv. The opportunity to have a hearing with the principal and the parent concerning the proposed suspension, including the opportunity to dispute the charges and to present the student's explanation of the alleged incident;

v. The date, time, and location of the hearing; and

vi. The right of the parent and student to interpreter services at the hearing.

2. The principal shall make reasonable efforts to notify the parent orally of the opportunity to attend the hearing. To conduct the hearing without the parent, the principal must be able to document reasonable efforts to include the parent. The principal is presumed to have made reasonable efforts if the principal sent written notice and has documented at least two (2) attempts to contact the parent in the manner specified by the parent for emergency notification.

3. In advance of the hearing, the student shall have the right to review the student's record and the documents upon which the principal may rely in making a determination to suspend the student.

4. The student shall also have the right to be represented by counsel or a lay person at the choice and expense of the student/parent.

5. At the hearing, if the student and/or parent elects to attend, the student shall have the opportunity to present his/her version of the relevant facts and any mitigating circumstances. The student shall also have the right to produce witnesses and the right to cross-examine witnesses presented by the school. The student may request that the hearing be audio

recorded by the principal and may request a copy of the recording. All parties must be made aware that the hearing is recorded in advance of the hearing.

6. The parent, if present, shall have the opportunity to discuss the student's conduct and other information, including mitigating circumstances that the principal should consider in determining consequences for the student.

7. The principal shall make a determination as to whether the student committed the disciplinary offenses and what consequences shall be imposed. The principal shall notice the student and parent in writing of his/her decision, including the following information:

i. The disciplinary offense, the date on which the hearing took place, and the participants in the hearing;

ii. The key facts and conclusions reached by the principal;

iii. The length and effective date of the suspension and the date of return to school;

iv. The notice the student's opportunity to receive education services to make academic progress during the suspension;

v. The student's right to appeal the principal's decision to the superintendent or his/her designee if a long-term suspension has been imposed. This notice of appeal shall include the process for appealing the decision, which requires the parent or student to file a written notice of appeal with the superintendent within five (5) calendar days of the effective date of the long-term suspension.

a. The superintendent shall hold the hearing within three (3) school days of the student's request unless an extension is mutually agreed to.

b. The superintendent shall make a good-faith effort to include the parent in the hearing.

c. The hearing shall be conducted to determine whether the student committed the disciplinary offense and, if so, what the consequence shall be. The hearing shall be audio recorded and a copy of the recording shall be provided to the student or parent upon request.

d. All the same rights as are afforded in the above long-term suspension principal's hearing shall apply to the student in a superintendent's hearing.

e. The superintendent shall issue a written decision within five (5) calendar days of the hearing. If the superintendent determines that the student committed the disciplinary offense, the superintendent may impose the same or lesser consequence than the principal.

f. The decision of the superintendent shall be the final decision of the school district.

vi. If the student is in grades K-3, the principal shall send a copy of the written determination to the superintendent and explain the reasons for the suspension before the suspension takes effect.

Discipline of Students with Disabilities

Includes students currently on 504 accommodation plans and Individual Educational Programs or students who the school district knows or has reason to know might be eligible for such services. All students are expected to meet the requirements for behavior as set forth in this handbook. The Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004 (IDEA), the Americans with Disabilities Act and Massachusetts General Law Chapter 76, section 16-18 and Chapter 71 section 37H provide eligible students with certain procedural rights and protections in the context of student discipline.

Procedures for Suspension of Students with Disabilities

All students, including eligible students with disabilities, receive prior written notice regarding the school's Code of Conduct.

- 1. Any eligible student may be suspended up to ten days in any school year.
- After a student with a disability has been suspended for ten days in any school year, during any subsequent removal, the public school provides sufficient services for the student to continue to receive a free and appropriate public education and to access the general curriculum.
- 3. The school provides additional procedural safeguards for students with disabilities prior to any suspension beyond ten consecutive days or more than ten cumulative days in any school year such as;
 - A. Suspension of longer than ten consecutive days or a series of suspensions that accumulate to more than ten days and constitute a pattern are considered to represent a change in placement.
 - B. Prior to a suspension that constitutes a change in placement of a student with disabilities, the Team convenes for a Manifestation Determination to determine if the misbehavior was caused by or had direct relationship to the student's disability, or was the direct result of the school's failure to provide the services required by the student's IEP or 504 Plan.
 - C. If the Team determines that the behavior is NOT a manifestation of the disability, then the district may suspend or expel the student consistent with the policies applied to any student without disabilities, except that the district must still offer all Individualized Educational Programs and educationally related services to the student with disabilities which may be in some other setting.
 - D. If the Team determines that the student's behavior was caused by or substantially related to the student's disability or the failure to properly implement the IEP or 504 Plan, then the student must be returned to the last approved placement unless the

Team decides on a different placement. It must conduct a functional behavioral assessment and develop a behavior plan (or review and modify an existing plan, if necessary).

- 4. Regardless of the manifestation determination, the district may place the student in an interim alternative education setting for up to 45 days;
 - A. If the behavior involves weapons or illegal drugs or another controlled substance while at school or school function,
 - B. If the district provides evidence that the student is "subsequently likely" to injure him/herself or others and a hearing officer orders the alternative placement; and
 - C. The interim alternative education setting enables the student to continue in the general curriculum, to continue receiving services identified on the I.E.P., and provides services to address the problem behavior.
 - D. If the team determines that the behavior is a manifestation of the disability, then the district takes steps with the consent of the parent/guardian to correct the I.E.P., the placement, or the behavior intervention plan.
 - E. The school district provides written notice to a parent/guardian of all rights to appeal and to an expedited hearing. If the parent/guardian chooses to appeal, during the appeal the student stays put in the placement, unless the parent/guardian and the school district agree otherwise.
- 5. Procedural requirements applied to students not yet determined to be eligible for special education.
 - A. If prior to the disciplinary action, a district had knowledge that the student may be a student with disability, then the district makes all protections available to the student until and unless the student is subsequently determined not to be eligible. The district may be considered to have prior knowledge if prior to the incident:
 - 1. The parent/guardian had expressed concern in writing: or
 - 2. The parent/guardian had requested an evaluation: or
 - 3. School district staff had expressed concern that the student had a disability.
 - B. If the district had no reason to consider the student disabled, and the parent/guardian requests an evaluation subsequent to the disciplinary action, the district must have procedures to conduct an expedited evaluation to determine eligibility. If the student is found eligible, then he/she receives all procedural protections subsequent to the finding of eligibility.
 - C. The school district has developed procedures consistent with the federal requirements to expedite evaluations.

Physical Restraint

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts has specific regulations on the use of physical restraint in public education programs. The regulations (603 CMR 46.00) are meant to promote safety for all students and staff in schools, whether in regular education or special education. Physical restraint

shall be used only in emergency situations, after less intrusive alternatives have failed or been deemed inappropriate, and with extreme caution. The Ayer Shirley Regional School District's policy reflects the content of Chapter 69, Section 1B, and Chapter 71, Section 37G of the Massachusetts General Laws. The purpose of the Law is to ensure that every student participating in the Massachusetts public education program is free from the unreasonable use of physical restraint. All ASRSD staff will be trained

School personnel shall use physical restraint only if formally trained in physical restraint and only when restraint is needed to protect the student and/or member of the school community from imminent, serious, physical harm; and to prevent or minimize any harm to the student as a result of the physical restraint.

Student Search and Personal Privacy

Searches to Student's Person

In all circumstances of search and seizure in the school the interests of the student will be abridged no more than is necessary to achieve the legitimate end of preserving order in the school. A student search and resulting seizure will be carried out if (a) there are reasonable grounds for suspecting that the student has violated or is violating either the law or the rules of the school, and (b) the search itself is conducted in a manner reasonably related to its objectives and not excessively intrusive in light of the age and sex of the student and nature of the infraction. When possible, the search should be conducted under the direction of the principal or designated administrator with at least one other adult witness, all of the same sex as the alleged offender. Whenever possible, reasonable efforts must be made to inform the student's parents/guardian prior to taking such action. The search should be conducted as discreetly as possible making sure to avoid intrusive searches or random searches. If the search and seizure so warrants, it will be brought to the attention of the appropriate law enforcement authorities and the student's parents will be so informed.

Searches of Lockers, Desks, and Computers

Students may be issued lockers, desks, and computers, or other school equipment or facilities at the opening of school or thereafter. *Students should have no expectation of privacy in their school lockers, desks, computers, etc.* Lockers, desks, and computers are for the use of students but remain the property of the Ayer Shirley Regional School District. Students are advised that their *lockers, desks, computers, or other school equipment or facilities may be inspected without notice by school administrators* to ensure cleanliness, safety, and adherence to federal, state, and local laws and regulations.

Canine Inspection of School

At the discretion of the Superintendent of schools and his/her designee, the Ayer and/or Shirley Police Department(s) or State Police Canine Unit may be requested to perform an inspection of the school.

Cooperation with Law Enforcement

All cases of actual possession, use, sale and distribution of alcohol, a controlled substance or weapons in school, upon school property, or at school-sponsored events will be reported to the Ayer or Shirley Police Department for appropriate action.

Bullying Prevention and Intervention

The Ayer Shirley Regional School District (ASRSD) expects that all members of the school community will treat each other in a civil manner and with respect for differences. The ASRSD is committed to providing all students with a safe learning environment that is free from bullying and cyberbullying. This commitment is an integral part of our comprehensive efforts to promote learning, and to prevent and eliminate all forms of bullying and other harmful and disruptive behavior that can impede the learning process. Character development is referenced multiple times in the district's Strategic Plan, in shared beliefs and in the mission statement. The district anti-discrimination statement is below:

It is the policy of Ayer Shirley Regional School District not to discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, gender identity, sexual orientation, national origin, age, disability, housing status, or limited English-speaking ability.

We recognize that certain students may be more vulnerable to become targets of bullying, harassment, or teasing based on actual or perceived characteristics, including race, color, religion, ancestry, national origin, sex, socioeconomic, status, homelessness, academic status, gender identity or expression, physical appearance, or sensory, disability, or by association with a person who has or is perceived to have one or more of these characteristics. The school or district will identify specific steps it will take to create a safe, supportive environment for vulnerable populations in the school community, and provide all students with the skills, knowledge, and strategies to prevent or respond to bullying, harassment, or teasing.

We will not tolerate any unlawful or disruptive behavior, including any form of bullying, cyberbullying, or retaliation, in our school buildings, on school grounds, or in school related activities. We will promptly investigate all reports and complaints of bullying, cyberbullying and retaliation, and take prompt action to end that behavior and restore the target's sense of safety. We will support this commitment in all aspects of our school community including curricula, instructional programs, staff development, extracurricular activities and parent or guardian involvement.

<u>Bullying</u>, as defined in M.G.L. c. 71, § 37O, is the repeated use by one or more students or school staff members of a written, verbal, or electronic expression or a physical act or gesture or any combination thereof, directed at a target that:

- i. Causes physical or emotional harm to the target or damage to the target's property;
- ii. Places the target in reasonable fear of harm to himself or herself or of damage to his or her property;
- iii. Creates a hostile environment at school for the target;
- iv. Infringes on the rights of the target at school; or
- v. Materially and substantially disrupts the education process or the orderly operation of a school.

Cyber-bullying

Cyber-bullying means bullying through the use of technology or any electronic communication, which shall include, but shall not be limited to, any transfer of signs, signals, writing, images, sounds, data or intelligence of any nature transmitted in whole or in part by a wire, radio, photo-electronic or photo-optical system, including, but not limited to, electronic mail, internet communications, instant messages, social media, or facsimile communications. Cyber-bullying shall also include the creation of a web page, blog, or other social media account in which the creator assumes the identity of another person or knowingly impersonates another person as author of posted content or messages, if the creation or impersonation creates any of the

conditions enumerated in the definition of bullying. Cyber-bullying shall also include the distribution by electronic means of a communication to more than one person or the posting of material on an electronic medium that may be accessed by one or more persons, if the distribution or posting creates any of the conditions enumerated in the definition of bullying.

For more information, please read the <u>ASRSD Bullying Prevention & Intervention Plan</u>, located on the district website.

According to M.G.L 71:370, acts of bullying, which include cyber bullying, are strictly prohibited:

(i) on school grounds and property immediately adjacent to school grounds, at a school- sponsored or school-related activity, function, or program whether on or off school grounds, at a school bus stop, on a school bus or other vehicle owned, leased, or used by a school district or school; or through the use of technology or an electronic device owned, leased, or used by a school district or school district or school, and

(ii) at a location, activity, function, or program that is not school-related through the use of technology or an electronic device that is not owned, leased, or used by a school district or school, if the acts create a hostile environment at school for the target or witnesses, infringe on their rights at school, or materially and substantially disrupt the education process or the orderly operation of a school.

Retaliation against a person who reports bullying, provides information during an investigation of bullying, or witnesses or has reliable information about bullying is also prohibited.

<u>Hazing</u>

Hazing is any conduct or method of initiation into any student organization, whether on public or private property, which willfully or recklessly endangers the physical or mental health of any student or other person. Hazing is a crime and a violation of MGL. Ch. 536, Sections 17-19 (included below), and will not be tolerated. Acts of hazing should be reported to any school personnel immediately.

Section 17

Whoever is a principal organizer or participator in the crime of hazing as defined herein shall be punished by a fine of not more than one thousand dollars or by imprisonment in the house of correction for not more than one hundred days, or by both such fine and imprisonment.

The term "hazing" as used in this section and in sections eighteen and nineteen shall mean any conduct or method of initiation into any student organization, whether on public or private property, which willfully and recklessly endangers the physical or mental health of any student or other person. Such conduct shall include whipping, beating, branding, forced calisthenics, exposure to the weather, forced consumption of any food, liquor, beverage, drug or other substance, or any

other brutal treatment of forced physical activity which is likely to adversely affect the physical health or safety of any such student or other person, or which subjects such student or other person to extreme mental stress, including extended deprivation of sleep or rest or extended isolation.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this section to the contrary, consent shall not be available as a defense to prosecution under this action.

Section 18

Whoever knows that another person is the victim of hazing defined in section seventeen and is at the scene of such crime shall, to the extent that such person can do so without danger or peril to himself/herself or others, report such crime to an appropriate law enforcement official as soon as is reasonably practicable. Whoever fails to report such crime shall be punished by a fine of not more than five hundred dollars.

Section 19

Each institution of secondary education and each public and private institution of post-secondary education shall issue to every student group, student team or student organization which is part of such institution or is recognized by the institution or permitted by the institution to use its name or facilities or is known by the institution to exist as an unaffiliated student group, student team or student organization, a copy of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen; provided, however, that an institution's compliance with this section's requirements that an institution issue copies of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen to unaffiliated student groups, teams or organizations shall not constitute evidence of the institution's recognition or endorsement of said unaffiliated student groups, teams or organizations.

Each such group, team or organization shall distribute a copy of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen to each of its members, plebes, pledges, or applicants for membership. It shall be the duty of each such group, team or organization, acting through its designated officer, to deliver annually, to the institution an attested acknowledgement stating that such group, team or organization has received a copy of this section and said sections seventeen and eighteen, that each of its members, plebes, pledges, or applicants has received a copy of sections seventeen and eighteen, and that such group, team or organization understands and agrees to comply with the provisions of this section and seventeen and eighteen.

Each institution of secondary education and each public or private institution of post-secondary education shall, at least annually, before or at the start of enrollment, deliver to each person who enrolls as a full-time student in such institution a copy of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen.

Each institution of secondary education and each public or private institution of post-secondary education shall file, at least annually, a report with the board of higher education and in the case of secondary institutions, the board of education, certifying that such institution has complied with its

responsibility to inform student groups, teams or organizations and to notify each full time student enrolled by it of the provisions of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen and also certifying that said institution has adopted a disciplinary policy with regard to the organizers and participants of hazing, and that such policy has been set forth with appropriate emphasis in the student handbook or similar means of communicating the institution's policies to its students. The board of higher education and, in the case of secondary institutions, the board of education shall promulgate regulations governing the content and frequency of such reports and shall forthwith report to the attorney general any such institution which fails to make such report.

Legal and Other Procedural Matters

Updating Student Information

Parents should notify the front office in writing when there is a change of address or phone number (home, work or cell).

Custodial Orders

If a student is the subject of any temporary/permanent custody order, decree or agreement, a copy of the custody order, decree or agreement, either signed by the judge of the probate court, in the case of an order or decree, or signed by both parents, in the case of an agreement, should be on file in the principal's office. These orders are important for determining access to the student's records, the right to have the student dismissed in to the care of an individual, the right of access to a student's teacher or similar issues. Parents are obligated to notify the school of any changes in the custody orders as they become final.

Directory Information

A school may release the following directory information: a student's name, address, telephone listing, date and place of birth, major field of study, dates of attendance, weight and height of members of athletic teams, class, participation in officially recognized activities and sports, degrees, honors and awards, and post-high school plans without the consent of the eligible student or parent; provided that the school gives public notice of the types of information it may release under 603 CMR 23.07 and allows eligible students and parents a reasonable time after such notice to request that this information not be released without the prior consent of the eligible student or parent.

Distribution of Materials

All aspects of school-sponsored newspapers and/or yearbooks are completely under the supervision of the teacher sponsor and principal. Written materials, handbills, photographs, pictures, petitions, films, tapes, other visual or auditory materials may not be sold, circulated, or distributed on campus by a student or a non-student without the approval of the principal. Requests for approval of materials must be made at least twenty four (24) hours in advance; if permission is denied, an appeal can be made to the Superintendent. Distribution of material consisting primarily of commercial advertising is prohibited.

Fundraising

All fundraising projects need to be approved by the principal and appropriate ASRSD paperwork must be completed.

Student Fundraising Activities

Students are not permitted to go door to door for the purpose of fundraising for the Ayer Shirley Regional School District. All fundraising activities will be approved by the principal, with notification to the Superintendent.

Video Surveillance

The Ayer Shirley Regional School District utilizes video surveillance equipment to ensure the health, welfare, and safety of all students, staff, and visitors, and to safeguard District facilities and equipment.

Parent Notification Regarding Sexual Education and Human Sexuality Issues

Massachusetts General Law Chapter 71, Section 32 A notes that parents be provided an "opt-out" provision for courses (typically sex education or sciences) school assemblies, or other instructional activities and programs that focus on human sexual education, the biological mechanics of human reproduction and sexual development, or human sexuality issues. Parents wishing to review curricula and/or exempt their child/children from instruction of the aforementioned topics must contact the building Principal in writing.

Student Records and Privacy

Student Records

The following is a summary of the major parent and student rights regarding their student records, as provided by the Regulations pertaining to student records. The Massachusetts Student Record Regulations address all issues associated with parents' and eligible students' rights of confidentiality, inspection, amendment, and destruction of student records, as well as the district's responsibilities with regard to the maintenance of such records. The following information is a basic summary of those regulations and should not be considered as providing any rights or imposing any responsibilities in excess of the actual Student Record Regulations; such regulations may be found at 603 CMR 23.00.

The regulations apply to all information kept by a school committee on a student in a manner such that he or she may be individually identified. The regulations divide the student record into two sections: the transcript and the temporary record. The transcript includes only the minimal information necessary to reflect the student's educational progress and to assist the district in operating its educational system. This information may include the student's name, address, phone number(s), and date of birth; name, address, and phone number(s) of the parents or guardian; course titles, grades, course credits, grade level completed, and the year completed. The transcript is kept by the district for at least sixty years after the student leaves the school system.

By contrast, the temporary record contains all of the information in the student record that is not in the transcript. This may include such things as standardized test results, class rank,

extra-curricular activities, and evaluation and comments by teachers, counselors, and other persons, as well as other similar information. The temporary record is destroyed no later than seven years after the student leaves the school system.

Inspection of Records

A parent/guardian has the right to inspect all portions of the student record upon request. The record must be available to the parent/guardian no later than two (2) days after the request, unless the parent or student consents to a delay. The parent/guardian has the right to receive copies of any part of the record interpreted by a qualified professional of the school, or may invite anyone else of their choosing to inspect or interpret the record with them.

Confidentiality of Records

With a few exceptions, no individuals or organizations but the parent and school personnel working directly with the student are allowed to have access to information in the student record without specific, informed, written consent of the parent/guardian. In addition, any person inspecting or releasing information in the temporary record must note which portion was inspected or released and for what purpose, in a log that is kept as a part of the temporary record.

Authorized school personnel of the school to which a student seeks or intends to transfer may have access to such student's records without the consent of the eligible student or parent, provided that the school the student is leaving, or has left, gives notice that it forwards student records to schools in which the student seeks or intends to enroll. Such notice may be included in the routine information letter required under 603 CMR 23.10.

As of 1998 Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 71, Section 34H specifies detailed procedures that govern access to student records by parents who do not have physical custody of their children. For more information, please contact the school principal.

Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment Act

The Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment (PPRA) requires that the school notifies you to obtain consent or allow you to opt out of the following school activities: a student survey, analysis, or evaluation that concerns one or more of the following seven areas ("protected information surveys"):

- 1. Political affiliations or beliefs of the student or student's parent;
- 2. Mental or psychological problems of the student or student's family;
- 3. Sex behavior or attitudes; illegal, anti-social, self-incriminating, or demeaning behavior;
- 4. Critical appraisals of others with whom respondents have close family relationships;
- 5. Legally recognized privileged relationships, such as with lawyers, doctors, or ministers;
- 6. Religious practices, affiliations, or beliefs of the student or parents; or
- 7. Income, other than as required by law to determine program eligibility.

This requirement also applies to the collection, disclosure, or use of student information for marketing purposes ("marketing surveys"), and certain physical exams and screenings.

The Ayer Shirley Regional School District will provide parents, within a reasonable period of time prior to the administration of the surveys and activities, a notification of the surveys and activities and be provided an opportunity to opt their child out, as well as an opportunity to review the surveys. (Please note that this notice and consent/opt-out transfers from parents to any student who is 18 years old or an emancipated minor under State law).

The ASRSD reserves the right to make changes to this handbook at any time ***Revised, Dec. 6, 2023*** Appendix A: Preschool Handbook Addendum

Ayer Shirley Regional

Integrated Preschool Program Handbook Addendum

2023-2024



It is the policy of the Ayer Shirley Regional School District not to discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, gender identity, sexual orientation, national origin, age, disability, genetic information, marital status, amnesty, veteran status, or limited English-speaking ability.

Introduction

Integrated Preschool Staff

Program Description

Program Procedures

Family Resources

Introduction

Welcome to the Ayer Shirley Regional Little Panthers Preschool! We are delighted that you have selected our program as your child's first school-based learning experience. It is always exciting to welcome new and returning families as members of the Integrated Preschool Program and the Ayer Shirley School District learning community.

The Little Panthers Preschool Handbook will serve as a resource for parents/guardians, staff, administrators, and the community. Procedures and protocols are in alignment with MA Department of Education Guidance, state and federal regulations and the Ayer Shirley Regional School District relative to the Integrated Preschool Program.

Please note that we believe the work that supports our district vision begins with our littlest Panthers!

"THE GOAL OF EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION SHOULD BE TO ACTIVATE THE CHILD'S OWN NATURAL DESIRE TO LEARN."

-Maria Montessouri

LITTLE PANTHERS PRESCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS & STAFF Program Location: 115 Washington Street, Ayer, MA 01432

978-772-8600

Fax: 978-772-2299

All email address contacts are first initial last name @asrsd.org

Name	Title	Extension
Administrators:		
Kristin Campione	Director of Student Services	<u>x1509</u>
Tara Bozek	Director of Special Education	<u>x1408</u>
Fred Deppe	Principal	<u>x1400</u>
Matthew Lutinski	Assistant Principal	<u>x1426</u>
Staff:		
Teaching Staff	Support Staff	Specialists
Melissa Ducharme	Johnna Brissette	Debra Austin, PT
Kerry Harris	Sue Deignan	Dominque Berube, RBT
Leslie Rice	Nicole Hotchkiss	Jen Howard, RBT
Theresa Walker	Leslie Sheldon	Margaret (Meg) Saucier, OT
		Lezli Whitehouse, SLP
Administrative Assistants:		
Doreen Mahoney	Special Education Department	978-772-8600 x 1480
Linda Harrington	Special Education Department	978-772-8600 x 1408
Gail Januskiewicz Peggy Carlson	Page Hilltop Office Main Office	978-772-8600 x 1401,1402

Integrated Preschool Program Description

The Ayer Shirley Regional Integrated Preschool Program is open to children who live in the communities of Ayer and Shirley and is designed to prepare students for kindergarten and the early grades. Our program serves young children with special needs and their typically developing peers, ages three through five, within an inclusive early childhood setting.

PROGRAM GOALS

- 1. To provide a high quality, early learning school-based experience for all children enrolled.
- 2. To provide a safe and nurturing developmentally appropriate environment for young children, grounded in inclusive practices.
- 3. To provide an engaging learning environment for young children that fosters curiosity, exploration, creativity, social and emotional growth, and develops school readiness skills for success in the early years of formal schooling.

ANTICIPATED IMPROVED STUDENT OUTCOMES:

- Positive social-emotional skills (including social relationships)
- Acquisition and use of knowledge and skills (including early language/communication and early literacy)
- Appropriate behaviors to meet needs

CURRICULUM

The Integrated Preschool Program Curriculum Plan is based on an interdisciplinary curriculum. Each unit represents about one month of instruction and links vocabulary, key early academic or school readiness concepts in science, social studies, literacy, math, and social emotional learning.

- Me at School
- Living Things
- Multicultural Customs and Traditions
- Seasons of Change
- Our Community
- The Universe
- Pretend/Fantasy
- Animals and Their Habitats
- Growing Season

Program Procedures

PRESCHOOL REGISTRATION

The Ayer Shirley Regional School District Preschool Program is open to all children from the age of 3 years to five (5) years of age in the communities of Ayer and Shirley. Admission is open regardless of sex, race, color, religion, national origin, sexual orientation, gender identity, disability or limited English-speaking identity.

Registration packets are available in the Page Hilltop School Main Office, in the District Office, or online at <u>https://www.asrsd.org/domain/52</u>.

ENROLLMENT

Registration for the Ayer Shirley Regional School Integrated Preschool Program is ongoing throughout the year if space allows. Current class size is capped at 15 students per class. Classrooms are multi-aged and balanced based on the number of IEP students enrolled, number of peers enrolled, gender, and age.

The preschool registration process begins in January/February of each year and will remain ongoing until enrollment is full. An annual information night is held for new and returning families to gain information about our Integrated Preschool Program and meet the staff. The Director of Student Services, district and school administrators, and preschool staff attend this event to answer any questions/concerns that parents/guardians may have.

Students will be considered to be fully enrolled once all required documents are received: Registration form, proof of residency, up-to-date medical/health information/form with proof of immunizations and recent physical, and copy of birth certificate (original birth certificates are not required).

Once accepted into the program, students attending the Little Panthers Preschool will be registered through the Page Hilltop School office. Our Little Panther preschool students become members of the regional school district and are registered in the district's Student Information Management System.

Please note- admission is NOT based on a first come/first served basis. A lottery will be held in May if more children apply than there are openings. A waitlist will be kept for the Little Panthers Preschool Program as needed.

Please note- registration is limited to residents of Ayer and Shirley only.

SCREENING

Newly enrolled preschool students must complete a preschool screening assessment at the start of the first preschool school year and before entering kindergarten. The results will be used to determine the child's instructional needs including scaffolding and support in the areas of school readiness/academics, language, social emotional, and behavior development.

PreSchool-12 Handbook 2023-2024

<u>TUITION</u>

Tuition is on a pre-pay basis, \$300 per month. A deposit equal to one month's tuition is required at the time of registration to secure preschool placement. All fees are due regardless of program attendance to maintain your child's placement.

The first tuition payment is due in August. Monthly payments are due the 15th of each month - August through May. The district does not send invoices/bills for payment- please set a reminder to pay this tuition bill each month..

Before the 15th of each month, please mail checks or money orders made out to the Ayer Shirley Regional School District, attention Doreen Mahoney, Special Education Department, Page Hilltop School 117 Washington Street, Ayer, MA 01432.

Tuition Notes:

- Parents of children who are eligible for special education services (IEP) should discuss at the time of registration whether or not a tuition fee will be assigned to their child as in a few cases, tuition is assigned (e.g. Speech services only IEP).
- 2. In the event schools are ordered to temporarily close to maintain the health and safety of our students and provide remote instruction, tuition will be reduced during the period of closure by 50% to \$150 per month.

PROGRAMS/WEEKLY SCHEDULE

The Little Panthers Preschool Program is a school year program only. The Little Panthers Preschool offers 12.5 hours per week of programming, Monday through Friday in morning or afternoon sessions..

Parents/Guardians will be notified in writing in advance of any program or schedule changes.

SCHOOL CALENDAR

District and school calendars are available on the district website <u>www.asrsd.org.</u>

The Ayer Shirley Regional School District Preschool Program will observe the following holidays and will therefore be closed:

- Labor Day
- Columbus Day
- Thanksgiving Day
- Friday after Thanksgiving
- Christmas Day-Christmas school vacation- New Year's Day
- Martin Luther King Day
- President's Day- February school vacation
- Patriot's Day- April school vacation
- Memorial Day
- Juneteenth

PROCEDURES for ARRIVAL AND DISMISSAL

Arrival - It is important that parents/caregivers arrive on time as a regular start to learning is important. We ask that you notify the staff if there are any changes to your arrival time and that

you keep delays to a minimum.

Dismissal - We would like to request that you pick your child up promptly at the end of the session. A consistent pick up time is critical to your child's sense of safety and trust.

Late Pick-Up A pattern of habitual lateness will be addressed by the Director of Student Services. If a child is chronically picked up late from their scheduled dismissal time, a Director/Parent meeting will be scheduled which may result in the assignment of fees. This protocol will be strictly enforced for a variety of reasons including:

- Restrictions on the number of staff and children in the program at any one time
- Your child worries if you're not there when expected.

TRAFFIC PLAN/TRANSPORTATION

It is the responsibility of the parents and/or caregivers to provide transportation for their preschool child, unless otherwise stated. The Preschool Traffic Plan is linked here. <u>Preschool Traffic Plan</u>. Administrators and staff will notify families in writing as to changes in the protocol for arrival and dismissal.

Note- Parents are responsible for transportation of your child in the event of illness.

ATTENDANCE POLICY

Attendance is recorded daily. If a child will not be in attendance for any reason, the parent must call the Page Hilltop School main office to report the absence at 978-772-8600 x 140

PARENT/GUARDIAN COMMUNICATION

The staff will support and share information with the families of preschool students in the following ways:

- Early Childhood website <u>https://www.asrsd.org/domain/53</u>
- Surveys for parent input
- Monthly newsletters updating theme activities, birthdays, special events, etc.
- Written progress reports two times per year
- Parent-teacher conferences as noted on the district calendar.
- Handouts may be sent home or articles shared to assist you in your very important role as a parent
- Parent workshops on topics that are key to student success

AUTHORIZATION TO RELEASE CHILD

Your child must be picked up by an adult who is at least 18 years old and listed on your emergency dismissal form. Only those individuals listed as authorized pick-ups are allowed to pick up your child (this person may be asked to show ID.) In order for your child to be released to a person other than parent/legal guardian or authorized pick-up, permission must be given to the teacher in writing. Verbal permission is not enough, however, we can accept email requests.

AT NO TIME WILL REQUESTS BE ACCEPTED BY PHONE UNLESS IT IS AN EXTREME EMERGENCY.

FAMILY ENGAGEMENT

Families are invited to an orientation meeting prior to the start of the school to become familiar with program policies and procedures and are strongly encouraged to participate in school-wide and preschool only family events held throughout the year.

Preschool family engagement and outreach may include communication via phone and email, in-person or virtual parent workshops, guest speakers, Open House Night, parent conferences, PTO meetings or other events designed to engage with families as educational partners. A calendar of events will be provided to families in early fall.

Please become an active participant in your child's educational program. We hope that you become comfortable sharing information with the preschool team that supports the healthy development and growth of your child.

FAMILY INVOLVEMENT/VISITORS

As parents/guardians, you can be the most important influence on your child's development. We encourage your interest, ideas and participation in your child's program. The more we coordinate our efforts, the more likely it will be that your child has a successful experience.

Please request a phone appointment or online appointment with your child's teacher using the contact information provided on pages 3-4 of this handbook.

STUDENT RECORDS

An Emergency Information Record will be maintained to provide easy access to vital information in the event of a medical emergency or unanticipated program emergency. Please select emergency contacts that are available to quickly respond to a call/message from the school.

A student record file will be maintained for each child and kept in a secure place. Records will include the registration documents, anecdotal notes, copies of accident/incident forms, etc. Parents may request to see their child's file at any time. Information will only be released with a written statement signed by the parent/guardian. The only exception will be for information concerning allergies.

SCHOOL HEALTH OFFICE/NURSE

The school nurse is available during school hours, 8:25 am- 3:25 pm. The health office follows the regulations/guidelines established by the Massachusetts Department of Public Health and Department of Education. The health office also follows the policies/procedures established by the Ayer Shirley Regional School District, local Board of Health, and attending school physician- Dr. Godfrey.

TOILETING

While we know that many preschool-aged children are toilet trained, we understand that some children will require assistance with toileting. Bear in mind that time spent in toileting takes time away from learning, play and socializing. We strongly encourage families to consistently work with their preschool-aged child in becoming successful in 'toileting'. If your child is still going through the toilet training process, parents/guardians <u>MUST SUPPLY</u> <u>ALL MATERIALS FOR THE ENTIRE</u>

PRESCHOOL DAY. This includes pull ups, wipes, training pants, extra changes of clothing, etc. We will send home any soiled clothing in plastic bags for you to clean and return with your child. All staff will take universal precautions and wear sterile gloves when assisting a child, changing pull ups or handling soiled clothing. All staff and children will also use antibacterial soap at the time of toileting and changing tables if needed will be sanitized between uses.

CLOTHING

Please dress your child in comfortable clothing that allows movement and is easy for the child to manage.

It is requested that parents send in a complete set of seasonably appropriate clothes for their child including: underwear, socks, pants and a shirt. Please label the set of clothes with your child's name and place them into a large Ziploc freezer bag, also labeled with your child's name and delivered to school on the first day. This clothing will be kept at school in case of an accident or spill.

Children should come dressed appropriately for outside play all year long. Boots, mittens, hats, coats/snowsuits will be needed through the winter and early spring. **Please label** all outerwear with your child's full name to avoid confusion or loss.

SHAPING BEHAVIOR/POSITIVE REINFORCEMENT

Staff utilize positive reinforcement to shape behavior. Many instructional strategies including Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) will be applied as needed to support children in developing self regulation skills and socially acceptable behavior (please see some examples of strategies listed below).



With the goal of learning how to independently manage and control behavior, children who demonstrate inappropriate behavior will be reminded in a calm manner that their behavior is not part of the group plan. Students will be redirected to a more appropriate activity. If problem behaviors continue, staff will be sure to communicate with parents/guardians to find positive means to assist the child in improving their behavior/self regulation.

Examples:

- Careful layout/organization of activity centers and toys to limit distractions
- Consistent but flexible schedules/routines and expectations
- Utilizing simple and concrete language in speaking to the child supported with visuals
- Setting developmentally appropriate rules and boundaries
- Giving structured choice rather than open choice
- Modeling appropriate behavior
- Encouraging independence
- Providing redirection
- Praising appropriate behavior in the child and others

• Providing alerts prior to major changes, transitions, etc

PEER INTERACTIONS

Throughout the coming days/weeks/months tuition based preschool students attending the Integrated Preschool Program may be asked to join peers who may have some limitations in play, social activities, and specialized lessons in a small group setting outside of the preschool classroom. This integrated practice will allow our students with special needs an opportunity to practice language and friendship skills in a smaller, quieter setting.

Given parent/guardian permission, peers will be asked to rotate in and out of these specialized lessons for students with disabilities.Opportunities to join preschool students and staff will not interfere with any special events or field trips planned by our preschool teachers. Our staff is highly trained and we are currently maintaining a very good staffing ratio of adults to students. If you do NOT want your child to participate in this integrated peer opportunity, please email the Director of Student Services.

SHARING/TOYS

Bringing personal toys to school is not allowed. Our classrooms are equipped with many toys and activities. Please be reminded that toy weapons, action figures, as well as any pointed or sharp objects are not appropriate for school.

<u>SNACK</u>

Children attending the Ayer Shirley Regional School District Early Childhood Preschool programs need to bring a nutritious snack and beverage (s) each day. The ASRSD Wellness Policy requires this snack to be nutritious (i.e. fruit, juice, crackers and peanut butter, yogurt, raisins, cheese, sandwich). <u>Please do not send in soda or candy or any class containers.</u>

Food allergies and any dietary restrictions must be brought to the attention of the staff.

This information will be posted in the School Health Office and all who work with the child will be alerted.

BIRTHDAYS

Birthdays are a very special occasion for young children. Every child's birthday can be celebrated here at school. Please check with your child's teacher to best determine how to safely recognize the birthday child on their special day

FIRE DRILLS

The signal for a fire drill is the repeated ringing of the fire alarm bell. Preschool students will be supported to leave the building by routes indicated in each classroom. Preschool students will learn to listen quietly for instructions during the practice drills. Every person within the school building, including visitors, must evacuate the building when the fire alarm rings. Fire drills will be held by the school and the Town of Ayer Fire Department several times throughout the year.

VOLUNTARY WITHDRAWAL FROM THE PROGRAM

If for any reason a child will no longer attend the Integrated Preschool Program, parents/guardians

must notify the school in writing of their decision. Please include the child's name, name of custodial parent/guardian, address, reason for withdrawal and final date of attendance.

Staff will assume the child is still enrolled in preschool unless notified in writing and monthly tuition will be charged.

TERMINATION OF PLACEMENT

Termination of preschool services will be determined by the following guidelines:

- Chronic tardiness: If after several warnings, a parent/guardian is continually late in picking up your child, a meeting will be arranged with the Director/Principal to discuss the reasons. Termination of placement will result, if no reasonable solution can be reached.
- Non-payment of tuition/fees: The Director/Principal will meet with parents/guardians to discuss the non-payment reasons. A reasonable payment plan may be arranged as an option. Failure to follow the payment plan will result in termination of the placement.
- In the unlikely event that a child is unable to adjust to the Ayer Shirley Regional School District's program, becomes a chronic disruption to the program, or is a danger to him/herself or the other children in the program, a meeting will be arranged to discuss possible resolution of the issue. If no reasonable solution can be reached, termination of placement may result.
- If the program is determined not to meet the educational needs of a child, a meeting will be arranged to determine the best solution (including need for referral services). If no reasonable solution can be reached, termination of the placement may result

FAMILY RESOURCES



Ayer Shirley Regional School District website link: http://www.asrsd.org

Early Childhood Program webpage https://www.asrsd.org/programs/schedule/

Learn the Signs. Act Early. CDC Developmental Milestones- Free App https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/actearly/milestones/index.html

Footsteps2Brilliance Free Early Literacy Resource for any Ayer or Shirley resident www.my f2b.com/iz

MA Curriculum Frameworks (available as a free pdf download) http://www.doe.mass.edu/frameworks/current.html

DESE website link: http://www.doe.mass.edu/sped/prb/

Translated IEP Forms & Notices DESE website link: http://www.doe.mass.edu/sped/iep/tforms.html

The Family Education and Privacy Act (FERPA)

https://www2.ed.gov/policy/gen/guid/fpco/ferpa/index.htm

Appendix B: Middle School Handbook Addendum

Ayer Shirley Regional Middle School Student/Parent/Guardian Handbook Addendum



2023-2024

Ayer Shirley Regional Middle School 1 Hospital Road Shirley, Massachusetts 01464 Phone: 978-772-8600 Fax: 978-425-0474 Online at <u>www.asrsd.org</u>

Middle School Daily Schedule

Time	Mon	Tue	Wed	Thurs	Fri
7:50-7:55 (5)	Homeroom	Homeroom	Homeroom	Homeroom	Homeroom
7:58-8:46 (48)	F	G	F	G	F
8:49-9:37 (48)	G	F	G	F	G
9:40-10:28 (48)	E	E	E	E	E
10:31-11:19 (48)	A	D	В	D	с
11:21-12:38 (48)	В	А	С	В	D
12:41-1:29 (48)	с	В	D	A	А
1:32-2:20 (48)	D	С	А	С	В

Ayer Shirley Regional Middle School 2023-2024 Daily Schedule

Advisory Schedule							
7:50-7:55 (5)	Homeroom						
7:55-8:30 (35)	Advisory						
8:33-9:15 (42)	F						
9:18-10:00 (42)	G						
10:03-10:45 (42)	E						
10:48-11:31 (42)	A						
11:31-12:48 (48)	В						
12:51-1:34 (43)	с						
1:37-2:20 (43)	D						

Lunch/Recess Schedule								
Grade	Regular Time	Advisory Time						
6	11:21-11:46	11:31-11:56						
7	11:47-12:12	11:57-12:22						
8	12:13-12:38	12:23-12:48						

Unified Arts (UA)							
Team Block							
Green (6)	А						
Purple (6/7)	В						
Blue (7)	с						
Maroon (8)	D						

Enrichment Classes						
Grade	Block					
6	E					
7	F					
8	G					

Middle School Daily Life

Arrival and Dismissal Procedures

Buses drop off and pick up students at the side driveway near the gym. Walkers and students being dropped off/picked up by parents should use the front circular driveway. **Please do not park in the bus lane at any time.**

Before School Student Locations

Upon arriving, students are expected to report to the gym or cafeteria. Students participating in breakfast will report directly to the cafeteria. All other students will report to the gym and sit with their grade level. If attending extra help, students will check-in with the main office before proceeding to the academic wings.

Student Athletes and Band Members

May drop off equipment upon arriving in school. All students are expected to report to the above locations immediately after storing items.

<u>Backpacks</u>

Students are allowed to carry backpacks to and from school and store them in their lockers. They are not permitted to carry the packs from class to class during the school day.

Lockers

Each student is assigned a locker during the first week of school. This provides a place for the student to store his/her backpack, books, coat, lunch, etc. Students are asked to please keep the lockers neat, orderly, and **LOCKED.** A combination lock is built into the lockers. The school will not assume responsibility for lost or stolen items under any circumstances. Students should lock their lockers at all times. Sharing of lockers among friends or others is not allowed, and lockers must be free of any inappropriate material or decoration. Students are reminded that the lockers belong to the school; therefore, school officials may search lockers when they believe it is in the interest of the health and safety of the student body.

Lost or Stolen Items

Students should report information to a staff member as soon as possible. Items that are found in and around the school building should be taken to the main office. Students are advised to leave valuables at home. Lost and found boxes are located outside of the gym and cafeteria. Unclaimed items are donated to a local charity several times a year.

Cafeteria Guidelines

- All students must go to the cafeteria during their assigned lunch periods and remain there until dismissed to their teachers.
- Entering and leaving the cafeteria will be done in an orderly fashion.
- Students are permitted to sit in the location of their choice unless the lunch supervisors, for whatever reason, determine that a particular location is inappropriate.
- Students are expected to clean up their table area, clearing it of all papers, containers, or other debris.
- No food or beverage may be taken from the cafeteria unless by teacher permission.

- No food or beverage is allowed into the gym or auditorium.
- Weather permitting, students will be allowed to socialize on the patio outside.

<u>Telephone</u>

On a limited basis, students are allowed to use the phone in the front office or lobby to call home. Cell phone use, including text messaging, is **not permitted** during the school day.

Water Bottles

Students are encouraged to bring refillable water bottles to school. They are permitted to use them during class time and encouraged to use bottle refill stations.

<u>Hall Passes</u>

Students who need to go anywhere in the building other than at regular passing times must have a signed hall pass.

• Bathroom passes will be placed on a hook outside the bathroom to indicate current occupants - no more than 3 will be permitted at a time.

Make-up Work

When absent from a class for ANY reason, it is the STUDENT'S RESPONSIBILITY to arrange for make-up work. The time-frame for making up missed work is equal to the length of the absence. For example: if a student is absent for one day, the student has one day to make up the work. If the student is absent for two days, the student has two days to make up the work, etc. Please note that this may not apply to projects/presentations for which students had an extended amount of time to complete. If a student is expected to be out for an extended period of time, a request for make-up work can be made through the middle school office Administrative Assistant, EXT 1200. Please allow a minimum timeframe of up to 48 hours to gather work for an extended period. The requested work must be completed and submitted to the appropriate classroom teacher upon the student's return to school.

Class Changes

As a general rule, students are not permitted to change classes without good cause. Class changes are disruptive to the student's academic progress as well as their peers. However, requests to change based on safety concerns or academic need will be considered if requested by a student, parent or teacher. If it is determined that the change will substantially benefit the student and would not impede the progress of others it will be made at an appropriate time. Changes may require consultation with administration, the student, the teacher(s), a school counselor, and parent/guardian.

Grading System

The following grading system is used at ASRMS:

A+	97-100	C+	77-79	Е	Excellent
А	93-96	С	73-76	S	Satisfactory
A-	90-92	C-	70-72	U	Unsatisfactory
B+	87-89	D+	67-69	I	Incomplete
В	83-86	D	63-66		
B-	80-82	D-	60-62		

<u>Honor Roll</u>

The Principal's List comprises students who have all A+, A, and A- grades on their report cards. The Honor Roll comprises students earning all A's and B's on their report cards.

Parent Conferences

Conferences are routinely scheduled in November and February. They may also be requested at any time throughout the year by parents or teachers.

Incomplete Grade Policy

Extenuating circumstances may prevent a student from completing all work by the close of a quarter. In this situation, a grade of incomplete ("I") may be issued with pre-approval by a school counselor in consultation with an administrator. A grade of incomplete extends the quarter by TEN school days from the date of closure. In extreme cases, an incomplete may be extended with written documentation provided to a school counselor within the ten day extension period. Students with an incomplete are ineligible for Honor Roll status for that quarter.

Extracurricular Activities

<u>Eligibility</u>

In order to maintain eligibility for participation in any student activity governed or sponsored by ASRMS, students must have a passing grade in at least four core classes. Students will not be permitted to try out/join if they do not meet that requirement at the start of the season/club. If progress reports or report cards are issued while a student is participating in a student activity, eligibility will be immediately revoked if the student does not meet this requirement. However, the student may be reinstated if they meet this requirement while the season/activity is active. Incomplete grades may not be counted toward eligibility.

In addition, individual teams, clubs, and organizations may have additional requirements. ASRMS and ASRSD reserve the right to revise these standards and enforce academic eligibility regulations that exceed the MIAA standards. ASRHS adheres to Chapter 622 and Title IX regulations. ASRMS works within the guidelines as they pertain to extracurricular activities/athletics as established by the ASRSD, the Massachusetts' Interscholastic Athletic Association (MIAA) and the Midland Wachusett League.

Daily Participation

Students must be present for one-half of the school day in order to be eligible to participate in any athletic or extracurricular activities on that day, or over the weekend if he/she is absent on Friday, or the last day of the week.

Any student who has an excused absence may participate in extracurricular activities. Students dismissed by the nurse for medical reasons cannot participate in extracurricular activities. Those

students dismissed for medical appointments must return to school with a note prior to participating in an extracurricular activity.

We believe that athletics and extracurricular activities truly are "the other half of education." Students and parents/guardians should review the <u>athletic policy handbook</u> if there are specific questions or concerns relating to athletics.

Academic Probation

Upon issue of a progress report or report card, a student who is failing one or more core classes will be placed on academic probation. Weekly progress reports will be required for continued participation. Students will maintain probationary status until approved by teacher/coach/administration. Students receiving services under Chapter 766 whose IEP is a 502.4 or more restrictive prototype may be removed from probation by an administrator provided that all other eligibility requirements are met.

Appeals Process

Students may appeal eligibility and probation status through administration. Administration will consider students on a case by case basis. Waivers will only be issued if in the long term best interest of the student.

National Junior Honor Society

The ASRMS chapter of the National Junior Honor Society (NJHS) recognizes members of the 7th and 8th grade classes who show exemplary attributes of the four pillars of NHS; Scholarship, Leadership, Character and Service.

The faculty committee has determined that all prospective NJHS members must meet the following qualifications for at least one semester in order to be considered for membership.

- 3.0 GPA (B average) for 6th and 7th grade
- No suspensions and no more than one after school detention
- Recommendation of two staff members and two community members

Students who meet these qualifications will receive an NJHS information packet that gives them the opportunity to submit information to the Faculty Council. The NHS advisor will convene the Faculty Council and the Council will vote to extend membership to qualifying students. Specific information regarding the four pillars of NJHS and the expectations for inductees can be obtained from the NJHS advisor. Students who have been inducted into a chapter of the NJHS in another school may transfer their membership to the ASRMS chapter by making the request to the NJHS advisor. All NJHS members are required to complete community service.

Dances

Dances are limited to registered students of ASRMS. Once admitted to a dance, students are not permitted to leave and then return. Please note that all policies outlined in the ASRMS Handbook apply to both on and off campus dances. All belongings are subject to search at dances.

Student Expectations and Discipline

We believe that all children are capable of achieving their best and can improve their behavior when necessary through instruction, support, and coaching from staff. Students may need different amounts of time, attention, and support to behave responsibly. Students are more successful when they understand the behavioral expectations, know that staff members care and will support them, staff consistently use shared language and practices, and all staff provide recognition and feedback for behaving appropriately and making their best effort.

Student Responsibilities and Expected Behaviors

Personal Conduct & Character

Attend school regularly and on time.

Remain in the school building during the school day unless supervised by a staff member.

Accept direction, feedback, and support respectfully from adults.

Make responsible behavioral and academic choices.

Be truthful and accountable for your words and actions.

Make an effort to correct and improve behavior through restorative interventions.

Dress appropriately.

Cooperating with Others

Treat others the way they want to be treated.

Express your thoughts and opinions in ways that are polite, respectful, and courteous.

Listen when others are speaking.

Respect others' personal space and keep your hands to yourself.

Request permission to use the property that belongs to others and take care of it.

Work collaboratively with others in small and large groups.

Learning							
Come prepared to class.							
Remain in class for the full class period.							
Complete high quality work.							
Do your best.							
Submit your OWN academic work.							
Follow the acceptable use policy for technology.							

ASRMS uses a progressive discipline approach which is outlined in the <u>district code of conduct</u>. Specific information about these practices at the Middle School is included below.

- **Teacher Discussion/Warning:** A consequence given by any classroom teacher to a student for violation of classroom rules, or the ASRMS Student Code of Conduct. This is the first step in the discipline policy.
- **Restorative Practices:** Student working with staff and/or students to remedy damage to the school community through discussion and/or service. When feasible, restorative practices will be used as an alternative to traditional disciplinary measures.
- **Parent Contact:** Parent/guardian is notified via phone or email regarding student behavior, supports provided, and potential disciplinary action.
- After School Detention: A consequence given by an administrator for violation of the ASRMS Student Code of Conduct or by staff referral. After school detention is held on Wednesday and Friday only, and is for one hour after school. During after school detention students are expected to be engaged in academic work. If a student reports for after school detention and is unprepared, administration reserves the right to dismiss the student and reassign the detention. After school detention cannot be rescheduled except in extenuating circumstances and with the prior approval of an administrator. If a student skips an after school detention, one additional day of after school detention will be assigned. If a student does not report for the reassigned after school detention, an in-school suspension may be issued.
- Internal Suspension: Students who are assigned to internal suspension should report to the main office at the beginning of the day. Students will be provided with academic work. In addition, students should come prepared with any academic material.

• **External Suspension:** Students who are externally suspended will have academic work provided and must submit the completed work on the day of their return from suspension. Failure to do this will result in a grade of zero for those missing assignments, regardless of whether or not the provided work was picked up.

Please note that students who are internally or externally suspended are not allowed to practice for, participate in, or attend ANY extracurricular activity, including athletics, during the day(s) of the suspension. Externally suspended students are not allowed to be on or about school property. If the suspension occurs on the last day of the week, the student may not practice for, participate in, or attend ANY extracurricular activity, including athletics, over the weekend.

Levels of Accountable Consequences & Restorative Interventions

When students engage in unskillful, inappropriate, or unacceptable behavior, **accountable consequences** intensify as violations become more serious. Multiple violations for the same behavior may warrant more intensive consequences at a higher level. All consequences aim to treat students fairly and with respect, dignity, and decency. Consequences are delivered within five levels. Assigned consequences for disciplinary problems are aligned to **restorative interventions**.

Level	Behavior Violation	Action
Level 1	Minor classroom and minor public space behavioral incidents	 No send out- Student remains in classroom. Teacher Discussion/Warning- A consequence given by any classroom teacher to a student for violation of classroom rules or the ASRMS Student Code of Conduct. Teacher documents the incident in the school's student database in order to observe trends that need to be addressed if behaviors become chronic.
Level 2	Persistent, low-impact classroom behavior violations, more serious public space violations, and non-violent personal misconduct	 No send out- Student remains in class. Referral submission Parent contact Detention and/or intervention including restorative practices when applicable. *Accumulation of referrals may prompt a Level 3 response.
Level 3	More serious behavior violations as determined by their severity and frequency	 Teacher contacts AP to remove student from class Referral submission Parent conference Send-out and possible detention(s) or ISS Intervention determined.

Level 4	Repetitive or high- impact behavior violations that involve verbal and physical violence or self-harm and violations that have a destructive or disruptive impact on the school community	 Teacher contacts AP to remove student from class Referral submission Parent conference + possible ISS for remainder of the day or possibly emergency removal 1-4 Days OSS Intervention determined.
Level 5	Behaviors that present the most serious level of threat and harm to individuals and the school community	 Teacher contacts AP to remove student from class Referral submission Parent conference 5 or more days Day OSS/Expulsion Intervention determined.

Behavior Violation and Consequences Matrix

Behavior Violation	Incident Category	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Notes
CLASSROOM	VIOLATION	S					
Procedural violation	Create a log entry	X					Does not bring necessary materials to class. Does not manage classroom materials. Does not complete assigned work.
Non-cooperati on and non-participati on	Create a log entry	X					Non-participation in learning activities. Initiating or joining conversations with another student. Playing around or goofing with others. Difficulty working cooperatively with others.
Low level impulse control, self-managem ent, and dysregulation.	Create a log entry	x					Distracting or disruptive movement or noise. Interrupting or blurting out inappropriate comments. Persistent complaining. Inability to work silently without bothering others. Inability to manage confusion, frustration, or anger effectively. Persistent attention seeking behaviors.
High level	Create a						Out of control emotions and

PreSchool-12 Handbook 2023-2024

impulse	log entry	X	x				behaviors. Deliberate use of negative
control, self-managem ent, and dysregulation	Level 2 (if persistent) Disruption						speech that sabotages the group.
ACADEMIC D	ISHONESTY			•		·	
Plagiarism/ copying/cheati ng	Create a log entry	X	X				Representing others' words or ideas as one's own. First offense: student receives a zero with the opportunity
	Level 2 (if persistent) Cheating						to submit the assignment, teacher notifies parent. Second offense and beyond: after school detention, student will receive a grade of zero without the opportunity to resubmit the work.
Altering or falsifying	Create a log entry	x	X				
records or signatures	Level 2 (if persistent) Plagiarism						
Assisting another	Create a log entry	x	X				
student in any of the above acts	Level 2 (if persistent) Cheating						
Any of the above acts, persistent or involving a group of students	Cheating		x	x			The incident has a far reaching impact on the community.
Behavior Violation	Incident Category	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Notes
AGGRESSION							
Verbal Aggree	ssion Directe	ed Towa	rd Adu	lts			
Hostile, oppositional, confrontational	Insubordina tion		X	X			

F	1				1	,	1
refusal to comply with staff directives							
Persistent refusal to stop for staff, creating a potentially dangerous/uns afe situation.	Insubordina tion			X	X		
Cursing, use of insulting, defaming, vulgar, or abusive language directed at an adult	Inappropria te Language		X	X			
Verbal or written threats	Abusive Language			X	X	X	The intensity of the threat needs to be considered when assigning the level. Written threats on paper, on school property, or in notes, texts, email, postings on internet sites, or through other electronic mechanisms.
Physical Con	tact / Aggres	sion Di	rected	Toward	Adults	•	·
Accidental physical contact	Create a log entry	X					Accidental contact with no verbal or physical threats or gesturing.
Low level physical aggression	Physical Aggression		X	x			Anger or frustration that presents itself through hitting or grabbing
High level physical aggression	Physical Aggression				X	X	Targeted and intentional spitting, hitting, biting, throwing items at people, hair pulling, choking, kicking, shoving, punching, scratching.
Physical intimidation/ posturing	Physical Aggression			X	X	X	Posturing with gesture(s) or body language. The intensity of the threat needs to be considered when assigning the level.
Physical	Physical					X	Using force or violence to injure a

Assault	Aggression						person, causing serious bodily harm. May include the use of weapons.
Verbal Aggree	ssion Directe	ed Towa	ard Stud	dents			
Cursing, use of insulting, defaming, vulgar or abusive language directed at students	Inappropria te Language		X	X			
Verbal or written threats	Abusive language		X	x	X		The intensity of the threat needs to be considered when assigning the level. Written threats on paper, on school property or in notes, texts, email, postings on Internet sites or through other electronic mechanisms.
Physical Con	tact / Aggres	sion Di	rected	Toward	Student	ts	
Accidental physical contact	No documentat ion	X					Accidental contact with no verbal or physical threats or gesturing.
Low level physical aggression	Physical aggression		x	x			Anger or frustration that presents itself through hitting or grabbing
High level physical aggression	Physical aggression			X	x	X	One person engages in grabbing, biting, spitting on, hitting, kicking, punching or physically intimidating another person
Physical intimidation/ posturing	Physical aggression			X	X		Threatening with a gesture(s) or body language an individual or group.
Fighting involving two students with no significant medical intervention required.	Fighting			x	X		Students involved in pushing, shoving, hitting, scratching, kicking, or punching. Application of reasonable force in self-defense is a consideration
Fighting involving two	Fighting				x	x	Students involved in pushing, shoving, hitting, scratching, kicking,

or more students with need for significant medical attention Fighting involving three or more students (disrupts the	Fighting				X	X	or punching. Application of reasonable force in self-defense is a consideration Causes administration to initiate emergency procedures, which requires submission to the Superintendent's office
(disrupts the safety and order of the school climate, and disrupts the educational process for staff and students)							Application of reasonable force in self-defense is a consideration
Physical assault	Physical Aggression				X	X	Using force or violence to injure a person, causing serious bodily harm. May include the use of weapons. (police notified)
Behavior Violation	Incident Category	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Notes
ARSON							
Intentionally starting a fire.	Arson			X	Х	X	Report to fire marshall
ATTENDANCE (Multiple viola suspension.)		varrant l	_evel 3	conseq	uences	but do i	not include out-of-school
Late arrival to school/tardy	No documentat ion	X	X				The frequency of incidents needs to be considered when assigning levels. Considerations for new students
	Level 2: (if persistent) Tardy						should be made as they are learning school building routines.

Cutting class	Skip class		X				
Leaving school without permission	Leaving School Grounds		X	x			
BULLYING, H	ARASSMEN	T, AND E	BIAS-RI	ELATE		NTS	
Hurtful teasing and name-calling (non-bias related)	Abusive language		X	X			Hurtful is defined as words that trigger a targeted student's emotional distress
Bullying - verbal or physical aggression behaviors targeted to an individual	Bullying			X	X		Involves repetitive incidents and an imbalance of power without evidence of bias
Bullying – incidents that cause serious physical harm to the person targeted or seriously damage a person's name and reputation	Bullying				X	X	Serious harm involves sustained emotional distress and a sustained negative impact on the student and/or their experience at school
Cyberbullying	Bullying			X	X	X	Any words, actions, or conduct that meet the definitions of bullying and are conveyed via email, text message, online chats, interactions on social media, or other electronic media This may include incidents that originate on a home device that cause serious disruption within the school community
Non-sexual harassment - This includes targeting an	Harassmen t				X	X	Conduct or verbal threats, intimidation, or abuse, including posting or publishing video, audio recordings or pictures, that create a

individual or a group based on a person's actual or perceived color, disability, ethnic group, gender, national origin, race, religion, weight, sexual identity and gender identity						hostile environment
Cyberharassm ent	Harassmen t			X	X	Any words, actions, or conduct that meet the definitions of harassment and are conveyed via email, text message, online chats, interactions on social media, or other electronic media. This may include incidents that originate on a home device that cause serious disruption within the school community
Sexual orientation harassment	Harassmen t			X	X	Creation of a hostile environment by expressing a negative opinion toward an individual or group of persons based on their sexual attraction toward or responsiveness to members of the opposite or same sex. The frequency of the violation needs to be considered when assigning the level.
Explicit act of racial bias	Other		X	x	X	The demonstration by an individual of overt racial discrimination toward some individuals or groups and/or demonstrates overt favoritism/ privileging of other individuals or groups
Hate speech or acts	Other		X	X	X	Any spoken, written, electronic communication, signage, physical gestures, words/ symbols on apparel or other items that carry, incite, or express hatred against a group of

Hate crime	Other				X	X	persons, particularly an oppressed or marginalized group, defined in terms of race, ethnicity, national origin, gender, religion, sexual orientation, disability, language, or other protected groups. Incident that becomes a crime when hate speech or acts involve a threat or act of violence directed at a person because of their real or perceived
							race, ethnicity, national origin, gender, religion, sexual orientation.
Behavior Violation	Incident Category	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Notes
Bus Miscondu	uct						
Not following bus safety expectations. This includes standing up while the bus is moving, changing seats, and throwing objects out of window	Insubordina tion		X	X	X		Suspension of bus privileges would be considered for a reasonable amount of time
Behavior Violation	Incident Category	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Notes
Cell Phones	•		•			•	
Unauthorized use of cell phone in	Create a log entry	X					1st offense: Cell phone is confiscated for the remainder of the day.
classroom	Level 2: (if persistent) Unauthorize d Cell Phone Use		X				2nd offense: Cell phone is confiscated for the remainder of the day. The parent is contacted. 3rd offense or more: Cell phone is confiscated for a longer duration including a daily drop-off in the main office.

Unauthorized use of recording devices (audio or video)			X	X	X	X	The frequency and severity of the incident needs to be considered when assigning levels.
Damage to Pr	operty						
Intentionally damaging or destroying property of a student, adult, or the school district	Vandalism		X	X			The frequency and severity of the incident needs to be considered when assigning levels. Should require some form of restitution.
Dress Code a	nd Persona	I Prope	rty				
Dress code violation	No documentat ion	X	x				The frequency of the incident needs to be considered when assigning levels.
	Level 2: (if persistent) Dress Code Violation						
Refusal to comply with	Create a log entry	x	x				
directives to put away personal property (toys/ phone, etc)	Level 2: (if persistent) Insubordina tion						
Persistent refusal to comply with directives to put away personal property (toys/phone, etc), creating consistent disruption to the learning	Insubordina tion		X	X			

environment.							
Behavior Violation	Incident Category	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Notes
Drugs and Ale	cohol			-		-	
Under the influence	Use/Posse ssion of Alcohol		X	X	X		Includes vaping of tobacco or unauthorized substances. The frequency of the violation needs
	Use/Posse ssion of Controlled Substances						to be considered when assigning the level.
Possession or use	Use/Posse ssion of Alcohol		X X X	X	X		
	Use/Posse ssion of Drugs						
	Use/Posse ssion of Tobacco						
Distribution or sale of	Use/Posse ssion of Alcohol		X	X	X	X	
	Use/Posse ssion of Drugs						
	Use/Posse ssion of Tobacco						
False Activati	ion and Thre	ats					
Pulling fire alarm	Bomb Threat/ False Alarm			X	X		
Making a false bomb report or	Bomb Threat/				X	X	

perpetuating a bomb hoax that jeopardizes safety Communicatin g a terroristic	False Alarm Bomb Threat/			X	X	
threat, threat of mass violence or perpetuating a terroristic hoax	False Alarm					
Misuse of 911	Bomb Threat/ False Alarm		X	X		
Verbal or written threat involving weapons against school community	Bomb Threat/ False Alarm			x	X	
Tampering with or discharging a fire extinguisher	Property Destruction / Vandalism		X	x		
Tampering with or opening AED boxes	Property Destruction / Vandalism		X	X		
Gambling				_		
Engaging in any form of games of chance or betting for money or objects of value	Other	X	X			

Behavior Violation	Incident Category	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Notes
Possession o	f Inappropri	ate or O	bscene	Materia	als		
Including print, illustrations, or electronic images and video	Other			x	X	X	This includes all video of sexual acts and child pornography
Including objects that may create any unsafe school environment	Other			x	x		
Public Space	Misbehavio	r					•
Running, excessive	Create a log entry	X	X				Frequency of incidents needs to be considered when assigning level
noise; play fighting, loitering	Level 2: (if persistent) Disruption						
Recording, photographing , or filming or otherwise documenting other individuals without their consent.	Technology Violation		X	X			
Opening a door to the outside to prop it open, or to allow any individual to enter the building	Other			X	X		
Inciting or participating in	Disruption			X	X		

	T					r	
a disturbance that disrupts normal operation of the school							
Sexual Misco	nduct						
Mutual sexual contact between students	Inappropria te Display of Affection		X	X			Physical contact including, but not limited to, intimate touching, fondling, and kissing at school or a school-sponsored activity between two or more students.
Sexual harassment	Harassmen t				X	X	Unwelcome conduct determined by a reasonable person to be so severe, pervasive, and objectively offensive that it effectively denies a person equal access to the school system's education program or activities.
Sexual offense	Other				X	X	Sexual intercourse, sexual contact, or other behavior intended to result in sexual gratification without force or threat of force.
Behavior Violation	Incident Category	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Notes
Theft						•	
Taking another					v		
person's property without their consent.	Theft		X	X	X		
property without their			X	X	•		
property without their consent. Weapons Viol Possession of a weapon (excluding			X	x	× ×	X	Includes knives, other sharp objects such as razor blades, other objects such as brass knuckles, substances such as mace. a BB gun or pellet
property without their consent. Weapons Viol Possession of a weapon	lations Use/Posse ssion of		X			X	such as razor blades, other objects

other gun	Weapon				
Possession, sale, distribution, detonation, or threat of detonation of incendiary or explosive device	Use/Posse ssion of Weapon Use/Posse ssion of Combustibl es		X	X	Examples: bomb, grenade, improvised explosive device

Appendix C: High School Handbook Addendum

Ayer Shirley Regional High School Student/Parent/Guardian Handbook Addendum



2023-2024

Ayer Shirley Regional High School 141 Washington Street Ayer, Massachusetts 01432 Phone: 978-772-8600 Fax: 978-772-8615 Online at www.asrsd.org

PreSchool-12 Handbook 2023-2024

Ayer Shirley Regional High School Mission Statement

It is the mission of Ayer Shirley Regional High School, ASRHS, in partnership with parents and community members, to develop self-motivated, lifelong learners, who are active and productive contributors to their communities, and who respect one another and honor diversity. In a safe environment, the school will promote an atmosphere of academic excellence, provide opportunities for students to be challenged, and meet the learning needs of all.

ASRHS CORE Values	
Acceptive	
Supportive	
Respectful	
Honest	
Selfless	

Bell Schedules

Regular Schedule

	A Day	B Day	C Day	D Day	E Day	F Day	G Day	Directed Study/Advisory Day	Non-Advisory Day
P1	А	в	с	D	E	F	G	7:50-8:40 (50)	7:50-8:43 (53)
P2	В	С	D	E	F	G	A	8:43-9:59 (76) 10:02-10:52 (50)	8:46-10:09 (83)
P3	с	D	E	F	G	А	в	DIRECTED STUDY /ADVISORY 10:55-11:16 (21)	10:12-11:05 (53)
P4	D	E	F	G	А	В	с	11:19-12:34 (50 + 25 lunch)	11:08-12:28 (53 + 25 lunch)
P5	E	F	G	A	в	с	D	12:37-1:27 (50)	12:31-1:24 (53)
P6	F	G	А	В	С	D	E	1:30-2:20 (50)	1:27-2:20 (53)
	Drop G	Drop A	Drop B	Drop C	Drop D	Drop E	Drop F	Lunch #1: 11:19 - 11:44	Lunch #1: 11:08 - 11:32
								Lunch #2: 11:44 - 12:09	Lunch #2: 11:36 - 12:00
								Lunch #3: 12:09 - 12:34	Lunch #3: 12:04 - 12:28

Half-day Schedule (no lunch)

	A Day	B Day	C Day	D Day	E Day	F Day	G Day	Half Day w/out Lunch
P1	А	В	с	D	E	F	G	7:50 - 8:22 (32)
P2	В	с	D	E	F	G	А	8:25 - 8:58 (33)
P3	с	D	E	F	G	A	В	9:01 - 9:33 (32)
P4	D	E	F	G	A	В	с	9:36 - <mark>1</mark> 0:09 (33)
P5	E	F	G	A	в	с	D	10:12 - 10:44 (32)
P6	F	G	A	В	С	D	E	10:47 - 11:20 (33)
	Drop G	Drop A	Drop B	Drop C	Drop D	Drop E	Drop F	NOLUNCH

Half-day Schedule (with lunch)

	A Day	B Day	C Day	D Day	E Day	F Day	G Day	Half Day with Lunch
P1	A	в	с	D	E	F	G	7:50 - 8:14 (24)
P2	в	с	D	E	F	G	А	8:17 - 8:41 (24)
P3	с	D	E	F	G	А	В	8:44 - 9:08 (24)
P4	D	E	F	G	A	в	с	9:11 - 9:35 (24)
P5	E	F	G	А	в	с	D	9:38 - 10:02 (24)
P6	F	G	A	в	С	D	E	10:05 - 11:20 (50 + 25 lunch)
	Drop G	Drop A	Drop B	Drop C	Drop D	Drop E	Drop F	Lunch #1: 10:05 - 10:30
								Lunch #2: 10:30 - 10:55 Lunch #3: 10:55 - 11:20

90 Minute Early Release Schedule

	A Day	B Day	C Day	D Day	E Day	F Day	G Day	90 Minute Release
P1	А	В	с	D	E	F	G	7:50 - 8:32 (42)
P2	в	С	D	E	F	G	А	8:35 - 9:17 (42)
P3	с	D	E	F	G	A	в	9:20 - 10:02 (42)
P4	D	E	F	G	A	В	с	10:05 - 10:47 (42)
P5	E	F	G	A	В	с	D	10:50 - 12:05 (50 + 25 lunch)
P6	F	G	А	В	с	D	E	12:08 - 12:50 (42)
	Drop G	Drop A	Drop B	Drop C	Drop D	Drop E	Drop F	Lunch #1: 10:50 - 11:15
								Lunch #2: 11:15 - 11:40 Lunch #3: 11:40 - 12:05

One Hour Delay Schedule

	A Day	B Day	C Day	D Day	E Day	F Day	G Day	1 Hour Delay
P1	А	в	с	D	E	F	G	8:50 - 9:38 (48)
P2	В	С	D	E	F	G	А	9:41 - 1 0:29 (48)
P3	с	D	E	F	G	А	в	10:32 - 1 1:20 (48)
P4		E	F	G	A	В	С	11:23 - 12:38 (50 + 25 lunch)
P5	E	F	G	A	в	С	D	12:41 - <mark>1</mark> :29 (48)
P6	F	G	A	В	с	D	E	1:32 - 2:20 (48)
	Drop G	Drop A	Drop B	Drop C	Drop D	Drop E	Drop F	Lunch #1: 11:23 - 11:48
								Lunch #2: 11:48 - 12:13
								Lunch #3: 12:13 - 12:38

Two Hour Delay Schedule

	A Day	B Day	C Day	D Day	E Day	F Day	G Day	2 Hour Delay
P1	A	В	с	D	E	F	G	9:50 - 10:26 (36)
P2	в	с	D	E	F	G	A	10:29 - 11:05 (36)
P3	с	D	E	F	G	A	В	11:08 - 12:23 (50 + 25 lunch)
P4	D	E	F	G	A	В	с	12:26 - 1:02 (36)
P5	E	F	G	А	В	С	D	1:05 - 1:41 (36)
P6	F	G	A	В	С	D	E	1:44 - 2:20 (36)
	Drop G	Drop A	Drop B	Drop C	Drop D	Drop E	Drop F	Lunch #1: 11:08 - 11:33 Lunch #2: 11:33 - 11:58
								Lunch #3: 11:58 - 12:23

Statement of Accreditation

The Committee on Public Secondary Schools recently reviewed the report from the Collaborative Conference visit to Ayer Shirley Regional High School and voted to award the school continued Accreditation in the New England Association of Schools and Colleges.

ASRHS is accredited by the New England Association of Schools and Colleges, Inc., NEASC, a non-governmental, nationally recognized organization whose affiliated institutions include elementary schools through collegiate institutions offering postgraduate education.

Accreditation by the NEASC is not partial, but applies to the institution as a whole. As such, it is not a guarantee of the quality of every course or program offered, or the competence of individual graduates. Rather, it provides reasonable assurance about the quality of opportunities available to students who attend the institution. Inquiries regarding the status of an institution's accreditation by the NEASC should be directed to the administrative staff of the school or college. Individuals may also contact the Association via mail at:

New England Association of Schools and Colleges, 209 Burlington Road, Bedford, MA 01750-1433 or via phone at 617-271-0022.

Graduation Requirements, Promotion, and Credits

Promotion and Graduation Criteria

After adopting the Mass Core program of study as recommended by the Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, to better prepare all students for college and career, ASRHS will require completion of the indicated credits in each of the listed disciplines below.

Promotion from grade to grade is determined by credits earned through successful completion of scheduled courses. Credits are allotted on the basis of the amount of time that a class meets. Students will be required to take a full academic load eliminating free periods. The number of credits listed below must be earned prior to the beginning of the school year in order for a student to be promoted to the next grade level. For academic purposes, the number of credits earned will determine the class to which the student belongs.

Grade level requirements for promotion are as follows:

Cubicate required for	avaduation are as f	
Graduation:	105 Credits	
Grade 11 to 12:	75 Credits	
Grade 10 to 11:	50 Credits	
Grade 9 to 10:	25 Credits	

Subjects required for graduation are as follows:

Subject/Course	Study Length	Number of Credits
English (or equiv. Humanities)	4 Years	20
Mathematics	4 Years	20
Science/Technology/Engineering	3 Years (lab-based)	15
History/Social Science	3 Years (lab-based)	15
World Language	2 Years (of same language)	10
Fine/Performing Arts	1 Year	5
Financial Literacy	1 Semester	2.5
Physical Education/Wellness	1 course each year	10
Community Service Hours	50 hours over 4 years	None

In addition to local graduation requirements, Competency Determination (CD) is a requisite for high school graduation under Massachusetts' state law, which requires students to demonstrate mastery of a

common core of skills, competencies, and knowledge in the areas of Mathematics, English Language Arts, and Science & Technology/Engineering as measured by the MCAS. Competency Determination is achieved by students earning a score of "proficient" on each of the above mentioned MCAS. Students who pass MCAS but do not reach proficiency will be placed on an Educational Proficiency Plan. This plan allows students to reach proficiency and complete all the ASRHS graduation requirements simultaneously.

Students transferring to ASRHS who have successfully met the standards of their previous school will have credits transferred in order to meet the requirements of Ayer Shirley Regional High School. It will be necessary for these students to meet ASRHS requirements from their date of entry. Transfer students will be ranked after two semesters of attending ASRHS. Students participating in dual enrollment are not included in class rank and GPA. Rank and GPA for dual enrollment students are based on the courses completed at Ayer Shirley Regional High School.

Community Service

Encourages students to become valuable resources to their communities through active participation in service programs. All students will fulfill fifty (50) hours of community service as a Commencement requirement. This requirement will be prorated for students entering after their sophomore year: junior year — 35 hours, senior year — 25 hours. All documentation must be turned in by <u>March 1st</u> of the student's graduating year.

For more detailed information regarding community services requirements please visit ASRHS School Counseling web page at

http://www.edline.net/pages/Ayer_Middle-High_School/ASRHS_School_Counseling

Grade Weighting System

ASRHS distributes report cards quarterly. The grading scale is included below. ASRHS no longer ranks students. ASRHS uses a weighted grade point average (GPA) using a 4.0 scale. Courses are weighted according to difficulty. The marking system uses numerical grades which are converted to a grade point value using the chart below. ASRHS is a member of Virtual High School and Edgenuity. VHS standard courses are weighted in the GPA as college preparatory. VHS Honor and AP courses are weighted in the GPA calculation as Honors and AP.

Letter Grade	Numeric Grade	GPA Value (unleveled)	GPA Value (Honors Classes)	GPA Value (Adv. Placement Courses)
A+	97-100	4.0	4.5	5.0
A	93-96	3.7	4.2	4.7

A-	90-92	3.5	4.0	4.5
B+	87-89	3.33	3.83	4.33
В	83-86	3.0	3.5	4.0
B-	80-82	2.67	3.17	3.67
C+	77-79	2.33	2.83	3.33
С	73-76	2.0	2.5	3.0
C-	70-72	1.67	2.17	2.67
D+	67-69	1.33	1.83	2.33
D	63-66	1.0	1.5	2.0
D-	60-63	0.67	1.17	1.67
F	59 and below	0	0	0

Course Changes

As a general rule, students are not permitted to change courses without good cause. However, if it is determined that a student has been misplaced, a change may be made within the **first ten school days of the semester.** Changes recommended by the current teacher, TEAM meetings or in extenuating circumstances may be made at appropriate times. Changes may require consultation with administration, the student, the teachers, a school counselor, and parent/guardian.

Incomplete Grade Policy

Extenuating circumstances may prevent a student from completing all work by the close of a quarter. In this situation, a grade of incomplete, "I", may be issued with <u>pre-approval by a school counselor in</u> <u>consultation with an administrator.</u> A grade of incomplete extends the quarter by TEN school days from the date of closure. In extreme cases, an incomplete may be extended with written documentation provided to a school counselor within the ten day extension period. Students with an incomplete are ineligible for Honor Roll status for that quarter.

Course Credit

To earn credit in a course, a student must achieve a passing grade and meet the minimum attendance requirement. Students who exceed 9 unexcused absences in a semester will lose course credit. Those students who have lost course credit due to excessive absences must meet with their school counselor and an administrator to develop a credit recovery plan.

Appeals

Students have the right to appeal any loss of credit due to attendance to the Assistant Principal for the marking period immediately preceding the affected grade report only. This appeal must be submitted within ten (10) school days from the time report cards are distributed.

Credit Recovery

ASRHS does offer a summer credit recovery program using an online program called Edgenuity. Students may not earn credit for classes due to academic failure or due to attendance failure. Although students may repeat failed courses at ASRHS in order to fulfill graduation requirements, students are strongly encouraged to repeat failed courses through a credit recovery program. If a student elects to take a recovery course outside of ASRHS, the student must receive prior approval from their school counselor.

Academic Failure of semester course or full year course with a grade of F (59 or lower): The student may make up the course by developing a credit recovery plan with their school counselor and assistant principal.

Attendance Failure (more than 9 absences in a semester course; or more than 18 absences in a full year course) of a course with a grade of *D*- or above: The student can earn the credit for course by making up the time by developing a credit recovery plan with their school counselor and assistant principal.

Student-athletes must earn course credit for all classes taken during a marking period. Failure to meet course requirements will result in students becoming ineligible to participate in the athletic program.

Please note that the original course failure will remain on a student's transcript and will be reflected in the student's grade point average (GPA) calculation for those courses where the credit and grade are normally counted.

External Academic Programs

This includes <u>ALL</u> coursework not included in the ASRHS program of studies. All summer school courses and those requested to accelerate standing within a content area must be pre-approved by the school counselor, (content area curriculum leader) and administrator. Accelerating standing within a curricular area may not be used to accelerate graduation date. The appropriate form must be completed.

Tardiness, MakeUp Work, and Age of Majority

Tardy to Class

PreSchool-12 Handbook 2023-2024

Tardies not excused per the attendance policy are considered to be unexcused. Students with excessive unexcused tardies may face disciplinary action from ASRHS administration.

If a student has more than 6 tardies in a semester they will receive Saturday Detention. (Please refer to the Student Code of Conduct and Discipline Policy for further information)

Student-athletes must be in class **no later than 9:15am** to be eligible to participate during practice and/or meets, matches, and games that specific day. In conjunction to this, **every three (3) tardies to school during a particular class will be counted as an absence for that class.**

Make-up Work

When absent from a class for ANY reason, it is the **<u>STUDENT'S RESPONSIBILITY</u>** to arrange for make-up work. The time-frame for making up missed work is equal to the length of the absence. For example, if a student is absent for one day, the student has one day to make up the work. If the student is absent for two days, the student has two days to make up the work, etc. Please note that this may not apply to projects/presentations for which students had an extended amount of time to complete. *If a student is expected to be out for an extended period of time, a request for make-up work can be made through the high school office or the student's counselor. Please allow a minimum timeframe of up to 48 hours to gather work for an extended period. The requested work must be completed and submitted to the appropriate classroom teacher upon the student's return to school.*

Age of Majority

Any student who reaches the age of eighteen (18), or with special written permission from a parent/guardian, may apply for age of majority status. Students can obtain an age of majority application from the high school office. Upon completion of the application, a conference will be held with an administrator to approve age of majority status. Students with age majority may sign their own permission slips and athletic consent forms. As it pertains to overnight trips, students must have their guardians sign the form.

Students with age of majority status must obtain approval from an administrator prior to signing out. <u>An</u> <u>administrator may deny any student age of majority status for prior attendance and/or disciplinary</u> <u>infractions</u>.

Honors and Advanced Placement Due Date Policy

- When an assignment was given over three days prior to the due date, students are expected to email/share their work by the beginning of class in the event that they are out that day.
- Students who are out when an assignment is given are responsible for getting make-up work, and will be expected to meet deadlines, unless they are out for prolonged periods of time (in which

case a meeting will take place immediately upon the student's return to school to discuss a makeup timeline).

• If a student knows that he or she will be absent on a day when a paper or project is due, he/she must pass it in a day prior to the due date, or submit electronically on the day of the due date, by the beginning of the class period, in order to receive full credit.

School Fees and Work Permits

There are five types of fees which are paid directly to the high school: one to one technology fee, activity/club fee, athletic fee, class dues, and parking fee. These fees are non-refundable and non-transferrable. Please note that all fees must be paid by the October 1st deadline or student's membership in a particular club or activity may be revoked, although this date is subject to change.

Activity/Club Fee

This is a one time \$50.00 fee for all sanctioned school clubs. This one time fee allows any student to participate in multiple clubs.

Athletic Fee

This is a one time \$200.00 fee per year for all athletes whether on one team or multiple teams. There is a family cap of \$500.00. Students can be registered through FamilyID at: https://www.familyid.com/ayer-shirley-regional-high-school

Class Dues

This is an annual fee of \$15.00 that all student members of each class are required to pay every year. Class dues are used to fund social activities for students such as the prom, senior week activities and class outings.

Parking Fee

This is an annual \$100.00 fee allowing any student with a valid driver's license to park their vehicle on school grounds during the school day. First priority will be given to seniors. This is a privilege and any discipline resulting in the student's parking to be revoked is non-refundable. Please see Mrs. Crawford for an application.

One to One Technology Fee

This is a one time fee of \$25 for each Grade 9 student or new student who is issued a device and charger (e.g., chromebook/ipad and charger) as designated by the district technology department for use

during the school year in a 1:1 technology model. Students and parents will sign the 1:1 technology user contract and submit the fee prior to receiving the device from the technology department. The collected fees will be used to maintain the technology devices during the normal course of use. In cases where the district believes that a device was purposefully abused or otherwise intentionally not maintained securely, the district reserves the right to charge the student and his/her family a fee for the replacement of the device. Please see the technology policy.

<u>Waivers</u>

Students who receive free/reduced lunch or are experiencing a financial hardship should see an administrator for a fee waiver.

Charlie Cards

MBTA student Charlie Cards are for students at ASRHS which provide a discounted rate while traveling the MBTA. All cards are available at the high school main office. All student Charlie Cards expire on August 31st each year and will be made available at the start of the following school year.

Work Permits

Work permits are processed through the School Counseling office by the Administrative Assistant. Any student who is employed must have a work permit regardless of the length of time or place of employment. It is the student's own responsibility to secure this permit before beginning work.

Homework Guidelines

Statement of Purpose for Homework Guidelines

We believe that homework is beneficial for the continued academic development of students. We also believe that students lead active lives both inside and outside of Ayer Shirley Regional High School. In recognition of these beliefs, we have created a policy that both supports the growth of students in their studies and balances the various demands with which the students are faced.

<u>Nightly</u>

• We aim to have student homework limited to ten minutes per grade, therefore: ninth grade may expect up to ninety (90) minutes, tenth grade one hundred (100) minutes, eleventh grade one hundred and ten (110) minutes and twelfth grade one hundred and twenty (120) minutes per night of consistent work. This time would be the equivalent to the amount of work that students could accomplish in one sitting without any distractions such as, checking a cell phone or interacting with social media.

- In regard to Advanced Placement (AP) courses, the time limit for homework is increased for each Advanced Placement (AP) course a student is taking to accommodate the rigor of the course.
- Teachers should take care in considering homework loads for students based on their individual needs and modify individual expectations accordingly.

3 Day Weekends and Holiday Breaks (Dec., Feb., Apr.)

- Students may be given the equivalent of one night's homework per subject. Any additional work that would be offered during that time period will be optional or can be completed for extra credit (per teacher discretion).
- Projects and other lengthy assignments may be given as long as students are given ample time, relative to the length and expectations of the assignment, before and/or after breaks to complete them.
- Additionally, there will be no expectations of staff grading; this should be family reconnection time for all.

<u>MCAS</u>

• When students are testing for MCAS, the students taking the MCAS test will not be given any homework either during the test days or due on the day after the testing concludes.

Week Before Mid-Year Exams

• During the week before a mid-year exam, any new material that will not be on the exam should not be taught at this time. This is a time period where students should be preparing for mid-year exams or finishing a unit that will be included on the mid-year exam.

Week of Exams

• During the week of exams, students will be expected to study for the exams: this will be the expectation of homework; no new material should be given as homework.

Disclaimer: If your child/student is going beyond the time frame allotted for homework, the teacher(s) should be contacted so that they are aware of this and the matter can be addressed.

Extracurricular Activities

Eligibility

ASRHS works within the guidelines as they pertain to extracurricular activities/athletics as established by the ASRSD, the Massachusetts' Interscholastic Athletic Association (MIAA) and the Midland Wachusett League.

Students must be present for one-half of the school day in order to be eligible to participate in any athletic or extracurricular activities on that day, or over the weekend if he/she is absent on Friday, or the last day of the week.

Any student who has an excused absence may participate in extracurricular activities.

Students dismissed by the nurse for medical reasons cannot participate in extracurricular activities.

Those students dismissed for medical appointments must return to school with a note prior to participating in an extracurricular activity.

We believe that athletics and extracurricular activities truly are "the other half of education." Students and parents/guardians should review the athletic policy handbook if there are specific questions or concerns relating to athletics.

In order to maintain eligibility for participation in any student activity governed or sponsored by ASRHS, students must have a passing grade in at least five classes, or the equivalent, at the end of each quarter. If the end of the grade reporting period occurs while a student is participating in a student activity, eligibility will be immediately revoked. However, the student may be reinstated if the season/activity is active at the time of the next grade reporting period.

Incomplete grades may not be counted toward eligibility, and a student may not count coursework from a course that is being repeated.

In addition, individual teams, clubs, and organizations may have additional requirements. ASRHS and the ASRSD reserve the right to revise these standards and enforce academic eligibility regulations that exceed the MIAA standards. ASRHS adheres to Chapter 622 and Title IX regulations.

Academic Probation

Upon issue of a report card, a student who is failing more than one class, or the equivalent, will be placed on academic probation. Weekly progress reports will be required for continued participation. Students must pass seven classes, or the equivalent, in order to participate in the upcoming week's events/activities. Students will maintain probationary status until the new grade reporting period. Students receiving services under Chapter 766 whose IEP is a 502.4 or more restrictive prototype may be removed from probation by an administrator provided that all other eligibility requirements are met.

National Honor Society

The ASRHS chapter of the National Honor Society (NHS) recognizes members of the sophomore, junior, and senior classes who show exemplary attributes of the four pillars of NHS; Scholarship, Leadership, Character and Service.

The faculty committee has determined that all prospective NHS members must have an academic average of 3.5 on a weighted scale, have completed at least fifteen hours of community service by March of the year of induction, and have attended ASRHS for at least one semester in order to be considered for membership. Students, who meet the 3.5 GPA, satisfy the pillar of Scholarship will receive an NHS information packet that gives them the opportunity to submit information to the Faculty Council. The NHS advisor will convene the Faculty Council and the Council will vote to extend membership to qualifying students. Specific information regarding the four pillars of NHS and the expectations for inductees can be obtained from the NHS advisor. Students who have been inducted into a chapter of the NHS in another school may transfer their membership to the ASRHS chapter by presenting their membership card and certificate to the NHS advisor.

All NHS members are required to complete twenty (20) hours of community service each year IN ADDITION to the hours required for graduation, depending on the availability of community service as it relates to health metrics.

Student Government

The Student Council is the student governing body of ASRHS. The Council is a member of the Massachusetts Association of Student Councils and the National Association of Student Councils. The purposes and powers of the Student Council can be found in its Constitution, which is available in the high school office, through class officers and the Student Council Advisor. Student Council is made up of an Executive Board and four individual class councils. Elections are held for officers in the Spring and representatives in the Fall. All freshmen elections are held in the Fall.

The mission of Student Council is to foster a spirit of cooperation among the students and faculty, to maintain high standards of personal conduct, and to promote and encourage activities for the best interests of our school and community.

Field Trips

The administration reserves the right to approve or deny any field trip request and/or an individual student's attendance on any school sponsored field trip due to disciplinary, academic, or attendance issues.

The administration reserves the right to inspect any personal items of a student prior to attending any day or overnight field trip.

Dances

Dances are limited to registered students of ASRHS and their guests. Only one guest is allowed per student. Students must obtain a guest form from the high school office and have it completed and submitted to an administrator for approval prior to the end of school on the day of the dance.

Once admitted to a dance, students/guests must have proper identification and are not permitted to leave and then return. In addition, no students/guests will be allowed to enter after the halfway point of the dance.- Please note that all policies outlined in the ASRHS Handbook apply to both on and off campus dances. All belongings are subject to search at dances.

Social Media and Electronics Policy

Introduction/Purpose

Social media is defined as any form of online publication or presence that allows interactive communication, including but not limited to, cell phones, social networks, blogs, internet Websites, internet forums, and wikis. Specific networking sites include but are not limited to Facebook, Instagram, Snapchat, Twitter, LinkedIn, YouTube, Flickr, Tumblr, and the like.

Students may engage in the use of social media during school hours at the direction of the classroom teacher for instructional purposes. Respectful practice must be observed at all times. See also Policy 7.980.

Change in Policy

ASRHS may alter or amend this policy at any time. If changes are made during a school year, all students will receive a copy of the amended policy and be required to sign it.

Electronic Devices

Cell phones, iPods, iPads, etc. are to be turned off before students enter an academic class. The staff will ask students to place the cell phone in a safe location, in the classroom, until it can be retrieved by the Assistant Principal, should the student be found with the device being used during an academic

class. Staff will turn confiscated devices into the Assistant Principal when s/he arrives in the classroom for retrieval.

If a student refuses to part with their device, they will immediately be sent to the front office, where a conversation with the student's family will occur; if after that conversation, the student refuses to part with their device, they may remain in the main office until they can be dismissed by their family for the day and will not be allowed to return to class.

- First Offense, if the device is given to staff: Device will be returned to the student at the end of the school day.
- Second/Third Offense, if the device is given to staff: Device will only be returned to a parent/guardian, and the student may serve a detention (lunch, after school, etc.).
- Four or More Offenses, if the device is given to staff: Electronic device will not be allowed in school and serious disciplinary consequences will follow.
- AT ANY TIME-IF DEVICE IS NOT GIVEN TO STAFF/ASSISTANT PRINCIPAL: The student will
 remain in the main office until the device is given to the Assistant Principal or the student is
 dismissed by their family for the day. The student will not re-enter the classroom until the device
 is given to the Assistant Principal at the beginning of the day for the following ten school days. If
 the student does not give the device to the Assistant Principal at the start of each of the next ten
 school days, parent/guardian will be notified and asked to pick up the student and/or the device.

Student Code of Conduct and Discipline Policy

The members of ASRHS believe that good citizenship in schools is based upon respect and consideration for the rights of others. Students are expected to conduct themselves in a manner such that the rights and privileges of others are not violated. Everyone is expected to respect authority, to conform to school rules, and to those provisions of law that apply to their conduct.

Staff Jurisdiction

Any ASRSD employee has jurisdiction and responsibility that extends throughout the entire building and over the school grounds at all times. Students failing to divulge their name to a staff member, or refusing to follow the requests or directions of any staff member will be considered insubordinate/uncooperative and will receive appropriate disciplinary action as outlined in the Student Code of Conduct and Discipline Policy.

School expectations include, but are not limited to the following: Students will...

- Comply with all reasonable requests of staff members
- Remain in class for the full period
- Have a pass when in the hallway
- Use appropriate language toward adults and peers
- Remain in the building throughout the school day unless supervised by a staff member
- Submit their OWN academic work
- Display discretion in their relationships with others at school
- Follow the student acceptable computer policy
- Not initiate physical violence or retaliate using physical violence.

At ASRHS, we use a progressive discipline approach which includes, but is not limited to the following:

Teacher Discussion/Detention and Parent Notification

A consequence given by any classroom teacher to a student for violation of classroom rules, or the ASRHS Student Code of Conduct.

Restorative Practice <u>-</u>engages students in a process that empowers them to repair relationships and the harm they have done to others; restore their good standing in the community; and learn skills and target behaviors to improve their self-awareness, self-management, and social and academic efficacy **Office Detention**

A consequence given by an administrator for violation of the ASRHS Student Code of Conduct or by staff referral. Office detention is held on Monday, Tuesday, and Wednesday only, and is for one hour after school. During office detention students are expected to be engaged in academic work. If a student reports for office detention and is unprepared, the student will be dismissed, and one additional day of office detention will be assigned. Office detention cannot be rescheduled except in extenuating circumstances and with the prior approval of an administrator. If a student skips an office detention, one additional day of office detention will be assigned. If a student does not report for the reassigned office detention, will be assigned a Saturday detention. This is subject to change depending on the availability of office detentions according to guidance from the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education.

Saturday Detention

This consequence is the next step in the progression of discipline. A student assigned to a Saturday Detention will be required to arrive at school for 8:00 AM and stay until 11:00 AM. Saturday detentions will be administered every other Saturday of every month. Students assigned a Saturday detention should come prepared with any academic materials. Students who arrive late to an assigned Saturday detention will be turned away and assigned another Saturday detention. Students not in attendance for a scheduled Saturday detention will be re-assigned to the next scheduled Saturday detention. If the student does not attend the rescheduled date, a one-day out of school suspension will be issued.

Any student that cannot make the scheduled Saturday detention must meet with the Assistant Principal to make arrangements **at minimum two days** in advance. This is subject to change depending on the availability of office detentions according to guidance from the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education.

External Suspension

Students who are externally suspended will have academic work provided and must submit the completed work on the day of their return from suspension. Failure to do this will result in a grade of zero for those missing assignments, regardless of whether or not the provided work was picked up.

Please note that students who are internally or externally suspended are not allowed to practice for, participate in, or attend <u>ANY</u> extracurricular activity, including athletics, during the day(s) of the suspension. <u>Externally suspended students are not allowed to be on or about school property</u>. If the suspension occurs on the last day of the week, the student may not practice for, participate in, or attend <u>ANY</u> extracurricular activity, including athletics, over the weekend.

Levels of Accountable Consequences and Restorative Interventions

When students engage in unskillful, inappropriate, or unacceptable behavior, **accountable consequences** intensify as violations become more serious. Multiple violations for the same behavior may warrant more intensive consequences at a higher level. All consequences aim to treat students fairly and with respect, dignity, and decency. Consequences are delivered within five levels. Assigned consequences for disciplinary problems are aligned to **restorative interventions.** In practice, this means that:

- 1. Consequences and interventions at all levels must be standardized, clear, equitable, timely, and implemented across all groups of students with fidelity and integrity.
- Interventions must be accessible to every student, including students with disabilities and English Learners.
- Data must be transparent to determine the use and impact of all consequences and interventions, paying particular attention to indicators of overuse and disproportionality of referrals and suspensions among various groups of students.

DOCUMENTATION NOTES AND REFERRALS

Teacher Interventions	Tier 2 Interventions	Tier 3 Interventions Student Support

	Teacher, Support			
Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5

Level	Behavior Violation	Action
Level 1	Minor classroom and minor public space behavioral incidents	 No send out - Student remains in classroom. Classroom observation notes are submitted when a student's low-impact, unskillful behaviors raise concern and warrant documentation within the school's student database. Observation notes help teachers share specific information/data that may reveal behavior patterns and trends that need to be addressed if these behaviors become chronic.
Level 2	Persistent, low-impact classroom behavior violations, more serious public space violations, and non-violent personal misconduct	 No send-out - Student remains in class. Referral submission Possible detention/Saturday Detention / intervention Teacher remains involved. *Accumulation of referrals may prompt a Level 3 response.
Level 3	More serious behavior violations as determined by their severity and frequency	 Referral submission + conference Send-out and possible Saturday Detention(s) or 1 Day OSS Intervention determined.
Level 4	Repetitive or high- impact behavior violations that involve verbal and physical violence or self-harm and violations that have a destructive or disruptive impact on the school community	 Referral submission + send-out + conference + possible ISS for remainder of the day or possibly emergency removal 2 - 4 Day OSS Intervention determined.
Level 5	Behaviors that present the most serious level of threat and harm to individuals and the school community	 Send-out + referral + conference 5 or more days Day OSS Intervention determined.

Behavior Violation and Consequences Matrix

Consistent with the guidelines of the Massachusetts Department of Education, we have attempted to describe the behaviors which follow in specific terms that can be interpreted similarly by different people. The Matrix below outlines specific violations and their associated levels of response. As it is necessary, or even desirable, to specify a particular consequence for every possible type of offense, the misconducts and their relative disciplinary actions are descriptive of the kinds of behaviors that should be avoided and the range of consequences which could be applied allowing consideration for the extent, severity, and impact of misconduct on the school community. Repeated incidents of the same violation may warrant the next level of consequences.

Any student participating in any athletics or extracurricular activity who has violated the student code of conduct is subject to additional disciplinary action in accordance to the MIAA and Student Council Constitution amendment VIII.

Behavior Violation	SWIS Problem Behavior Category	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Notes
	OLATIONS						
Procedural violation	No SWIS documentation for Level 1	X					Does not bring necessary materials to class. Does not manage classroom materials. Does not complete assigned work.
Non-cooperation and non-participation	No SWIS documentation for Level 1	X					Non-participation in learning activities. Initiating or joining conversations with another student. Playing around or goofing with others. Difficulty working cooperatively with others.
Low level impulse control, self-management, and dysregulation.	No SWIS documentation for Level 1	X					Distracting or disruptive movement or noise. Interrupting or blurting out inappropriate comments. Persistent complaining. Inability to work silently without bothering others. Inability to manage confusion, frustration, or anger effectively. Persistent

							attention seeking behaviors.
High level impulse control, self-management,	No SWIS documentation for Level 1	x	x				Out of control emotions and behaviors. Deliberate use of negative speech that sabotages the group.
and dysregulation	Level 2 (<i>if persistent</i>) Disruption						
Behavior Violation	SWIS Problem Behavior Category	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Notes
ACADEMIC DISH	ONESTY			•			
Plagiarism /copying	Forgery/Theft/ Plagiarism		X				Representing others' words or ideas as one's own. Student may be subject to receiving no credit, partial credit, or alternative assignment.
Cheating	Lying/Cheating		X				Producing academic work through dishonesty or deceit. Student may be subject to receiving no credit, partial credit, or alternative assignment
Altering or falsifying records or signatures	Lying/Cheating		X				
Assisting another student in any of the above acts	Lying/Cheating		X				
Any of the above acts, persistent or involving a group of students	Lying/Cheating			X			The incident has a far reaching impact on the community.
Behavior Violation	SWIS Problem Behavior Category	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Notes
AGGRESSION							
Verbal Aggressic	on Directed Toward	Adults	5				

Hostile, oppositional, confrontational refusal to comply with directives and requests such as: refusal to stop for staff, show ID/ give name/ stop at 'checkpoint' (HS)	Defiance/ Insubordination/ Non-Compliance		X	X				
Persistent refusal to stop for staff, identify self/show ID, creating a potentially dangerous/unsafe situation. This includes 'checkpoints' (HS) (Secondary)	Defiance/ Insubordination/ non-Compliance			X	X			
Cursing, use of insulting, defaming, vulgar, or abusive language directed at an adult	Abusive Language/ Inappropriate Language/ Profanity		X	X				
Verbal or written threats	Abusive Language/ Inappropriate Language/ Profanity			X	X	X	The intensity of the threat needs to be considered when assigning the level. Written threats on paper, on school property, or in notes, texts, email, postings on internet sites, or through other electronic mechanisms.	
Physical Contact	Physical Contact / Aggression Directed Toward Adults							
Accidental physical contact	No SWIS documentation for Level 1	X					Accidental contact with no verbal or physical threats or gesturing.	
Low level physical aggression	Physical Aggression		Х	X			Anger or frustration that presents itself through hitting or grabbing	

High level physical aggression	Physical Aggression				X	X	Targeted and intentional spitting, hitting, biting, throwing items at people, hair pulling, choking, kicking, shoving, punching, scratching.
Physical intimidation/ posturing	Physical Aggression			X	X	x	Posturing with gesture(s) or body language. The intensity of the threat needs to be considered when assigning the level.
Physical Assault	Physical Aggression					X	Using force or violence to injure a person, causing serious bodily harm. May include the use of weapons.
Verbal Aggressic	on Directed Toward	Stude	nts				
Cursing, use of insulting, defaming, vulgar or abusive language directed at students	Abusive language / Inappropriate Language / Profanity		X	X			
Verbal or written threats	Abusive language / Inappropriate Language / Profanity		X	X	X		The intensity of the threat needs to be considered when assigning the level. Written threats on paper, on school property or in notes, texts, email, postings on Internet sites or through other electronic mechanisms.
Physical Contact	/ Aggression Dire	cted To	ward S	tudents	;		
Accidental physical contact	No SWIS documentation for Level 1	X					Accidental contact with no verbal or physical threats or gesturing.
Low level physical aggression	Physical aggression		x	x			Anger or frustration that presents itself through hitting or grabbing
High level physical aggression	Physical aggression				X	x	One person engages in grabbing, biting, spitting on, hitting, kicking, punching or physically intimidating another person

Physical intimidation/ posturing	Physical aggression			X	X		Threatening with a gesture(s) or body language an individual or group.
Fighting involving two students with no significant medical intervention required.	Fighting			X	X		Students involved in pushing, shoving, hitting, scratching, kicking, or punching. Application of reasonable force in self-defense is a consideration
Fighting involving two or more students with need for significant medical attention	Fighting				X	X	Students involved in pushing, shoving, hitting, scratching, kicking, or punching. Application of reasonable force in self-defense is a consideration
Fighting involving three or more students (disrupts the safety and order of the school climate, and disrupts the educational process for staff and students)	Fighting				X	X	Causes administration to initiate emergency procedures, which requires submission to the Superintendent's office Application of reasonable force in self-defense is a consideration
Physical assault	Physical Aggression				X	X	Using force or violence to injure a person, causing serious bodily harm. May include the use of weapons.
Behavior Violation	SWIS Problem Behavior Category	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Notes
ARSON							
Intentionally starting a fire.	Arson			Х	X	X	Report to fire marshall
ATTENDANCE (Multiple violations may warrant Level 3 consequences but do not include out-of-school suspension.)							

Late arrival to school	No SWIS documentation for Level 1	X	X			The frequency of incidents needs to be considered when assigning levels.	
	Level 2: (if persistent) Tardy					Considerations for new students should be made as they are learning school building routines.	
Tardy during school day	No SWIS documentation for Level 1	X	x				
	Level 2: (if persistent) Tardy						
Cutting class	No SWIS documentation for Level 1	X	X	x x			
	Level 2:(<i>if persistent</i>) Skip class						
Skipping school	No SWIS documentation for Level 1	X	X				
	Level 2: (if persistent) Truancy						
Leaving school without permission	Truancy		x	X			
Leaving class without permission (Secondary)	No SWIS documentation for Level 1	X	x				
	Level 2: (if persistent) Skip class						
Presence in an unauthorized area	No SWIS documentation for Level 1	X	x	X			
	Level 2+: (if persistent) Inappropriate location / Out of						

	bounds area						
Unauthorized hall-walking	No SWIS documentation for Level 1:	X	X				
	Level 2: <i>(if persistent)</i> Inappropriate location / Out of bounds area						
Unexcused absences	No SWIS documentation for Level 1.	X	x				
	Level 2: (if persistent) Truancy						
BULLYING, HAR	ASSMENT, AND BI	AS-REI	ATED	INCIDEN	NTS	-	
Hurtful teasing and name-calling (non-bias related)	Abusive language/ Inappropriate language/ Profanity		x	X			Hurtful is defined as words that trigger a targeted student's emotional distress
Bullying - verbal or physical aggression behaviors targeted to an individual	Bullying			X	X		Involves repetitive incidents and an imbalance of power without evidence of bias
Bullying – incidents that cause serious physical harm to the person targeted or seriously damage a person's name and reputation	Bullying				X	X	Serious harm involves sustained emotional distress and a sustained negative impact on the student and/or their experience at school
Cyberbullying	Bullying			X	X	X	Any words, actions, or conduct that meet the definitions of bullying and are conveyed via email, text message, online chats, interactions on social media, or other electronic media

					This may include incidents that originate on a home device that cause serious disruption within the school community
Non-sexual harassment - This includes targeting an individual or a group based on a person's actual or perceived color, disability, ethnic group, gender, national origin, race, religion, weight, sexual identity and gender identity	Harassment		X	X	Conduct or verbal threats, intimidation, or abuse, including posting or publishing video, audio recordings or pictures, that create a hostile environment
Cyberharassment	Harassment		X	X	Any words, actions, or conduct that meet the definitions of harassment and are conveyed via email, text message, online chats, interactions on social media, or other electronic media. This may include incidents that originate on a home device that cause serious disruption within the school community
Sexual orientation harassment	Harassment		X	X	Creation of a hostile environment by expressing a negative opinion toward an individual or group of persons based on their sexual attraction toward or responsiveness to members of the opposite or same sex. The frequency of the violation needs to be considered when assigning the level.
Explicit act of racial bias	Other		X	X	The demonstration by an individual of overt racial discrimination toward some

Behavior Violation	SWIS Problem Behavior Category	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Notes
Not following bus safety expectations. This includes standing up while the bus is moving, changing seats, and throwing objects out of window	Defiance/ Insubordination/ Non-Compliance		X	X	X		Suspension of bus privileges would be considered for a reasonable amount of time
Bus Misconduct	Category		2	5	+	5	
Behavior Violation	SWIS Problem Behavior	Level	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	national origin, gender, religion, sexual orientation.
Hate crime	Other				x	x	Incident that becomes a crime when hate speech or acts involve a threat or act of violence directed at a person because of their real or perceived race, ethnicity, national origin gondor
Hate speech or acts	Other				X	X	Any spoken, written, electronic communication, signage, physical gestures, words/ symbols on apparel or other items that carry, incite, or express hatred against a group of persons, particularly an oppressed or marginalized group, defined in terms of race, ethnicity, national origin, gender, religion, sexual orientation, disability, language, or other protected groups.
							individuals or groups and/or demonstrates overt favoritism/ privileging of other individuals or groups

Cell Phones							
Unauthorized use of cell phone in classroom	No SWIS documentation for Level 1.	X					
	Level 2: (if persistent)		X				
Unauthorized use of recording devices (audio or video)			X	x	x	x	The frequency and severity of the incident needs to be considered when assigning levels.
Damage to Prope	erty						
Intentionally damaging or destroying property of a student, adult, or the school district	Property Damage / Vandalism		X	X			The frequency and severity of the incident needs to be considered when assigning levels. Should require some form of restitution
Dress Code and	Personal Property						
Dress code violation	No SWIS documentation for Level 1.	X	X				The frequency of the incident needs to be considered when assigning levels.
	Level 2: (if persistent) Dress Code Violation						
Refusal to comply with directives to put away personal	No SWIS documentation for Level 1.	x	x				
property (toys/ phone, etc)	hone, etc) Level 2: (if persistent) Defiance/ Insubordination/ Non-Compliance						
Persistent refusal to comply with directives to put away personal property	Defiance/ Insubordination/ Non-Compliance		X	X			

(toys/phone, etc), creating consistent disruption to the learning environment.							
Behavior Violation	SWIS Problem Behavior Category	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Notes
Drugs and Alcoh	ol						
Under the influence	Use/Possession of Alcohol			X	x		Includes vaping of tobacco or unauthorized substances.
	Use/Possession of Drugs						The frequency of the violation needs to be considered when assigning the level.
Possession or use	Use/Possession of Alcohol			X	X	x	
	Use/Possession of Drugs						
	Use/Possession of Tobacco						
Distribution or sale of	Use/Possession of Alcohol				x	x	
	Use/Possession of Drugs						
	Use/Possession of Tobacco						
False Activation	and Threats						
Pulling fire alarm	Bomb Threat/ False Alarm			X	X		
Making a false bomb report or perpetuating a bomb hoax that jeopardizes safety	Bomb Threat/ False Alarm				X	X	
Communicating a	Bomb Threat/				X	X	

terroristic threat, threat of mass violence or perpetuating a terroristic hoax	False Alarm						
Misuse of 911	Bomb Threat/ False Alarm			X	X		
Verbal or written threat involving weapons against school community	Bomb Threat/ False Alarm				X	X	
Tampering with or discharging a fire extinguisher	Property Destruction / Vandalism			X	X		
Tampering with or opening AED boxes	Property Destruction / Vandalism			X	X		
Gambling			-				
Engaging in any form of games of chance or betting for money or objects of value	Other		X	X			
Gang Related Ac	tivity						
Display of affiliation with a gang without actual threat or act of violence	Gang Affiliation/ Display			X	X		Student uses gestures, dress, and/or speech to display affiliation with a gang
Affiliation with a gang with actual threat or act of violence	Gang Affiliation/ Display				X	X	
Behavior Violation		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Notes
Possession of Inappropriate or Obscene Materials							

Including print, illustrations, or electronic images and video	Other			X	X	X	This includes all video of sexual acts and child pornography
Public Space Mis	behavior					-	
Running, excessive noise; play fighting,	No SWIS documentation for Level 1.	X	x				Frequency of incidents needs to be considered when assigning level
loitering	Level 2:(if persistent) Disruption						
Recording, photographing, or filming or otherwise documenting other individuals without their consent.	Technology Violation		X	X			
Obstructing movement in public spaces	No SWIS documentation for Level 1.	X	X				
	Level 2: (if persistent) Disruption						
Opening a door to the outside to prop it open, or to allow any individual to enter the building	Other			X	X		
Obstructing vehicular traffic or parking violations	Inappropriate location / Out of bounds area		x	X			May include towing of vehicle with repeated violations.
Inciting or participating in a disturbance that disrupts normal operation of the school	Disruption			X	X		
Sexual Miscondu	ict		I	1		I	1

Mutual sexual contact between students	Inappropriate Display of Affection		x	x			Physical contact including, but not limited to, intimate touching, fondling, and kissing at school or a school-sponsored activity between two or more students.	
Sexual harassment	Harassment				X	X	Unwelcome conduct determined by a reasonable person to be so severe, pervasive, and objectively offensive that it effectively denies a person equal access to the school system's education program or activities.	
Sexual offense	Other				X	X	Sexual intercourse, sexual contact, or other behavior intended to result in sexual gratification without force or threat of force.	
Sexual assault	Other					X	Oral, anal, or vaginal penetration forcibly or against the person's will or where the victim is incapable of giving consent. Includes stalking, dating violence, domestic violence, fondling, incest, and rape.	
Behavior Violation		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Notes	
Theft						•		
Taking another person's property without their consent.	Forgery/ Theft/ Plagiarism		X	X	X			
Weapons Violation	Weapons Violations							
Possession of a weapon (excluding firearms or powerful explosives)	Use/Possession of Weapon Use/Possession of Combustibles				x	x	Includes knives, other sharp objects such as razor blades, other objects such as brass knuckles, substances such as mace, a BB gun or pellet gun, and any other item being used as a dangerous weapon.	

Possession of firearm or any other gun	Use/Possession of Weapon		X	X	Includes handgun, shotgun, rifle, starter gun, flare gun
Possession, sale, distribution,	Use/Possession of Weapon		X	x	Examples: bomb, grenade, improvised explosive device
detonation, or threat of detonation of incendiary or explosive device	Use/Possession of Combustibles				

Appendix D: Athletic Handbook Supplement

AYER SHIRLEY REGIONAL SCHOOL DISTRICT ATHLETICS 2023-2024



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Welcome To Ayer Shirley Regional Athletics!ASRSD Athletic Department Philosophy, Mission Statement, and Core ValuesGoverning BodiesInterscholastic Sport Offerings and LevelsPre-Tryout Requirements Necessary for Participation in AthleticsTeam Orientated InformationParent / Guardian Communication GuideMIAA Rules and RegulationsAyer Shirley Regional High School RegulationsASRSD Concussion Policy and Opioid InformationImportant Websites

WELCOME TO Ayer Shirley Regional ATHLETICS!

We are excited to have you become a part of the Ayer Shirley Regional Interscholastic Athletics Program. Ayer Shirley Athletics is rich in pride and tradition. For years, Ayer Shirley Regional student-athletes have performed with dedication, skill, intensity and desire. Our athletes have competed well at the high school, college, and a few at the professional level. High school athletics can be a wonderful and exciting educational opportunity. It is our hope that your son/daughter will seize that opportunity and make the most of it. We are also proud of the fact that we offer programs for every student, as we believe athletics should be accessible to all.

The handbook includes information regarding policies, practices and regulations that govern the athletic program and should help to answer many of your questions about interscholastic athletics at Ayer Shirley Regional. It is intended to help you understand what you can expect and what is expected of you as a Panther student-athlete and parent.

Our interscholastic athletic program is an extension of the academic day and it is an important part of the educational process. In our pursuit of excellence, we operate and function within the mission of the school district: **"to connect, engage, and inspire all students**." Our athletic department staff is committed to providing everything needed to help all student-athletes achieve their fullest potential, both academically and athletically. We are here to help make your experience as a student-athlete enjoyable and successful. If your questions and concerns are not answered within this handbook, please speak with a member of our coaching staff or feel free to contact me directly. Please visit our Athletic website at https://www.asrsd.org/domain/47 for schedules, staff contact information and valuable links to related organizations.

Being a part of a sports team at the high school is a major commitment, but one that can also be one of the most rewarding experiences of your life. Best of luck and please let me know if I can ever be of assistance.

Steve Kendall Email: skendall@asrsd.org Office: (978) 772-8600 ext. 1370 Twitter: @asrhsathletics

ASRSD Athletic Department Philosophy, Mission Statement, and Core Values

The Interscholastic Athletic program at Ayer Shirley is committed to the total physical, emotional, social and mental development of its participants. Athletics are an extension of the academic day where our coaching staff is charged with the responsibility of teaching the values of accountability, citizenship, sportsmanship, confidence, tolerance, accepting success graciously, handling disappointment, leadership, overcoming obstacles, participation within the rules, performing under pressure, persistence, responsibility, sacrifice, self- discipline, striving for excellence, taking instruction and teamwork. Coaches are teachers first, and developing them socially, emotionally and physically is their most important role.

Building self-esteem and self-confidence is an ongoing process, used in both games and practices. Through this process, Ayer Shirley coaches challenge and develop players, both physically and emotionally, in a positive manner, using both praise and constructive criticism. Coaches are encouraged to make praise personal, criticism impersonal.

Ayer Shirley strives to have all athletes "play with class and poise" and this philosophy has become a very important part of the instruction that takes place at each practice session. As members of the Ayer Shirley athletic program, students and coaches are expected to demonstrate proper respect for each other, other teams and coaches, teammates, officials, spectators and equipment. Student athletes and coaches are expected to exhibit the highest level of conduct, both on and off the playing field, as they are, at all times, representatives of their team, school and community.

Tryouts are open to all students, providing they are in good academic standing, are good school citizens, and are physically fit to participate. Participation in the program is a privilege, which students can earn by maintaining these standards.

ATHLETIC DEPARTMENT MISSION STATEMENT

Our mission is to create a positive, inclusive, welcoming and athletic culture that encourages student-athletes to develop character and leadership skills which allow them to be contributing members to our school and our teams, as well as to their families and communities now and in the future.

Ayer Shirley Athletics Core Values

Hungry: Having a growth mindset, always believing there is room for improvement, and actually seeking feedback for growth **Healthy:** Making choices that have a positive impact on our body, mind, spirit and soul.

Humble: Never bragging or cocky; understanding that leadership means helping others achieve their goals as well **Honorable:** Respecting ourselves, our teammates, our opponents, officials, the fans, and the game.

We expect our students to aspire to these values. We expect our staff to live these values. We expect our larger community to support these values

In addition to Ayer Shirley's Core Values, the athletic department has the following goals:

- Encourage participation in a wide variety of offerings for all students.
- Emphasize that respect for human differences and for the diversity of peoples must be at the center of the athletic experience. Students and coaches are expected to demonstrate proper respect for teammates, opponents, officials, spectators and property.
- Require students to meet reasonable standards for, and during, participation. These standards are defined by state association, league and school requirements and guidelines and are enriched by innovative training and coaching.
- Student-athletes and coaches are expected to exhibit the highest level of conduct, both on and off the playing field, as they are, at all times, representatives of their team, school and community.
- Evaluate our athletic, professional, and personal progress regularly. Success is measured by more than wins and losses, as winning and losing become by-products of the quality of our efforts. A dynamic athletic program is vital to the positive social, physical, and educational development of students. It is our responsibility that the program functions at all times as an integral part of the total curriculum.
- Foster moral awareness and civic participation by the example of our daily behavior. We offer opportunities to serve the school and develop fellowship and goodwill. We encourage the qualities of good citizenship and the ideals of good sportsmanship, ethical behavior, and integrity throughout our school and community.

GOVERNING BODIES

- Massachusetts Interscholastic Athletic Association (MIAA):
 - Ayer Shirley Regional High School is a member in good standing of the MIAA. With membership, the Principal and Athletic Department agree to abide by all rules and regulations of the MIAA. When varsity teams qualify for and enter MIAA sponsored post-season tournaments to determine sectional and state champions, we are subject to specific rules and regulations that govern each tournament, as set by the MIAA. The MIAA does not sponsor or sanction any sub-varsity tournament competition. Information about the MIAA and the rules our student athletes must abide by, can be found at www.miaa.net.
- The Midland-Wachusett League:
 - Ayer Shirley Regional High School is proud to be a member of the Midland-Wachusett Interscholastic League (Mid Wach). The Mid-Wach is governed by the MIAA and its own constitution. The Principal of each member school agrees that his/her school will abide by all league rules and regulations. The following are Mid-Wach sports: basketball, baseball, cross-country, football, boys' golf, lacrosse, soccer, softball, swimming/diving, track and field, and volleyball. The following sports compete in the CMASS League: ice hockey.
- Ayer Shirley Regional School District:
 - Additional policies, regulations and rules are set by the Ayer Shirley Regional School Committee and the Principal. Under MIAA guidelines, local communities are allowed to set additional policies, rules and regulations so long as they are more restrictive than those stipulated by the MIAA.

INTERSCHOLASTIC SPORT OFFERINGS AND LEVELS

Fall (Tryouts may start as early as the second Thursday preceding Labor Day. Football conditioning will begin on August 17, 2018. Football Cheer tryouts may be held in June.) * pending MIAA waiver approval (annually)

Sport	Varsity	JV	Middle School
Cheerleading	x		Grades 7-8 may participate*
Cross country boys and girls	x	x	Grades 7-8 may participate*
Football (co-op with Bromfield and Parker)	x		Grade 8 may participate*
Golf	x	х	Grades 7-8 may participate*
Soccer Boys and Girls	х	x	Grade 8 may play JV * Grades 6-8 teams for boys and girls
Unified basketball	x		MS team in winter
Volleyball	х	х	Grade 8 may participate in JV*

Winter (Tryouts start Monday after Thanksgiving for all sports)

Sport	Varsity	JV	Middle School
Basketball Boys and Girls	x	х	Teams for Grades 6-8 for boys and girls
Ice hockey boys (co-op with Lunenburg)	x	х	
Ice hockey girls (co-op with Leominster)	x		
Indoor Track	х	х	Grades 7-8 may participate *
Swimming boys and girls (co-op with Bromfield)	x		

Spring (Tryouts start the third Monday in March for all sports)

Sport	Varsity	JV	Middle School
Baseball	х	х	Team for grades 6-8
Boys' lacrosse (co-op with Lunenburg)	х	х	
Girls lacrosse (co-op with Groton-Dunstable)	х	х	
Softball	х	х	Team for grades 6-8
Track Boys and Girls	х	х	Grades 7-8 may compete*
Unified Track Boys and Girls	х		Grades 6-8 may participate

PreSchool-12 Handbook 2023-2024

PRE-TRYOUT REQUIREMENTS NECESSARY FOR PARTICIPATION IN ATHLETICS

A student must be declared eligible by the Athletic Director according to the standards listed in this section before he/she will be allowed to try out for a team.

1. Athletics Participation Permission Form – Online Form

For each season of participation, a student must submit and complete an online participation form through Family ID prior to his/her first practice session. The consent portion of the form MUST be completed by a parent/guardian. The link to the online registration can be found on the Ayer Shirley website (contact the Athletic Director if you do not have access to a computer). By registering online, parents and students provide your consent to participate in athletics, your acknowledgement of the student-athlete handbook, transportation permission, and your acknowledgement that you have been provided concussion education materials. This online form must be completed for each athletic season of involvement.

2. Athletic User Fee

The Ayer Shirley Regional School Committee has authorized the Department of Athletics to collect an Athletic Fee from each student-athlete. The fee for the academic year is \$200.00 per participant per school year for high school sports, \$100.00 per participant per school year for middle school sports, and a \$500.00 total family cap per school year. There will be an additional fee for ice hockey, girls' ice hockey, and swimming participants.

Please register at <u>https://www.familyid.com/organizations/7045/</u>. Payment can also be made there OR make checks payable to Ayer Shirley Regional HS ATHLETIC DEPARTMENT. Please include your child's name and sport on the memo part of the check.

User fee due dates for the current school year:

Fall users fees are due within three days of tryouts.

3. Physical Examinations

All students who plan to participate in athletics must submit written proof of a current physical exam to the athletic director or school nurse prior to the start of the sport season. Physical examinations must be performed by a duly registered physician, physician's assistant, or nurse practitioner. Per DPH and MIAA regulations, physical exams are valid for 13 months to the day. A student athlete will NOT be allowed to participate once an exam has expired (new physical regulations). Athletes will NOT be allowed to participate without the completion of a physical exam and participation forms.

4. Student Emergency and Health Record

Students must submit the required Ayer Shirley Regional School District Student Emergency and Health Record (yellow) form to the school nurse ASAP to participate in interscholastic athletics. This form is sent home with students on day one of school and only needs to be submitted once per academic year.

5. Health insurance

All student-athletes must be enrolled in a health insurance plan. The school has supplemental insurance that can help cover expenses suffered at athletic events. All injuries must be reported immediately to the athletic trainer or your coach and an injury report placed on file with the school nurse. It is the family's responsibility to file all claims under its own plan, or supplemental policy. Filing forms are available from the school nurse. The trainer or nurse will assist in filing these claims if needed.

TEAM ORIENTATED INFORMATION

Tryouts / Team Selection

Students should understand that participation in athletics is a privilege. Students try out voluntarily and for some programs, there is a risk of not being selected to a team. It is the judgment of the coaches, which dictates the selection and number of participants for teams. We will encourage coaches to keep as many students as they can without compromising the integrity of their sport. That number is based on several factors, such as, but not limited to, time, space, facilities, equipment, personal preference, etc., which will place limitations on the most effective squad size for any particular sport. Cutting students is a difficult process, and all coaches realize that sensitivity and communication are essential. All students are given fair and ample opportunity to demonstrate their abilities prior to the start of game situations. During the tryout period, the coach will provide an explanation of his or her expectations and tryout criteria. It is the student's responsibility to demonstrate that he/she can meet those expectations. Students who do not make a team will be informed as to the reasons by the coach. Students are encouraged to try out for another team if there is space and if final cuts have not yet been made. After tryouts begin, no athlete may voluntarily leave a team and try out for another without the consent of both coaches and the Athletic Director.

Varsity Teams (Very Competitive / Instructional)

At the varsity level, we look for our teams to compete against opponents at the highest possible level. This is the highest level of interscholastic competition, and players, coaches, parents, and staff members want Ayer Shirley Regional High School's varsity teams to be successful on the field of play. As long as the score is being kept, Ayer Shirley Regional High School varsity teams should attempt to win the contest. In order to accomplish this, there are many instances when the major burden of the contest will be carried by the most competitive, skilled team members. However, teams cannot and will not be successful without committed substitute players. These players have to be ready at all times to step forward and shoulder the burden when called upon. It is these athletes whose hard work in practice every day prepares the team for the upcoming contest. Success should never be measured in wins and losses, but in the performance of the athletes. If our athletes perform to the best of their abilities, they will always be successful no matter what the final score might be.

Junior Varsity (Competitive/Instructional) and Middle School Teams (Instructiona)

The JV and Middle School teams are considered to be development levels where athletes learn skills and strategies to prepare them for varsity competition. The coaching staff will play all team members for as much time as is practical. There are many factors that govern an individual's playing time. Some of the most important are: attendance at practice, effort, attitude, commitment, and athletic skill. This is the level for athletes to show their potential and demonstrate to the coaching staff that they are willing to work to prepare for varsity level competition. Note: Seniors are not permitted to play on a Junior Varsity Team.

"Senior Day" Celebrations

If a team is participating in a "senior day" celebration at the end of a season, students and parents can expect for all seniors to be recognized prior to the start of the contest. Starting lineups and playing time are completely separate from these celebrations and are at the discretion of the coach. These celebrations are organized by the coach.

Commitment to the Team

When trying out for a team, and after being selected to be a member of a team, Ayer Shirley students athletes are expected to attend all practices and games of that team. Weekend practice sessions vary by sport and should be expected. Interscholastic athletics demands much more commitment than a club or recreational activity.

School / Family Vacations, Extended Absences

Every team member is expected to be present for all team practices and games. Because of scheduling parameters, many of our teams practice and play during scheduled school vacations. Students athletes who plan to be absent for an extended

period due to vacation or a planned extended absence, must discuss this situation with the coach prior to tryouts. Student athletes who choose to go away on vacation and miss part of his/her season, may be suspended from contests the following week. Suspensions will be determined by the head coach after being discussed with the Athletic Director.

Daily Team Attendance

It is extremely important that a coach be notified in advance if a student athlete is not going to be present at a practice or game. Practice is where plans for upcoming contests are developed and perfected. The coaches in our program expect their athletes to be present at all team activities. Suspension or dismissal from the team may take place as a result of such absences. Student-athletes are excused from team activities for academic or religious reasons, family emergencies, illness or injury. Prior notification to the coach is strongly recommended and expected of the student athlete!

Playing Time

Perhaps the most emotional part of a student-athlete's involvement in high school athletics centers around playing time. Factors such as, but not limited to, practice attendance, attitude, commitment and athletic skill enter into the playing time decisions of the coach. It is the coach's responsibility to decide which athletes should start a contest, who should play what position, and how long each athlete should play. These coaching decisions, often difficult to make, are made only by the coaching staff and are approached very seriously after having observed the athletes in practice sessions, game-like situations, scrimmages and actual game competitions.

Team Captains

Coaches decide how team captains are selected based on identified criteria. Criteria may include character, coachability, communication skills, athletic ability, etc. They may be elected by the team or appointed by the coach prior to the first regularly scheduled contest. Captains may also be elected or appointed on a game-by-game basis. It is expected that Team Captains be leaders of their team and should be ready to assume duties as outlined by their coach. Captains are expected to communicate with the coach, team and Athletic Director in the event of any problems that may affect the team or its members. Captains may be asked to meet with the Athletic Director during the school year to discuss the athletic program. Captains of teams may be relieved of their position for violation of team, athletic department or school rules.

Captain's Chemical Health Rule

If an athlete has been found to violate the MIAA Rule 62: Chemical Health or the ASRHS Chemical Health policy, he or she will not be allowed to be a captain for at least one calendar year. If he or she is currently a captain, his or her captaincy will be revoked as well. The revocation of captaincy shall be for one calendar year (12 months) from the date of the violation of the first offense.

Team Rules and Regulations

At the start of the season a coach, with the approval of the Athletic Director, may issue a set of team rules. It is recommended these be written and distributed to all team members. These rules, which are not to be in conflict with any school or MIAA policies, may vary to reflect the program philosophy, the nature of the sport and the practice/competition schedule. Violations of these rules may result in temporary or permanent suspension from the team.

User Fees

Upon registration, parents agree to pay the user fee, determined by the school committee, to participate in athletics. These fees help defray the many costs associated with athletics, including but not limited to equipment, training supplies, officials, game administration, uniform reconditioning, and transportation. Players unpaid after the due date may be suspended from game participation until paid.

PARENT / GUARDIAN COMMUNICATION GUIDE

The Role of Parents, Student Athlete, and Coaches

The following section is designed for parents of athletes participating in the Ayer Shirley Athletic Program. Both parenting and coaching are extremely difficult vocations. By establishing an understanding of each position, we are better able to understand each other's roles, accept the actions of the other, and thereby provide greater benefit to students. As parents, when your children become involved in our program, you have a right to understand what expectations are placed on your child. This begins with clear communication from the coach of your child's program. To be successful, communication is vital and requires involvement, dedication, sacrifice, and commitment from parents, student athletes, and coaches.

Communication You Should Expect From Your Child's Coach

- 1. Philosophy of the coach
- 2. Expectations the coach has for your child as well as all the players on the squad
- 3. Locations and times of all practices and contests
- 4. Team requirements, i.e., practices, special equipment, out-of-season conditioning
- 5. Procedure followed should your child be injured during participation
- 6. Discipline that may result in the denial of your child's participation

Communication Coaches Expect From Parents

- 1. Concerns expressed directly to the coach
- 2. Notification of any schedule conflicts, well in advance
- 3. Specific concerns with regard to a coach's philosophy and/or expectations

As your child becomes involved in the programs at Ayer Shirley Regional, they will experience some of the most rewarding moments of their lives. It is important to understand that there also may be times when things do not go the way you or your child wishes. At these times, discussion with the coach is encouraged.

Appropriate Concerns To Discuss With Coaches

- 1. The treatment of your child, mentally and physically
- 2. Ways to help your child improve
- 3. Concerns about your child's behavior

Coaches make judgment decisions based on what they believe to be the best for all students involved. As you have seen from the list above, certain things can and should be discussed with your child's coach. Other things, such as those that follow, must be left to the discretion of the coach.

Issues that are Not Appropriate To Discuss With Coaches

- 1. Playing time
- 2. Team strategy
- 3. Play calling
- 4. Other student-athletes

Communication Protocol / Conflict Resolution

There are situations that may require a conference between the coach, athlete, and the parent. These are to be encouraged. It is important that both parties involved have a clear understanding of the other's position.

Please use the following communication protocol to resolve conflicts regarding student athlete team participation:

Step 1: Student athlete goes directly to coach

Step 2: Student athlete & parent go directly to coach

*Please DO NOT confront a coach before, during or after a practice or game. These can be emotional times for both the parent and the coach. Meetings of this nature do not promote resolution.

Step 3: Student athlete goes directly to Athletic Director

Step 4: Student athlete & parent go directly to Athletic Director

Never hesitate to follow the above procedures to make your concerns known.

Retribution

Students and parents must be confident that the voicing of an opinion or a concern, using the proper forum and method, is not only free from penalty or retribution, but also is strongly encouraged. The Athletic Director and coaches are committed to ensuring that after a student or parent raises an issue or concern, there shall be no "retribution" in any form within the athletic department at Ayer Shirley Regional High School. If at any time, a student or his / her parent suspects that some form of retribution is surfacing as a result of the voicing of a concern, opinion, or issue, using the proper forum and method, he or she should contact the Athletic Director immediately.

MIAA RULES AND REGULATIONS

All Ayer Shirley athletic teams will follow the rules set forth in the current MIAA handbook, which is available on the MIAA website at www.miaa.net. The entire handbook is also available in the athletic office. Student-athletes, coaches, and parents are responsible for adhering to all MIAA rules and regulations. Below are some key rules:

Rule 28 — Inclusive, Diversity and Leadership

28.1 The values of female role models and future opportunities for women are important to high school athletic programs and their governance. This role modeling will demonstrate to girls' that they can become leaders who will have an impact upon the lives of others. Adult women should inspire female student-athletes in a manner that will ensure broadened participation of women in future programs. Female student-athletes should have female role models in leadership and decision-making positions.

28.2 It has been resolved by the MIAA Assembly that coaches' and game officials' organizations encourage and recruit women with leadership interests or abilities. The names of such women should be forwarded to the MIAA Nominating Committee as potential committee members for service on MIAA administrative and standing Committees with responsibilities for female student athletes.

Rule 40 – Out of Season Activity

A coach may not directly or indirectly require a student-athlete in a sport or a training program outside of the MIAA defined sports season. "Captains Practices" are not in any way sanctioned, encouraged, recognized or condoned in any sport by the MIAA or Ayer Shirley Regional High School

Rule 43. Gender and Participation

43.1 No student shall be denied in any implied or explicit manner the opportunity to participate in any interscholastic activity because of gender. A school may establish separate teams for males and females for interscholastic competition in a sport provided that both teams receive equal instruction, training, coaching, access to available facilities, equipment, opportunities to practice and compete.

43.2 If a school offers a single team in a particular sport, it may not restrict eligibility based on gender unless such a restriction is necessary to ensure that the school's gendered designation of athletic opportunities complies with Title IX (either by demonstrating proportionality or the absence of unmet interest among members of the underrepresented sex).

43.3 If a school offers a girls' team and a boys' team in a particular sport (including offering the same sport in two different seasons), it may restrict eligibility based on gender.

43.3.1 A student shall not be excluded from participation on a gender-specific sports team that is consistent with the student's bona fide gender identity.

43.3.2 When a school district submits a roster to the MIAA, it is verifying that it has determined that the students listed on a gender-specific sports team are eligible to participate either based on the gender listed on their official birth certificate or based on their bona fide gender identity and that no students are included on the roster solely for the purpose of gaining an unfair advantage in competitive athletics. The MIAA shall defer to the determination of the student and the student's school regarding gender classification.

43.3.3 Nothing in this policy shall be read to entitle a student to selection of any particular team or to permit a student to transfer from one gender-specific team to another team of a different gender during a single sports season.

43.3.4 It is a recommended best practice that schools communicate with their opponents as necessary about the gender-specific needs of their team in order to promote inclusion – e.g. to ensure that appropriate locker room facilities are available, that announcer use athlete's correct pronouns, etc.

Rule 45 – Loyalty to the High School Team: Bona Fide Team Members

A bona fide member of the school team is a student who is consistently present for, and actively participates in, all high school team sessions (e.g. practices, tryouts, competitions). Bona fide members of a school team are precluded from missing a high school practice or competition in order to participate in a non-school athletic activity/event in any sport recognized by the MIAA. First Offense: Student athlete is suspended for one contest (see chart on Rule 62). Second Offense: Student athlete is suspended for tournament play immediately upon confirmation of the violation.

A student must not miss a high school practice or competition to compete in any MIAA recognized sport for non-high school teams. A coach does not have the right or authority to excuse a team member from practice or a contest so that he / she may practice or compete with a non-school team. A waiver may be requested once a season for extreme circumstances. Weekend practices are exempt from the bona fide rule, though the coach could still institute consequences for a missed practice. Waivers are not permitted for playoffs.

Rule 51 – Student Eligibility: Baseline Eligibility Requirement

For a student to practice with, or to represent a MIAA member school in athletic competition, the student must be duly enrolled in that school. Additionally, the student must be a candidate for that school's diploma, subject to the jurisdiction of that school's Principal (i.e. the Principal must have the authority to suspend the student from classes), and under the supervision of that school Principal (i.e. the Principal must have control and knowledge of the student's daily attendance and achievement).

Rule 58 – Student Eligibility: Academic Requirements

58.1 A student must secure during the last marking period preceding the contest (e.g. second quarter marks and not semester grades determine third quarter eligibility) a passing grade, and full credit, in the equivalent of four traditional yearlong major English courses. A transfer student may not gain academic eligibility if he/she was not, or would not be, eligible at the sending school, unless transfer was necessitated by a move of parents and then eligibility would be determined by receiving schools eligibility standards.

MIAA eligibility rules require that every student athlete have passed and received full credit in four (16 credits) major subjects (a major subject is one whose meeting time is equivalent to English) in the most recent reporting period. In addition, ASRHS requires that students maintain a cumulative passing average (60 or higher) in all courses in the most recent reporting period. Additionally, students are required to have passed and receive full credit for the previous academic quarter, the equivalent of four (4) major academic courses (i.e. English, math, science, social studies) and six (6) of eight (8) required courses. A student who passes five (5) of eight (8) may participate as long as he/she brings a weekly progress report to each of his/her teachers and to the coach, and demonstrates that he/she is making progress in all classes -- especially those he/she are failing.

58.2 A student cannot at any time represent a school unless that student is taking courses, which would provide Carnegie units equivalent to four traditional yearlong major English courses. (this means that if a student, at any time drops a course and no longer carries the equivalent of four major subjects, that student is ineligible immediately) 58.3 To be eligible for the fall season, students are required to have passed and receive full credit for the previous academic year, the equivalent of four (4) major academic courses (i.e. English, math, sci0ence, social studies) and six (6) of eight (8) required courses. A student who passes five (5) of eight (8) may participate as long as he/she brings a weekly progress report to each of his/her teachers and to the coach, and demonstrates that he/she is making progress in all classes -- especially those he/she are failing.

58.4 Academic eligibility of all students shall be considered as official and determined on the published date when the report cards for that ranking period are to be issued to the parents of all students within a particular class.

58.5 Incomplete grades may not be counted toward eligibility until they are made up following school policy.

58.6 A student who repeats work for which he / she has once received credit cannot count that subject a second time for eligibility.

58.7 A student cannot count for eligibility any subject taken during the summer, unless that subject was pursued and failed during the immediately preceding academic year.

Rule 59 – Student Eligibility: Time Allowed for Participation After Completing Grade Eight

59.1 A student shall be eligible for interscholastic competition for no more than 12 consecutive athletic seasons beyond the first completion of grade 8.

Rule 60 – Student Eligibility: Age Limitations

60.1 A student shall be under 19 years of age, but may compete during the remainder of the school

year, provided that his / her 19th birthday occurs on or after September 1 of that year.

For Freshman competition, a student shall be under 16 years of age but may compete during the remainder of the school year, provided that his/her 16th birthday occurs on or after September 1 of that year.

Rule 62 – Student Eligibility: Chemical Health / Alcohol / Drugs / Tobacco

From the earliest fall practice date, to the conclusion of the academic year or final athletic event (whichever is latest), a student shall not, regardless of the quantity, use, consume, possess, buy/sell, or give away any beverage containing alcohol; any tobacco product; marijuana; steroids; or any controlled substance. This policy includes products such as "NA or near beer."

If a student in violation of this rule is unable to participate in interscholastic sports due to injury or academics, the penalty will not take effect until that student is able to participate again.

First Violation: When the Principal confirms, following an opportunity for the student to be heard that a violation has occurred, the student shall lose eligibility for the next consecutive interscholastic contests totaling 25% of all interscholastic contests in that sport. For the student, these penalties will be determined by the season in which the student will participate.

# of Events/Season	# of Events/Penalty
1-7	1
8-11	2
12-15	3
16-19	4

20+	5
-----	---

Second and Subsequent Violations: When the Principal confirms, following an opportunity for the student to be heard, that a violation occurred, the student shall lose eligibility for the next consecutive interscholastic contests totaling 60% of all interscholastic contests in that sport. All decimal part of an event will be truncated i.e. All fractional part of an event will be dropped when calculating the 60% of the season.

If after the second or subsequent violations the student of his/her own volition becomes a participant in an approved chemical dependency program or treatment program, the student may be certified for reinstatement in MIAA activities after a minimum of 40% of events provided the student was fully engaged in the program throughout that penalty period. The high school principal in collaboration with a Chemical Dependency Program or Treatment Program must certify that student is attending or issue a certificate of completion. If a student does not complete a program, penalty reverts back to 60% of the season. All decimal part of an event will be truncated i.e. All fractional part of an event will be dropped when calculating the 40% of the season. See the chart on the next page.

# of Events/Season	# of Events/Penalty	# of Events/Season	# of Events/Penalty
1-3	1	12-13	7
4	2	14	8
5-6	3	15-16	9
7-8	4	17-18	10
9	5	19	11
10-11	6	20+	12

At the discretion of the coach, the student-athlete may continue to practice with the team during a suspension. Penalties shall be cumulative each academic year. If the penalty period is not completed during the season of violation, the penalty shall carry over to the student's next season of actual participation, which may affect the eligibility status of the student during the next academic year.

After serving the suspension in the next season of participation, the athlete must also complete the season as a member of that team.

Rule 63 – Good Citizen Rule

Student-athletes may not represent their school if they are on in-house or out-of-house disciplinary suspension.

AYER SHIRLEY REGIONAL HIGH SCHOOL REGULATIONS

At Ayer Shirley, student athletes are expected and encouraged to maintain the highest level of scholastic achievement possible. They are also expected to maintain the highest level of citizenship. To promote these goals, the following are in effect:

ASRHS Expansion to Chemical Health and "Good Citizen" Expectations

Participation in athletics and extracurricular activities is a privilege, and we hold high expectations for our athletes and activity participants; one of those expectations includes an alcohol- and substance-free lifestyle. To that end, any student athlete or activity member who, at any time, either on or off campus, uses, consumes, possesses, buys/sells, or gives away any beverage containing alcohol; any tobacco product; marijuana; steroids; or any controlled substance, will be penalized with consequences that may include the loss of participation in athletic and/or extracurricular events, the loss of leadership positions or opportunities, and the loss of certain recognition opportunities. Student athletes or activity members who commit these offenses on school grounds will additionally face serious school-related consequences, as detailed in the corresponding sections of the school's Student Handbook.

The investigatory process for suspected transportation, use, possession, distribution, and/or sale of alcohol, drugs, or drug paraphernalia that occurs on school property or at school-sponsored activities is detailed within each school's Student Handbook. Upon receiving or encountering credible evidence that a possible violation of any of the stated provisions has or may have taken place off-campus, the administration will investigate and take disciplinary action where sufficient evidence is available.

First Violation Minimum Penalties

When the Principal confirms, following an opportunity for the student to be heard, that a student athlete has violated the chemical health policy, the student shall lose eligibility for the next consecutive interscholastic contests totaling 25% of all interscholastic contests in that sport. For the student, penalties will be determined by the current or next season of participation. In addition, the student may be removed from or lose the ability to hold leadership positions in the school, and may lose opportunities for recognition. For students involved in extracurricular clubs or activities, the adviser will take steps that mirror, as closely as possible, the above standard.

Second and Subsequent Violation Minimum Penalties

When the Principal confirms, following an opportunity for the student to be heard, that a subsequent violation of the chemical health policy has occurred for a student athlete, the student shall lose eligibility for the next consecutive interscholastic contests totaling 60% of all interscholastic contests in that sport. For the student, penalties will be determined by the current or next season of participation. Any fractional part of an event will be dropped when calculating the 60% of the season. In addition, the student may be removed from or lose the ability to hold leadership positions in the school, and may lose opportunities for recognition. Extracurricular advisors will take steps that mirror, as closely as possible, the above standard.

Nothing in this policy prevents a principal, coach, or extracurricular adviser from taking additional steps, up to and including permanent removal from a team, club, or activity, based on individual school policies or team/activity/club expectations.

Ayer Shirley "Good Citizen" Policy

Participation in athletics and extracurricular activities is a privilege, and both athletes and activity participants represent themselves, their team or club, their school, and their community when they compete or participate in athletic or extracurricular events. We hold high expectations for our athletes and activity participants, and we expect that they will act as "good citizens" in the school, at school- sponsored events, and in the community at all times.

For purposes of this policy, a "good citizen" is defined as a student who follows all school rules, who displays integrity at all times, and who follows all applicable community and state laws.

When administration receives substantiated evidence that a student athlete or activity participant may have acted in a manner contrary to this "good citizen" expectation, administration will investigate the incident.

When the Principal confirms, following an opportunity for the student to be heard, that a violation of the "good citizen" expectation occurred, administration will meet with the corresponding coach and/or club adviser and determine appropriate consequences. Depending on the severity of the behavior, consequences may range from a written warning to removal from

the team or club. School officials may suspend a student from participation in extracurricular activities who has been charged with a misdemeanor or felony involving violence or weapons until disposition of the charges.

Academic Achievement

Scholastic "extra help" sessions and make-up work are expected to be completed as soon as possible. On a practice day, students should stay after school to complete work whenever necessary. Coaches should be informed by students, in advance, when practice time will be missed due to academic obligations. Once the obligations are completed, students are expected to report to practice on that day, as soon as possible. If students did not give advance notification to the coach, students should ask their teacher for a note explaining the tardiness. Students arriving late to practices due to make-up work or extra help will not suffer any athletic team penalty. The athletic department reserves the right to remove a student from a team for poor academic performance and may reinstate the student upon sufficient evidence of improvement. Coaches may place athletes on written "Academic Progress Reports" when it becomes known that a student is performing poorly in the classroom.

School Discipline Obligations

A student athlete with a school disciplinary obligation (either office or teacher detention) is expected to fulfill the disciplinary obligation before reporting to an athletic practice and/or game. Students cannot expect, and should not request, disciplinary action to be postponed or cancelled for any athletic reason. The athletic department reserves the right to remove or suspend a student-athlete from a team for disciplinary problems. It is expected that our athletes be model citizens both in and out of school; they will be held to high standards and should set a positive example for all students.

School Attendance and Tardiness

Any student absent from school may not participate in or attend practice or competition that day, unless prior approval of the Principal, or designee, has been given. Coaches must be notified of these absences in advance as well. Examples of approved absences include funerals, lengthy doctor's appointments, or college visits.

Students must be in attendance at school before 9:30 AM to participate in any meeting, practice or game unless prior approval for absence is granted by the Principal or designee. In addition, student-athletes may not be dismissed prior to 11:15 AM unless prior approval of the Principal, or designee, has been given.

On early release days, students must be in attendance for the entire school day in order to participate in any meeting, practice or game unless prior approval for absence is granted by the Principal or designee. Students dismissed from school due to illness, may not return to school for participation in practices or athletic contests.

Athletic Trainer/Training Room

Ayer Shirley has a part-time, licensed Athletic Trainer (ATC) to evaluate, treat, and rehabilitate athletic injuries as they occur. The Athletic Trainer provides medical coverage for most athletic contests and practices. The Athletic Trainer is available to student athletes on most days from 2:45 PM until 6:45 PM. There are exceptions to this, such as on Friday night football nights or during the winter season. On weekends and school vacations, the Athletic Trainer will be on site for home contests and scrimmages. In the event of injury, the Athletic Trainer will evaluate and recommend the direction of care, and clearance level. Athletes may see the Athletic Trainer for evaluation/treatment whenever he or she is available. For specific questions regarding student-athlete health care, please contact the Athletic Trainer, Nate Diffin, at ndiffin@asrsd.org

Athletic Injuries

All injuries must be reported to the Athletic Trainer or the coach immediately, and an injury report placed on file. Subsequent to any serious injury and prior to further participation in a sport, students must provide a signed medical release from a physician if a game or day of practice has been missed due to injury. All school related head injuries or serious injuries that

occur outside of the school day will be reported by the Athletic Trainer or coach, to the school nurse, the next day school is in session.

Physical Education/Wellness

All athletes are required to participate in regularly scheduled Physical Education/Wellness classes. Students being medically excused from Physical Education will not be allowed to participate in team practices or games on that day. All class attendance rules apply to Physical Education classes. A note to the Athletic Director / Coach from the class instructor is requested whenever a student athlete is absent or late for class.

Transportation

All participants are required to travel to and return from all athletic events in transportation provided by the school district. In certain situations, students may be excused from using school-authorized transportation provided they receive prior approval from the head coach. If a situation does arise where a student absolutely must be transported by a private vehicle or arrive/leave with a parent or guardian, a transportation permission form must be on file in the office of the athletic director AND the head coach must approve each occurrence.

Hazing

Any conduct or method of initiation into any student organization or team, which willfully or recklessly endangers the physical or mental health of any student or person, is not allowed. Such conduct is a crime under Massachusetts Law and will not be tolerated. (for further information, refer to Mass. State Law- Chapter 536, Sect. 16-19). There is to be no initiation of any kind to be a member of any team at Ayer Shirley Regional High School. Students and coaches found in violation will be dismissed from participation in the athletic program. It is the responsibility of all coaches to inform team members of the hazing law and guidelines.

Bullying/Cyberbullying

Ayer Shirley Regional is committed to providing a safe, positive and productive educational environment where students can achieve their full potential. No student shall be subjected to harassment, intimidation, bullying, or cyberbullying. (See School Committee Policy JICFB).

Athletes found responsible for bullying or cyberbullying; for failing to report such bullying or cyberbullying; or for retaliating in any way against any other student who reports such bullying or cyberbullying, are subject to removal from participation on their team for a period up to and including the duration of their time at Ayer Shirley Regional High School. This penalty is in addition to any and all student discipline, which is imposed in accordance with the bullying/cyber-bullying policy and applies regardless of whether the bullying/cyber-bullying occurred in connection with athletic programs or, instead, in any other context regulated by the bullying/cyber-bullying policy.

Sportsmanship

Ayer Shirley Regional expects all parties at a contest to display the highest possible level of sportsmanship before, during and after the competition. Players, coaches and spectators are to treat opponents, gameofficials, and visiting spectators with the respect and "class," we speak about in our philosophy.

The MIAA reserves the right to "warn, censure, place on probation, or suspend up to one calendar year any player, coach, game or school official, or school determined to be acting in a manner contrary to the standards of good sportsmanship." Students, coaches, and spectators can be ejected or suspended from a contest(s) for taunting, intending to injure another player, fighting, or other unsportsmanlike conduct. Ayer Shirley Regional High School in turn, reserves the right to impose the same penalties on spectators displaying poor sportsmanship at any of our contests, home or away.

Sportsmanship is an expectation at Ayer Shirley. Let the players play. Let the coaches coach. Let the officials officiate. Let the spectators be positive and watch the game. The Panther Way!

Language or gestures

Profane, derogatory and abusive language or gestures during any team related or school activities are strictly prohibited.

Disciplinary Action

Students found in violation of this handbook, any MIAA regulations, or a school policy, may face disciplinary action. Infractions must be reported to the Athletic Director or other Ayer Shirley Regional High School administrator. Reported infractions will be thoroughly reviewed.

The Athletic Department (Head Coach, Athletic Director, School Administrator or designee) may impose appropriate disciplinary action for violations established in this Student Athlete/Parent Handbook. Sanctions may vary depending on the type and circumstances of a violation, but may include suspension and/or loss of student athlete eligibility.

A coach and/or Athletic Director shall determine if a violation of the athletic rules and regulations has occurred. In all cases, infractions of any type must be reported to the Athletic Director, whether action is taken or not. If disciplinary action is taken, (including temporary or permanent suspension, censure, or reprimand) an athlete may have his or her case reviewed upon request.

Review Procedure:

- 1. The student/parents may meet with the Coach/Athletic Director. This request must occur within two school days of the disciplinary decision by the Coach/Athletic Director.
- 2. If not satisfied, the student/parents may ask to meet with the Principal, Athletic Director and Coach.
- 3. Final decision on these matters rests with the Principal.

Athletic Facilities/Building Access

No student will be allowed access to any of the athletic facilities (fields, gyms, weight room, etc.) without supervision by a school staff member. The fitness/weight room is run by the Wellness and Athletic Department. When open and supervised, it is available for all students unless it has been reserved as an in-season site for a practice session. Student athletes are not allowed in the weight room unless it is supervised by a staff member.

Student athletes are expected to respect the locker room facilities, showers, and general areas of the athletic wing. We expect the student athletes to take pride in their facilities by using trash barrels and keeping their athletic facilities in good condition. Glass containers of any kind are not allowed in the locker rooms or gymnasiums at any time.

At no time should shoes with cleated soles or spikes be worn inside the building. Serious injury can occur from slipping on the concrete or tiled surface, as well as causing damage to the flooring.

Inclusion

We believe that all students would have access to athletics and encourage students to participate in all of our programs.Coaches and students must take the NFHS Implicit Bias course and sign the MIAA/MSAA DEI Pledge.

Locker Room/Security

Students have an obligation and responsibility to care for all athletic equipment issued to them, as well as personal belongings. The athlete is responsible for the proper care of this equipment from the date of issue, to the date of return. Equipment and uniforms should be stored in a locked locker at all times (locks are provided for each athlete) when not in use. Experience has shown that most losses are due to carelessness in securing or locking lockers. Ayer Shirley Regional cannot be responsible for the personal belongings of student athletes. If a student loses school equipment or fails to return the

assigned equipment in satisfactory condition, they are responsible to meet the current replacement cost of the equipment. Please lock all belongings brought into the locker rooms.

Adult supervision

<u>COACHES</u> are responsible for locker room supervision. A staff member must be present anytime a student or students goes into the building or a locker room. Students are not to be unsupervised at any time in or out of the building. This is the responsibility of the coach.

Equipment/Uniforms

Equipment and uniforms are handed out to the student athletes by their coaches. For specific questions regarding equipment or uniforms, please contact the team coach. Payment for lost equipment or uniforms is required at the time of the loss, and prior to the next season of athletic involvement or graduation, whichever comes first. No student will be allowed to tryout for another sport until all outstanding equipment/uniforms has been returned or payment to replace lost equipment has been made to the Athletic Department. Athletes are not permitted to wear school issued uniforms at any time other than for practices or game competitions. If a student-athlete leaves the team during the season due to injury, academics, discipline or quitting, it is his/her responsibility to return all school equipment immediately.

Athletic Awards

Prior to the beginning of the season, coaches will clearly define and communicate criteria for earning a Varsity Athletic Letter. These criteria are sport specific and in general, a student must complete a full season of participation as a member in good standing to be eligible for a letter. Other individual awards may be given at the discretion of the head coach. The following awards are provided through the athletic department.

Level	Award
Junior Varsity and Middle School	Certificate of Participation
Varsity Year 1	Varsity Letter
Varsity Year 2	Sport Specific Pin
Varsity Year 3	Bar Pin
Varsity Year 4	Plaque
Special Awards	
• Eight-season Award: If a student-athlete completes four high school seasons of the same two sports, he/she will receive an eight-season plaque (EX: 4 years of cross country and 4 years of basketball)	• Twelve-season Award: If a student-athlete completes four high school seasons of the same three sports, he/she will receive an eight-season plaque (EX: 4 years of soccer, 4 years of ice hockey and 4 years of softball)

College/Career Guidance

One of the most important decisions facing the high school athlete is what to do with their lives after high school. The members of the Ayer Shirley Athletic Staff are willing to assist all of their students with this extremely difficult decision. Staff members fully understand the importance of this assistance. They may be able to answer questions, contact schools or

coaches, send video tapes, if available and write letters of recommendation. If a student's goal is to compete athletically at the collegiate level it is very important to be aware of the ever-changing NCAA regulations. The Athletic Director and High School Guidance Department has a wealth of information on the NCAA regulations. They also have information regarding the NCAA Clearinghouse registration, which must be completed by all students planning to participate at the college level. The Massachusetts Secondary School Athletic Directors Association (MSSADA) offers a FREE Recruiting Webinar to assist families of High School Athletes with the recruiting process.

The MSSADA Recruiting Webinar (<u>http://www.formstack.com/forms/?1059381-6Q12R0i03U</u>) addresses these topics:

 Three rules of being a parent Scholarship myths and facts NAIA and JUCO education Scholarships, do they differ? The Name Game Negotiate/Cooperative Education 	 Dangers of social networking/cell phones National Letter of Intent NCAA/NAIA Eligibility Centers Recruiting Services NCAA core course requirements

NCAA Clearinghouse: www.eligibilitycenter.org NCAA: <u>http://www.ncaa.org/</u>

ASRSD Concussion Policy and Opioid Information

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts Executive Office of Health and Human Services requires that all high schools subject to the Massachusetts Interscholastic Athletic Association (MIAA) rules adhere to the following law:

Student athletes and their parents, coaches, athletic directors, school nurses, and physicians must learn about the consequences of head injuries and concussions through training programs and written materials. The law requires that athletes and their parents inform their coaches about prior head injuries at the beginning of the season. If a student athlete becomes unconscious, or is suspected of having a concussion, during a game or practice, the law now mandates taking the student out of play or practice, and requires written certification from a licensed medical professional for return to play.

At the beginning of every sports season, no student will be allowed to participate in athletic activities until all required forms, including the Ayer Shirley Regional School District Consent and Release/Pre-participation Head Injury/Concussion Reporting Form for Extracurricular Activities has been signed, submitted by a parent/guardian, and reviewed by school nursing and athletic department staff.

Parents and student-athletes who plan to participate in any sports program at Ayer Shirley Regional High School or Ayer Shirley Regional Middle School must also take one free online course about concussions per school year. Two free online courses have been made available and contain all the information required by the law. The first online course option is offered through the National Federation of High School Coaches.

You will need to click the *order here* button and complete a brief information form to register. At the end of the course, you will receive a completion receipt, a copy of which should be submitted to the school. The entire course, including registration, can be completed in less than 30 minutes by visiting the following website: <u>http://www.nfhslearn.com/electiveDetail.aspx?courseID=15000.</u>

The second online course option is offered through the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention at the following website: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/concussion/HeadsUp/online_training.html.</u>

A third option, review of written materials, will be provided upon request for parents/guardians and student athletes without Internet access.

If a student athlete becomes unconscious, or is suspected of having a concussion, during a game or practice, the parent must submit to the school nurse the Ayer Shirley Regional School District Post Sports Related Head Injury Medical Clearance and Authorization Form signed by a medical professional, as well as a signed Post Concussion Graduated Return to Play Schedule Form.

Please visit <u>www.asrsd.org</u> > ASRSD Policies > ASRSD Policy Manual > File JJIF-R for the complete ASRSD Sports Related Head Injury Policy. *If you require a hard copy of any of these policies, please contact the office of the Assistant Superintendent in Support of Teaching and Learning.*

The following links provide additional information regarding concussions as well as updated information regarding OPIOID awareness.

https://www.mass.gov/sports-related-concussions-and-head-injuries

http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/gov/departments/dph/programs/community-health/dvip/injury-prevention/substance-use-disorder.html

Here you will find information on substance use and misuse, where to get help for your child, resources and a link to the Dept. of Public Health Bureau of Substance Abuse Services.

Important Websites

Ayer Shirley Regional High School - https://www.asrsd.org/schools/high-school/

Athletics Overview	Ayer Shirley Athletic Scheduling Site - www.mwlma.org
 Click on "Athletics" Ayer Shirley Athletics website Student Athlete Online Registration Student Athlete/Parent Handbook Coaches Directory News and Announcements 	 Click on "Ayer Shirley Regional " on right sidebar For up to the minute schedules for ALL Ayer Shirley athletic teams

 Hall of Fame Useful Links 	 Notify Me - Contest postponements/cancellation alerts can be sent to your email/text by clicking "notify me"
Ayer Shirley Athletics Twitter @ASRHSathletics	Ayer Shirley Athletics Instagram: asrsdathletics
Ayer Shirley Athletics Booster Club	Ayer Shirley Friends of Football

MIAA – <u>www.miaa.net</u>

- MIAA Rules and Regulations Handbook
- News and Announcements
- MIAA Tournament information
- Current events for high school students/sports

Appendix E: 1:1 Chromebook/iPad Responsible Use Policy

Ayer Shirley Regional School District Chromebook/iPad Guide Responsible Use Policy and Family Agreement 2023-2024

Overview of 1:1 Program

ASRSD is committed to preparing students for the 21st century by implementing technology in the classroom due to the ever increasing dependence on technology in college, the workplace, and everyday life. Integral to integration of technology is providing each student with access to a device to support them during the school day and beyond.

Objectives of the 1:1 Chromebook/iPad initiative are as follows:

- Provide Equitable technology access for all students.
- Build and improve upon 21st Century skills consisting of but not limited to communication, collaboration, problem solving, and digital citizenship.
- Improve student use of digital tools consisting of Google Workspace for Education applications, online extensions, applications and educational websites.
- Access unlimited information anytime, anywhere instantly (thus reducing downtime in the classroom).
 - library media electronic databases and e-books
 - primary sources for research
 - up-to-date news information and media
- Receive formative feedback from teachers in real time.
- Extend own learning as well as, collaborate, and receive feedback from teachers and peers beyond the school day or during remote learning.
- Participate in class both in-person and if necessary remote so students may have an active voice through various formats.
- Collaborate and share information in the cloud (G-Suite Docs, presentations, calendars, forms, etc...).
- Personalize learning experiences using a variety of applications to accommodate learning styles.
- Consume, create, and present multimedia content using sound, video, and graphics in the classroom and from home.

- Write for a variety of purposes and audiences.
- Develop a greater sense of ownership, pride, and accountability for their work.
- Improve organizational skills and establish an electronic portfolio of student work.
- Use assistive technology to accommodate learning needs.
- Self reflect on their work and receive teacher and peer feedback (i.e. peer editing).
- Learn in an environment that is often more student-centered rather than teacher-centered.
- Further engage in their learning and embrace more critical thinking opportunities.
- Instantly access curricular support systems.

How to Receive a Chromebook/Ipad

The following criteria must be met in order for a student to receive a chromebook/ipad.

- A parent/guardian and student signed "Ayer Shirley Regional School District 1:1 Chromebook/iPad Guide Responsible Use Policy and Family Agreement or signed Student Handbook on file.
- Laptops running Microsoft, Apple, Linux or any other OS are not permitted unless the student has an educational based reason for a device other than a Chromebook/iPad. Device must be approved by ASRSD Technology Department and building administrator. Any device not approved by school use will be denied wireless access to the school network.

Caring for Your Chromebook/iPad

Proper care of the device and power cord is essential for effective long term use. Here are some guidelines for caring for your Chromebook/iPad and power cord.

- Keep the device in a protective case. You may purchase your own case or request one from ASRSD technology department at no charge.
- You may use a personal case however we ask that it be more than just a backpack pocket.
- Do not place your device in a backpack sleeve without it first being stored in it's protective case.
- Do not toss your backpack when the Chromebook/iPad is stored in it.
- Stacking books on your Chromebook/iPad can damage the screen and protective shell.
- Do not remove or deface identification and asset tag on chromebook/ipad. Your device is electronically attached to your Google Workspace account for inventory and theft recovery.
- Do not eat or drink near your Chromebook/iPad. Keep the Chromebook/iPadclean by using a soft, dry, lint free cloth to clean the screen.
- Never spray a liquid cleaner on your Chromebook/iPad.
- Do not lift the Chromebook/iPad by it's screen. Always lift the Chromebook/iPad by it's base.
- The Chromebook/iPad should not be left on the floor where there is an increased risk of it being stepped on.
- Do not leave the Chromebook/iPad in a car or anywhere where fluctuating temperatures can damage it.
- No stickers of any kind or permanent customization may be made to the Chromebook/iPad or charger. Students are not to deface any part of the Chromebook/iPad.

Chromebook/iPad Repair Policy

The ASRSD technology department will look at each Chromebook/iPad repair on an individual basis to determine if a malfunctioning device is a result of a manufacturer defect or student neglect and abuse. All manufacturer defects will be the responsibility of ASRSD to repair as needed. Chromebooks/iPads deemed to have been damaged due to student neglect or abuse may result in a part replacement cost that is the responsibility of the student.

Students with a damaged Chromebook/iPad should submit a repair request to the ASRSD Technology Department using the OnetoOne Plus ticket management system. If a student is in immediate need of a device they need to speak with their respective school's front office about obtaining a loaner.

Some examples of manufacturer issues that ASRSD may cover:

- Battery will not hold a charge.
- Touchpad not working correctly.
- Chromebook/iPad will not power on.
- Keyboard not typing correctly.
- Display not working at all with no evidence of a cracked screen or pressure point damage.
- Charger no longer works.

Some examples of student neglect or abuse that ASRSD will not cover:

- Cracked or pressure point damaged display screen.
- Keyboard keys removed from the keyboard.
- Damage to the body/shell of theChromebook/iPad that is beyond normal wear and tear.
- Liquid damage to keyboard and/or other parts of the Chromebook/iPad.
- Food residue causing damage to the Chromebook/iPad.
- Damage to hinges
- Loss of Chromebook/iPad charger.

We completely understand that accidents resulting in device damage can and will happen. This is why each case will be looked at uniquely to determine the cause of any malfunction to determine action for repair.

Chromebook/iPad Chargers

- Students will be issued one charger with their Chromebook/iPad. ASRSD will not have spare chargers available as a loaner to students.
- Available inventory permitting, a spare charger will be available for purchase from the school. Any student purchased chargers become the property of the student.
- Expectation for students is to have their Chromebook/iPad fully charged at the start of school.
- Students will be charged for a replacement charger due to loss. This includes the charging brick and separate cable that connects to it.

Loaner Chromebook/iPads

- It is very important that students bring their own Chromebook/iPad and charger to school every day. This will make it easier for the student to participate in lessons that require the use of a chromebook/ipad.
- Students are required to bring their Chromebooks/iPads to school everyday. In the event a device is left at home there are a limited number of loaners available for school only use.
- If your Chromebook/iPad is being repaired a loaner chromebook/ipad will be issued to you. Once your Chromebook/iPad is repaired you will either keep or return the loaner for your repaired Chromebook/iPad. The technology department will determine which device you should keep, which in almost every case is the better of the two devices.
- <u>Students who continually damage their initial Chromebook/iPad and subsequent loaners will not be</u> <u>issued a Chromebook/iPad for them to take home after school.</u> Depending on the severity and history of the student damaging devices it will be determined by school administration if they may have a loaner during the school day that is kept at school.
- Chronic abuse of Chromebooks/iPads will result in a student not receiving a device.

Chromebook/iPad Replacement and Repair Cost

In order to provide Chromebooks/iPads at no cost to nearly every student in ASRSD it is necessary for us to implement a system where intentionally damaged chromebook/ipad repairs are charged to the student who was issued the Chromebook/iPad. The district only charges for parts and not labor. Some of the district's Chromebooks/iPads are under warranty, however not all of them are. For equity amongst all students, the cost of the parts will be the same for everyone no matter what device you have. If the damage to the Chromebook/iPad will be charged to the student. Students do not get to keep the damaged Chromebook/iPad. Students who lose their Chromebooks/iPads will be charged the full replacement cost.

There are many parts of a Chromebook/iPad that may need repair; motherboard, battery, shell, keyboard, screen, etc...Below are the replacement cost of our most commonly used parts. These costs are prorated therefore lower than market costs.

Chromebook Part Costs

Replacement Keyboard	\$60
Replacement Screen	\$40
Replacement Charger	\$30
Complete Chromebook	\$200
Broken or Missing Hinge	\$10
Damage to Bottom Plastic	\$40
Damage to Top Plastic	\$40

Apple iPads and Classroom Chromebooks and Computers

All the above chromebook/ipad policies also apply to PreKindergarten and Kindergarten iPads and classroom only Chromebooks/iPads and computers.

Student Device Responsible Use Policy

- I will keep my chromebook/ipad with me at all times unless it is locked in my locker while at school, or secured safely while at home.
- I will not loan my chromebook/ipad out to anyone. Each device is inventoried to assigned students therefore not to be exchanged for other student Chromebooks/iPads.
- If I do not take the proper care of and something happens to my device, I realize I may be financially responsible to replace it. If anything is wrong with my Chromebook/iPad, I will immediately report the issue to the ASRSD Technology Department using the OnetoOne repair portal..
 - ALL DAMAGED/MALFUNCTIONING CHROMEBOOKS/IPADS WILL BE REVIEWED BY AN ASRSD COMPUTER TECHNICIAN WHO WILL DETERMINE STUDENT NEGLECT OR DEVICE MALFUNCTION.
- I will keep my Chromebook/iPad away from food and beverages.
- I will follow the rules of the ASRSD Responsible Use Policy (see below) regarding the use of the computer.
- I will keep my passwords private and secure. I will notify the ASRSD Technology Department if I feel my password is no longer private.
- I will take full responsibility for my actions and will use my Chromebook/iPad and the Internet for educational purposes only.
- I will not use my Chromebook/iPad to harass, bully, or cyberbully any individual.
- I will not allow anyone else to use my Chromebook/iPad unless a parent, guardian, or ASRSD staff member needs to monitor my use.
- There may be times during the school day when a teacher uses classroom software to monitor my Chromebook/iPad activity.
- I understand that I may be referred to administration if I use the Chromebook/iPad inappropriately.
- I will not participate in the transfer of inappropriate or illegal materials, and I will abide by the definition of inappropriate or illegal material established by the school administration.
- I realize that when I use the Internet I am entering a global community and my actions reflect on the school system as a whole. I will behave in an ethical and legal manner.
- I understand that when on my Chromebook/iPad I am using ASRSD Public Schools' computer systems and Internet. I realize it is a privilege, not a right and accept that inappropriate behavior may lead to loss of privileges.

Technology and Responsible Use Policy

The Ayer Shirley Regional School Committee understands that the Internet is an electronic highway connecting thousands of computers all over the world and millions of individual subscribers. The Ayer Shirley Regional School Committee encourages the use of information technology to assist in preparing students for success in life and work by providing access to a wide range of information and the ability to communicate with others. Information technology will be used to increase communication, enhance productivity and assist staff in upgrading existing skills and acquiring new skills. The system/network will also be utilized to provide relevant school information to the community.

The use of the Internet is a privilege, not a right, and inappropriate use may result in a cancellation of those privileges. Inappropriate use is subject to review and action. All student data in Google Drives is subject to review by ASRSD administrators.

Students are expected to abide by the generally accepted rules of network etiquette. Students should:

- Use the Internet and computer for school work only.
- Stay on the web pages that their teacher chooses.
- Ask for help when necessary.
- Tell their teacher right away if they read or see something on the Internet that is inappropriate.
- Never give their picture, name, address, home phone number or name of school on the Internet.
- Understand that school network and Google account cloud files are not private, teachers may view the contents at any time.
- Respect all school computers and use them correctly.

Students are:

Prohibited from downloading, uploading or distributing any files, software, or other material that is not related to an educational project.

- Not to use their personal computers on the school network unless they receive approval from the Technology Department or a building administrator.
- Not to reveal any personal contact information relating to him/herself or other students or staff members that consists of names, addresses, social media names and/or telephone numbers.
- Not to post private information as it relates to fellow students, district staff, or academics. Nor shall defamatory material concerning a person or group be sent or retrieved.

Information technology is defined as Internet access, email, published and unpublished documents, social media, and various forms of multimedia technology. The District employs the use of specialized filtering software that monitors Internet traffic and blocks inappropriate Websites.

ASRSD will continue to use video conferencing tools (Zoom and Google Meet) for situations requiring it. As such, in addition to attending in person school, students will be made aware of the expectations for video conferencing outlined in the disclaimer below, and conduct themselves according to the following norms.

<u>Disclaimer</u>

It is important that we continue to respect the privacy and intellectual property rights of our school community – our teachers and our students. By participating in video conferencing session, you agree that you may not save, record, share, or post this session or any photos from this session. I (administrator or teacher/para) will be saving

and recording this session, and may share and post this session privately to our Google Classroom or Seesaw for future review and reference. If you or your parents do not agree to these rules, please disconnect from this session and contact me.

<u>Norms</u>

- 1. This video is being recorded
- 2. Please follow the same rules of your classroom
- 3. Be mindful you are on camera and live
- 4. Be respectful to all members in your group
- 5. Please be mindful of what you say and your facial expressions
- 6. Think before you speak-As in your classroom it is not appropriate to say everything you think
- 7. Use self-control as you would in your classroom
- 8. When using the chat tool, type your text using appropriate grammar spelling
- 9. Please use video conferencing responsibly. Should there be disrespect or inappropriate behavior, rules of discipline will apply

All students and parents are required to accept the Ayer Shirley Regional School District Responsible Use Policy.